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Florida East Coast Industries, headquartered in

St. Augustine, Florida, conducts operations through two
wholly owned entities, Flagler Development Company
(Flagler), and Florida East Coast Railway, L.L.C.
(FEC). The Company’s shares trade on the New York

Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol FLA.

Corporate Headquarters

liﬂ

Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.
One Malaga Street

St. Augustine, FL 32084

Phone: (904) 829-3421

Web Site: www.feci.com

Selected Highlights

(% = Millions)

Flagler Development Company 2005 2004 2003
Rental & Services Revenue $ 87.4 $ 696 $ 63.6
Rental Properties Operating Profit* $ 278 $ 216 $ 178
Rental Properties Depreciation & Amortization Expense $ 282 $ 23.2 $ 223
Rental Properties Operating Profit Before Depreciation & Amortization™™ $ 55.8 $ 44.8 $ 401
Overall Occupancy at Year End 95% 95% 88%
Florida East Coast Railway 2005 2004 2003
Railway Segment Revenues $237.9 $200.8 $181.1
Railway Segment Operating Profit $ 63.7 $ 47.3 $ 43.0
Railway Segment Depreciation Expense $ 218 $ 20.2 $ 19.6
Railway Segment Operating Profit Before Depreciation $ 855 $ 676 $ 626
Operating Ratio 73.2% 76.4% 76.3%

*Includes expenses from Flagler buildings only. Land carry costs and corporate overhead ($13.4, $12.6 and $10.1, respectively) are excluded.

Also, table reflects continuing operations.

“Includes expenses from Flagler buildings only. Land carry costs and corporate overhead ($9.8, $9.8 and $9.0, respectively) are excluded.

Flagler Development Company Statistics

Year End 2005

Market North Central South Total
Number of Buildings 24 6 34 64
Total Rentable Square Feet (000s) 2,463 839 4,090 7,392
Occupancy (%) 1% 96% 97% 95%
Entitled Acres (000s) 365 71 207 643
Additional Acres (000s) 1,169 724 647 2,540
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We Are On Our Way:

* To leveraging new real estate
development skills throughout
the State;

¢ To maximizing the value of
OUur assets;

¢ To improving further one of the
nation’s most efficient and profitable
railways; and

* To setting the bar even higher for

revenue and profitability goals.

-

Adolfo Henriques

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

2005 was another outstanding vear by a truly exceptional team, and our story continues
to track divectly with the extensive growth inherent in the Florida market. Florida East Coast’s
business is inextricably tied to the development and growth of this State. Our focus in 2006
is to capitalize on the growth and momentum of last vear and to challenge our associates to
take our Company to the next level.

In 2005, the Railway and Flagler’s rental properties generated record levels of revenues
and profit and we invested swategically in expanding our capacity at both the Railway and

in our real estate development business.

Chairman’s Message




Chairman’s Message

Flagler Development
Company — Rental
and Services Revenue
[in millions]

$87.4

$69.6
$636 —

2003 2004 2005

Florida East Coast
Railway — Raitway
Segment Revenues
[in millions]

$237.9

$200.8
$181.1

2003 2004 2002

How do we do it? It’s no secret.
We have the best people — a professional,
talented, dedicated andinnovative team
who care about each other, about their
customers, and about their communities
and who are proud of the results they
achieve for our shareholders. We do it
with a strong culture and values and
by investing in our people, franchise
and technology with a conservative,
disciplined operating philosophy built
on prudenty bhalancing risks and rewards.

Our associates are focused on getting
the job done right the first time. Their
unsinkable spirit allowed us to recover
from the impact of several hurricanes
and still achieve record levels of revenues
and income from operating activities
during the year.

At the Railway, we were able to
handle increases of 10% in wraffic
volumes with virtnally no increase in

staffing and an improved safety record.

Our operating ratio improved by over
three percentage points to 73.2%, one
of the best in North America.

The great economic cycle and strong
demographics in our Florida markets
support our ourstanding performance.
The growth in Florida’s population con-
tinues to outpace the national average by
afactor of 2 to 1 and both our businesses
have capitalized on this growth. In addi-
tion, we offer our customers reliability
and value. We're customer-centric and
serve our customers in the way that they

want to be served.

TRANSFOETATCON

FEC’s strategic location along
Florida’s rapidly growing east coast and
our position as the exclusive rail provider
to the ports in South Florida allow us to
capitalize on the exceptional growth in

the State. Railway revenues in 2005

increased 19% over 2004. Driving this

(i)




growth were our Intermodal business
where rvevenues increased by 19%
through both increased volumes and
improved pricing, and our aggregate
business, which grew by 16% in reve-
nues o meet the needs fueled by infra-
structure and construction projects
throughout Florida. These increased
revenues resulted in record operating
profit for the Railway, which increased
bv 35% to $63.7 million.

The Railway was able to efficiently
accommodate these increased volumes
while improving its safety record, experi-
encing no major accidents or injuries
during the vear and also coping with
the impact of the storms that curtailed
operations in South Florida for 14 days.
This focus and dedication earned FEC
emplovees a 2005 Harriman Gold Medal
from the E.H. Harriman Memorial
Awards Institute for their outstanding

performance in railroad safety.

INVESTING FOR THE FUTURE

The Railway continues to develop
programs to enhance its efficiency and
improve capacity. We have now com-
pleted a new rock vard in Medley
(Miami-Dade County) in immediate
proximity to most of our customers’
guarries. The new rock vard will allow
us to more effectively handle the grow-
ing volume of aggregate and enhance
the capacity at our Hialeah Yard to
accommodate additional intermodal
loads and other products and commodi-
tes. We started building 12 miles of
double track between Titusville and
Cocoa with the support of the Florida
Department of Transportation. We also
ordered four new locomotives, which
will be delivered in {ate 2006. We con-
tinue to work with our customers to
ensure that we have adequare power,
trackage and equipment 1o accommo-

date their growing needs, and we will

continue to invest in order to increase
the capacity of our railroad as we con-
tinue to grow.

As this letter goes to press, litigation
is pending between various environ-
mental advocacy groups, the U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers and our aggregate
customers which has the potential to
affect the operation of the mines in
South Florida. We believe a resolution
can be reached that allows for mining
while protecting the environment, and

we are monitoring this situation closely.

MAXIMIZING THE PCTENTIAL OF

UR BAIL CORRIDOR
The multi-vear study of the South
Floricla East Coast corridor from Jupiter
to Miami for passenger services, in addi-
tion to its continued use for freight, has
been started by the Florida Department
of Transportation. We will work closely

with the consultants and transportation




authorities with the objective of expand-
ing the use of our corridor and realizing
the value inherent in utilizing the right-

of-way for such alternative uses.

Flagler’s rental properties also
achieved record results during 2005.
Rental and services revenues increased
26% over 2004 to $87.4 million. Rental
properties operating profit before depre-
ciation and amortization increased 25%.
In addition, our same-store occupancy
remained very strong at 95%, which is
functionally full.

CROW T N INVENTCREY

During the year, we added 200,000
square feet of industrial space and
600,000 square feet of office space to our
mventory of finished buildings. Most of
this construction was in the Miami-Dade
County market, which is one of the best

in the country in terms of low vacancy

rates and increased demand, and we will
continue to start new buildings as the
market demands. We had 800,000
square feet of properties in the lease-up
phase or under construction at year-end
that were 41% pre-leased, and we have
significant interest from prospective ten-

ants for the remaining space.

CMIZING AND

Both Flagler and the Railway have
very valuable land parcels that we ave in
the process of entitling for their highest
and best use. We have made substantial
progress in the planning efforts on Flagler
Crossing and Cordova Palms near St.
Augustine, Lakeland Distribution Center

and Lakeland Central Park.

In order to further strengthen our
real estate business, we also announced

the acquisition of the Codina Group and

related real estate holdings, which com-
plements our operations and enhances
our capabilities in the areas of land devel-
opment, leasing, construction and prop-
erty management. Armando Codina, who
has a very successtul track record of devel-
oping and entitling properties in South
Florida, will join our team as President
and CEO of our real estate operations.
This strengthening of our team will also
allow us to continue to carefully evaluate
and entitle our propertes with a focus
on maximizing their value.

We enter 2000 with great momen-
tum and significant opportunities. The
Florida economy remains strong, and
our businesses are prepared to continue
to capitalize on these opportunites. We
are on owr way to another vear of record
revenues and operating profits at the
Railway, and with the incorporation of
the Codina team and properties, our
development business will surpass the

activity of previous vears.

/]

Adolfo Henriques

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




On Our Way

To MQre Growth In que Sunshine Statei#
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Our strategically located assets — the I'lorida East Coast Railway that
links Jacksonville to Miami, Flagler Development’s expansive portfolio of
real estate holdings, and the Codina property interests we are acquiring -
position us to capitalize on one of the largest and fastest growing econo-
mies in the world. Florida, in fact, is the eighth largest economy in the
Western hemisphere. Over a thousand people move to the Sunshine State
each day. Within the next decade, Florida is expected to be the third most
populous state in the nation. With labor costs lower and employment
growth rates higher than the national averages, FECI’s real estate and
transportation businesses are poised for continued growth, all of which

leads to greater value for our shareholders.




South Florida ™M M M  Global gateway for trade.

On Our Way
Acquiring A Bigger
Piece Of Florida

M One of the tightest industrial markets in the US. ® Industrial inventory additions well below 20-year average.




& Office-based employment is rising.

R Office vacancy rates are trending down.

Growth Through Acquisition And Capabilities -

Land. The availability of it is one of
the few things not growing in the stare of
Florida. The Company, already one of the
largest landowners in the state, maintains
an opportunistic outlook to add 1o its devel-
opment Jand bank amid a shrinking supply.

In January 2006, the Company
announced an acquisition of the Codina
Group and related property interests in

South Florida, where the diminishing supply

of developable land is particularly acute.
The Codina acquisition will add over 700
acres of undeveloped land and 7.2 million
square feet of existing and future develop-
ment potential. The combined Flagler and
Codina assets will provide a strong devel-
opmient pipeline for vears to come.

The value of a Flagler/Codina combina-
tion, however, will extend far beyond land

itself. In a region where land use, zoning and

entitlement issues can be extremely com-
plex, these two organizations bring a high
level of expertise and vears of experience to
the project management, development and
construction process. The integration of
these capabilities will ensure that the values
of each and every tract not only in South
Florida, but also the Company’s statewide
portfolio, are positioned for the highest and

best use to achieve their full potential.

B \Vacancy rates are reaching historic lows.

B Rental rates are climbing.




On Our Way
To Transporting Everything

Growth Through Diversity

When Henry Flagler built a railroad along Florida’s east coast, Qur customer service captures demand. Qur trains run as scheduled.

it was to transport passengers to his lavish resorts. A century

later, we're using the same right-of-way to transport everything
from lumber 1o cars, parcels to orange juice; in fact, we can handle
virtually all types of goods and supplies required to support one
of the largest populations in the country, as well as to provide
exclusive service to ports in Palm Beach, Port Everglades (Fort

Lauderdale) and Miami. Over the past vear, growing highway s —

congestion, rising fuel costs and our reliable service schedules

I

have made our more energy efficient rail service an even more
attractive alternative to highway transportation for customers.
Aggregate, or crushed stone, continues to be a growth vehicle
for us, with volumes increasing over 10% and revenue by 16% in
2005. All signs point to increased shipments in the vear ahead as
the demand for this product rises due to commercial development,
growth in the state’s infrastructure, hurricane reconstruction and
new housing starts. Florida’s economic health and population
growth is fueling increased spending for new roads, bridges and
infrastructure. To meet this demand, major suppliers, such as
Rinker Materials Corporation, Florida’s leading producer of ready-
mix concrete and concrete block, and Tarmac America L1C are
expanding their production capabilities and creating new distribu-
tion outlets along FEC’s right-of-way. Shipments of construction
materials, paper and lumber and foodstuifs also rose significantly

in 2005, further evidencing Florida’s growth.

Intermodal service, which by the end of 2005 marked its
J To/From To/From

Chicago Atlanta 7
/ To/From
- New York/
o4 W% New Jersey

k)
Jacksonville ™

10th consecutive quarter of volume and revenue growth, was
positivelv impacted by new customers, improved pricing and
increased motor carrier and parcel/LTL wraffic business. Although
Hurricane Katrina did impact our operations, we were well posi-

tioned to handle ocean cargo diverted from the Gulf Coast. Crowley

Maritime, FEC’s largest intermodal customer, successfully worked

with our intermodal group to help deal with Katrina’s Gulf Coast ' \
impact. This flexibility and determination has laid the groundwork Y\ ]“1
: it 3
to develop new relationships and business potential. The success of . Miami |
‘1‘ ]

our intermodal growth strategies is evidenced by the 19% increase

in intermodal revenues in 2005. ;

FEC capabilities extend door-to-door, thanks to our drayage
service, which has a 99%+ on-time delivery record.




Under The Sun

Rinker, our largest customer, operates the largest quarry in the US. ~° Trucking companies are our Railroad customers.

T
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Top customers in our intermodal business include Wal-Mart, UPS, and Pepsi Bottling Group and shipping lines Crowley
Maritime, Tropical and Seaboard Marine.

L




The Central Florida Market B W W 50% of state’s population is within 100 miles of Lakeland.
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Downtown Orlando 1 Mile
Lakeland 55 Miles
Tampa 85 Miles

IR RO

B Absorption driven by a growing tourism and hospitality industry.

On Our Way
To Expanding

Our Reach

10



B Office space vacancy rates are declining as the area absorbs more growth.

B The §I~4 corridor from Tampa to Orlando comprises over 5.6 million residents, roughly the same size as Philadelphia.

Where does Tampa end and Orlando
begin? It is getting harder to answer that
question as development grows along I-4,
the interstate that connects the two metro-
politan areas. Lakeland is the largest city
near the middle of this booming corridor and
is rapidly becoming a key distribution hub

to serve the Tampa and Orlando markers.

Growth Into a New Market

Our purchase of over 400 developable
acres in this market presents exciting
development potential. The sites are near
I-4, the regional airport and the head-
quarters of Publix Super Markets, one of
Florida’s largest companies. Flagler is
moving quickly to secure entitlements for
over six million square feet of distriburion
and office space for the properties as well

as some ancillary uses.

Flagler’s expansion into a new market
represents another wav in which the devel-
opment business can grow. This new
market also complements Flagler’s existing
assets in Orlando. The buildout of SouthPark
Center land II, a Class-A office complex
in southeast Orlando, is continuing. These
parks have seven completed office buildings
and 1.6 million square feet of entitlernents

for addirional office and commercial space.

11




FEC is committed to be the premier transportation solution in Florida: B Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. W UPS

On Our Way |
To Delivering Just What
The Customer Needs

Commedity Revenues — Full Year 2005
Aggregate — 29% Other - 20%

I

Intermadal - 43% Vehicles and Equipment - 8%




l Honda Motor Co., Inc.

M NuCor Corporation

B Crowley Maritime

Growth Through Service

Why FEC? Location is obvious, but
our customers will attest that our service
commitment is a major reason they turn
to FEC for transportation and logistics
solutions. This service ethic not only
includes responsiveness to customer needs,
but also operational excellence, such as
regularly scheduled service that departs
and arrives on time.

Our relationship with Wal-Mart
demonstrates the value of service. With the
help of Flagler Development, Wal-Mart
built a major distribution center in 2004,
six miles from our intermodal ramp in

Fort Pierce. What started as 300 loads a

month has grown into over 700 in early
2006. Our success with Wal-Mart is due to
dependable scheduled service. It’s a simple
idea, but one that has earned us Wal-Mart’s
“Innovative Carrier of the Year™ award.
Honda of America is another example
of how we approach every customer with a
solution to build a service-driven relation-
ship. Honda previously trucked its Odyssey
and Pilot models from its assembly plant
in Alabama to South Florida. Last vear,
FEC provided a rail solution that brings
the cars to our Hialeah, Florida vail vard.

Since December 2004, we have increased

our business with Honda by 12%.

Hurricane Wilma curtailed Railway
operation for 14 days, but the storm was
an opportunity to strengthen our customer
relationships. We maintained constant
communication with customers and used
innovative ideas to stage trains, constantly
letting shippers know the status of their
freight shipments. The result has been
considerable appreciation from our current
customers and opportunities to show
potential new ones just how service-

minded we are.

Commodity Units — Full Year 2006

Aggregate - 27% Other — 9%

I ]

Intermodal — 59%

Vehicles — 5%




FLAGLER CENTER SITE Plan

CITICORP
CREDIT
SERVICES

FLAGLER CENTER

LAND
1 Roads/Parking
[ Tenant-Owned Complexes
B Preservation Areas

HOSPITAL

T Non-Fiagler Properties BUILDINGS
[ Outparcels (Retail/Hotel) Lakeside: Buildings One-Five, Office

] Future Development IR Flagler Center Buildings 100-700, Warehouse

On Our Way
o Growing In T'he
Country’s Largest City
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Lakeside II, Flagler Center

Jacksonville, FL

Baker Distribution Company
Flagler Center 700

Growth Through Development

At 758 square miles, Jacksonville is
the largest city in the contiguous 48 states
and the center of northeast Florida’s
vibrant economv. Jacksonville and the sur-
rounding area is home to over 1.3 million
residents, whose average age is signifi-
cantly lower than in other major Florida
cites. With a location that puts the city in
reach of two-thirds of the 50 million con-
sumers in the Southeastern US, it’s no

wonder that the local cconomy is growing.

Northeast FFlorida offers a lower cost of
living and housing and is an increasingly
attractive home for corporate expansions
and relocations. Flagler has established
its presence in the market through six
office parks, including Flagler Center,
located directly off [-95 at the south end
ol Tacksonville. Flager has ample oppor-
tunity to continue to grow in America’s
largest city. Flagler Center has nine build-

ings with over 1 million square feet and a

10th building already under construc-
tion. The park has entitlements for 2.9
million square feet of office, industrial and
commercial development as well as entitle-
ments for multi-family and hotel space.

St. Johns County, immediately to the
south of Jacksonville, is one of the fastest
growing counties in the country. Flagler is
pursuing development rights for mixed use
development on approximartely 800 acres

of land in the county.

15
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Florida East Coast Industries

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act
cf 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements
include the Company’s present expectations or beliefs con-
cerning future events. These statements may be identified
ky the use of words like “plan,” “expect,” “aim,” “believe,”
“nroject,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” "may,” “will,”
“should,” “could,” and other expressions that indicate future
events and trends. Such forward-looking statements may
include, without limitation, statements that the Company
does not expect that lawsuits, review of open tax years by
the Internal Revenue Service, environmental costs, commit-
ments, including future contractual obligations, contingent
liabilities, financing availability, labor negotiations or other
matters will have a material adverse effect on its consoli-
dated financial condition. Also, forward-looking statements
may include statements concerning future capital needs and
sources of such capital funding, statements concerning
future intentions with respect to the payment of dividends,
execution of a share repurchase program, and other poten-
tial capital distributions, number of shares to be repurchased,
availability of cash to fund the stock repurchase, ability to
reinvest {tax-deferred) sales proceeds into qualifying §1031
properties, future growth potential of the Company’s lines of
business, performance of the Company’s product offerings,
intention to entitle and develop real estate, ability to complete
planned acquisitions, ability of each party to the announced
transaction to satisfy the closing conditions in the agreement,
expected completion dates, completion of existing and future
projects, statements regarding accessibility, visibility, expan-
sion opportunities, ability to complete transactions within
specified time frame; failure or inability of third parties to fuffill
their commitments or to perform their obligations under
agreements; costs and availability of land and construction
materials; other similar expressions concerning matters that
are not historical facts, and projections relating to the
Company’s financial results. The Company cautions that
such statements are necessarily based on certain assump-
tions, which are subject to risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to materially differ from those contained
in these forward-looking statements. Important factors that
could cause such differences include, but are not limited to,
the changing general economic conditions (particularly in the
state of Florida, the southeast US and the Caribbean) as they
relate to economically sensitive products in freight service
and building rental activities; ability to manage through eco-
nomic recessions or downturns in customers’ business
cyoles; industry competition; possible future changes in the
Company's structure, lines of business, business and invest-
ment strategies, and related implementation; legislative or
regulatory changes; technological changes; volatility of fuel

Uy 8w 36

prices (including volatility caused by military actions);
changes in levels of preventive and capital maintenance,
asset replacement and depreciation rates resulting from
assumptions in the Railway right-of-way and equipment life
studies; changes in the ability of the Company to complete
its financing plans, changes in interest rates, the settlement
of future contractual obligations as estimated in time and
amount {customary to the Company’s historical cost struc-
ture} including labor negotiations and mediation and recover-
ies from damage claims in a satisfactory way; changes in
insurance markets, including increases in insurance premi-
ums and deductibles; the availability and costs of attracting
and retaining qualified independent third party contractors;
liability for environmental remediation and changes in envi-
ronmental laws and regulations; the ultimate outcome of
environmental investigations or proceedings and other types
of claims and litigation; natural events such as weather con-
ditions, hurricanes, floods, earthquakes and forgst fires; dis-
cretionary government decisions affecting the use of land
and delays resulting from weather conditions and other natu-
ral occurrences, like hurricanes, that may affect construction
or cause damage to assets; the ability of buyers to terminate
contracts to purchase real estate from the Company prior to
the expiration of inspection periods; failure or inability of third
parties o fulfill their commitments or o perform their obliga-
tions under agreements; costs and availability of land and
construction materials; buyers' inability or unwillingness to
close transactions, particularly where buyers only forfeit
deposits upon failure to close; the Company's future taxable
income and other factors that may affect the availability and
timing of utilization of the Company’s deferred tax assets;
uncertainties, changes or litigation related to tax laws, regula-
tions and the application thereof that could limit the tax ben-
efits of the EPIK sale or of other possible transactions
involving the Company; and other risks inherent in the real
estate and other businesses of the Company.

As a result of these and other factors, the Company may
experience material fluctuations in future operating results on
a quarterly or annual basis, which could materially and
adversely affect its business, financial condition, operating
results and stock price.

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements, which reflect management’s view only as of the
date thereof. The Company undertakes no obligation to pub-
licly release revisions to the forward-looking statements in
this Report that reflect events or circumstances after the date
hereof, or reflects the occurrence of unanticipated events.
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PART |

As used throughout this Form 10-K Annual Report, the terms
“FECI,” the “Company” and "Registrant” mean Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. and its consoclidated subsidiaries.

ITEM 1.

General

BUSINESS

FECI! is & holding company incorporated in 1983 and is
engaged, through two wholly owned subsidiaries, in the rail-
road and real estate businesses. The Company’s railrcad
subsidiary, Florida East Coast Railway, LLC (FECR or Raifway),
connects many of the major population centers and port
facilities of Florida’s east coast, and provides efficient service
for its customers through muftiple competitive connections to
the rest of North America. The Company, primarily through
its real estate subsidiary, Flagler Development Company
(Flagler), is engaged in the acquisition, entitlement, develop-
ment, management, leasing, operation and selected sale of
real estate in Florida, primarily office and industrial property.

On January 6, 2006, the Company announced that a newly
formed holding company and certain Company subsidiaries
had entered into various agreements to acquire privately held
Codina Group, Inc. and certain related property interests held
directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina (Codina) for total
consideration of $270 million. The total consideration of
$270 million includes $66 million of cash for certain property
interests, assumption or repayment of $36 million of debt and
up to $168 million of equity securities (including $85 million of

contingent consideration). The purchase price is subject to a
post-closing adjustment based on certain closing conditions.
The Codina acquisition is expected to close during the first
quarter of 2006. Additional information regarding this acqui-
sition is contained in items 7 and 8 of this annual report on
Form 10-K.

Financial information about FECI's operating segments
is contained in ltems 6, 7 and 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

RAILWAY
General

FECR operates a Class Il railroad along 351 miles of mainline
track between Jacksonville and Miami, Florida, serving some
of the most densely populated areas of the state. FECR
also owns and operates approximately 277 miles of branch,
switching and other secondary track and 158 mites of yard
track, all within Florida. FECR has the only coastal right-of-
way between Jacksonville and Miami and is the exclusive
rail-service provider to the Port of Palm Beach, Port
Everglades (Fort Lauderdale) and the Port of Miami.

FECR serves approximately 1,000 carload and intermodal
customers combined. During 2005, the number of custom-
ers included approximately 200 drayage customers. The
following table summarizes FECR’s freight shipments by com-
modity group and as a percentage of rail freight revenues:

TRAFFIC
Years Ended December 31
(dollars and units in thousands) 2005 2004 Percent 2005 2004 Percent
Commodity Units Units Variance  Revenues Revenues Variance
Rail carloads
Crushed stone (aggregate) 140.3 127.2 10.3 69,897 60,271 16.0
Construction materials 7.2 57 26.3 5,333 3,827 394
Vehicles 23.5 22.2 59 19,025 17,577 8.2
Foodstuffs & kindred 13.7 12,5 9.6 11,972 9,922 20.7
Chemicals & distillants 3.5 3.7 5.4 4,489 4,367 2.8
Paper & lumber 7.4 56 32.1 8,092 6,162 31.3
Other 15.0 141 6.4 10,486 8,592 22.0
Total carload 210.6 191.0 10.3 129,294 110,718 16.8
Intermodeal 309.3 283.3 9.2 103,008 86,379 19.3
Total freight units/revenues 519.9 4743 9.6 232,302 197,097 17.9
Ancillary revenue - - - 5,568 3,665 51.8
Railway segment revenue - - - 237,870 200,762 18.5
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FECR connects with Norfolk Southern Railway Company
{NS) and with CSX Transportation, Inc. (CSXT) at Jacksonville
and is able to offer its customers competitive rail connections
to the rest of North America. During 2005, approximately
35% of FECR's freight revenues were attributable to traffic
that originated on other railroads; approximately 5% was
attributable to traffic that originated on FECR but bound for
other destinations, and 60% was attributable to traffic that
both originated and terminated on FECR's system (local traf-
fic). Haulage agreements with NS and South Central Florida
[Express, Inc. (SCFE) generated 7% of FECR's freight revenue
in 2005. With the exception of haulage services provided for
SCFE described below, FECR does not receive traffic from
one railroad to be passed over its track to another railroad.

FECR handies rail cars for SCFE betwesn Fort Pierce and
Jacksonville for interchange with CSXT or NS. SCFE is a
short-line railroad operating under a Trackage Rights Agree-
ment over a branch line owned by FECR extending from Fort
Pierce to Lake Harbor. A concurrent Car Haulage Agreement
is in effect between Fort Pierce and Jacksonville.

FECR also handles certain types of traffic for NS from
Jacksonville to Miami under a Haulage Agreement, whereby
FECR receives specified revenues for each unit transported.
In late 2001, FECR began offering a service that is known as
the “Hurricane Train.” This extends FECR’s commercial reach
into the Atlanta region. This service is operated pursuant to
an agreement with NS allowing up to 60 spaces per day
dependent upon space availability. During 2005, FECR
reached and exceeded this capacity on certain days, which
may limit the ability to grow this business segment in the
future unless additional capacity is made available. Additionally,
through joint marketing arrangements with CSXT and NS,
FECR provides direct service to the south Florida markets
with loads originating in the Northeast and in the Chicago
and surrounding areas.

FECR owns or has an interest in approximately 1,622 acres
of ancillary properties, including three rail corridors (696
acres) that are either abandoned or are candidates for aban-
donment, within the state of Florida. FECR continues to eval-
uate these holdings and, when appropriate, engages in
strategic activities (sales, development, etc.). Sales of these
properties are reported in “other sales” of the realty segment.

FECR also actively manages its 100 foot wide railroad right-
of-way to generate miscellaneous rents and right-of-way
lease profits, which are not reported as part of the railway
segment but as “other income”. FECR leases its right-of-way
to various tenants for use, including telecommunications
companies’ fiber optics systems pursuant to long-term
leases. These rents are included in “other income”. FECR

also generates revenues from the grant of licenses and
leases to use railroad property and rights-of-way for outdoor
advertising, parking lots and lateral crossings of wires and
pipes by municipalities, and utility and telecommunications
companies. These miscellaneous rents are included in
“other income”.

Customers

One customer, Rinker Materials Corporation (Rinker) gener-
ated approximately 20% of freight revenues in 2005. FECR's
top five customers accounted for approximately 42% of
2005 freight revenues. Rinker and another of these custom-
ers are suppliers of aggregate materials.

Competition

Although FECR is often the only rail carrier directly serving its
customers, FECR competes directly with other railroads that
could potentially deliver freight to FECR’s markets and cus-
tomers via different routes and use of multiple modes of
transportation such as transload services. FECR's primary rail
competition for carload traffic is CSXT. FECR also competes
directly with other modes of transportation, including motor
carriers, ships and barges. FECR's intermodal freight services
(trailers and containers on flat-rail cars) compete directly with
motor carriers. Any improvement in the cost or guality of
these alternate modes of transportation could increase com-
petition from these other modes of transportation and
adversely affect FECR's business.

There is continuing strong competition among rail, water and
highway carriers. Price is usually only one factor of impor-
tance as shippers and receivers choose a transport mode
and a specific transportation company with which to do
business. Inventory carrying costs, service reliability, ease of
handling, and the desire to avoid loss and damage during
transit are increasingly important considerations, especially
for higher valued finished goods, machinery and consumer
products. Additionally, decisions about ports-of-call can
affect FECR's business. As international shipping companies
alter their ship rotations into various ports, this could change
the railroad’s intermodal shipments from the affected port
facility.

Regulation

FECR is subject to regulation by the Surface Transportation
Board (STB) of the U.S. Department of Transportation
(USDOT). The STB has jurisdiction over some rates, condi-
tions of service and the extension or abandonment of rail
lines. The STB also has jurisdiction over the consolidation,
merger or acquisition of control of and by rail common catri-
ers. The USDOT, through the Federal Railroad Administration
(FRA), regulates the safety of railroad operations, including
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certain track and mechanical equipment standards and cer-
tain human factor issues. The USDOT and Occupational
Safety and Health Administration {(OSHA) have jurisdiction
over a number of safety and health aspects of rail opera-
tions, including the movement of hazardous materials.

Rates In the rall industry were substantially deregulated by
The Staggers Act of 1980 (The Staggers Act) and subse-
guent legislation and regulation. The Staggers Act encour-
aged and enabled rail carriers to innovate and compete for
business, thereby contributing to the revitalization of the
industry. Accordingly, the nation’s rail carriers can be
expected to vigorously oppose efforts to re-impose such
economic regulation.

FECR is also subject to extensive environmental laws and
regulations. Violations of various statutory and regulatory pro-
grams can result in civil penalties, remediation expenses,
natural resource damage claims, potential injunctions, cease
and desist orders and criminal penalties. Some environmen-
tal statutes impose strict liability, rendering a person liable for
environmental damage without regard to negligence or fault
on the part of such person. In addition, FECR’s present and
historic ownership and operation of real property, including
rail yards, in connection with its transportation operations
involve the storage, use or disposal of hazardous substances
that may have contaminated and may in the future contami-
nate the environment. FECR may also be liable for the costs
of cleaning any site at which it has disposed (intentionally or
unintentionally) of hazardous substances by virtus of, for
example, an accident, derailment or leak, or to which it has
transported hazardous substances it generated, such as
waste oil (see ftem 3, Legal Proceedings).

REAL ESTATE
General

FECI owns 100% of the stock of Flagler. Flagler is engaged
in the acquisition, entitlement, development, leasing, man-
agement, operation and selected sale of real estate in
Florida, primarily office and industrial properties.

Flagler owned and operated 64 buildings as of December
31, 2005, with approximately 7.4 million rentable sqg. fi.

A schedule of these buildings is included in Part 1, ltem 2 of
this report. At December 31, 2005, Flagler's operating prop-
erties were 95% occupied. Flagler's operating properties
consist primarily of Class “A” office space and high-quality
commercial/industrial facilities primarily constructed after
1992. Additionally at December 31, 2005, Flagler had five
recently completed buildings totaling 0.7 million rentable

sq. ft. that were in lease-up.

At December 31, 2005, Flagler had 1.3 million sg. ft. of prop-
erties in varlous phases of development, consisting of
approximately 119,000 sqg. ft. under construction, and
approximately 1,133,000 sg. ft. in the pre-development
phase, located in the Jacksonville, Orlando, Broward and
Miami-Dade area markets. For those projects in the pre-
development phase, Flagler is engaged in engineering,
architectural planning and design.

Flagler owns 643 acres of developable land with entitlements
for the construction of 10.1 million sq. ft. of additional office,
industrial and commercial space. Developable land is consid-
ered to be land that can be built upon and excludes wet-
lands and land under roads. Additionally, Flagler owns
approximately 2,540 acres of unimproved, unentitled land or
land with limited entitlerments in Florida, available for potential
future development or disposition. During 2005, Flagler has
started the process to determine the highest and best use
for 1,622 acres of unentitled land owned by FECR, which are
redundant to the Railway's operating requirements.

At December 31, 2005, Flagler and FECR held net land sale
proceeds, totaling $21.2 milion and $1.9 million, respectively,
in escrow with a qualified intermediary, which is intended to
be reinvested through qualifying tax-deferred exchanges.
Flagler and FECR have identified qualifying reinvestment
properties for purchase during the first half of 2006. These
properties include land expected to be acquired from Codina.

Projects under Bevelopment

The primary geographic focus of Flagler's development activ-
ities has been in the Miami, Sunrise, Jacksonville and
Crlando markets. Projects under development include:

o SouthPark Center | - Orlando, FL: Located near the
intersection of John Young Parkway and Beeline
Expressway. Six buildings, totaling 836,000 sq. ft., have
been completed, one of which (a building of approximately
133,000 sq. ft.) was sold to a third party during 2003. The
park has entitlerments for an additional 163,000 sg. ft. of
office space. A seventh building of approximately 83,000
sq. ft. remains in pre-development.

e SouthPark Center [I - Crlando, FL: In 1899, based on the
success of SouthPark Center |, Flagler acquired approximately
90 acres on the cpposite side of John Young Parkway
from its existing park. The land has remaining entitiements
for 1.47 million sq. ft. of office space, as well as 98,000 sa. ft.
of commercial space. Three buildings totaling approximately
332,000 sq. ft., have been developed, one of which, a
60,000 sg. ft. build-to-suit project, was sold to a third party
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cluring 2004. At December 31, 2005, the third office building
(136,000 sq. ft.) was in lease-up. Two additional buildings,
totaling 226,000 sq. ft. remain in pre-development.

* Flagler Station — Miami, FL: Located northwest of Miami
International Airport. Flagler owns and operates thirty-three
buildings, totaling 3.9 million rentable sa. fi., at December
31, 2005, At December 31, 2005, one of these buildings
(160,000 sa. ft.) was in lease-up. Construction is currently
underway for a 119,000 rentable sq. ft. office building. The
park has entitlements for an additional 2.7 million sq. ft. of
office, industrial and commercial space. Pre-development
is currently underway for an additional 343,000 sg. ft. of
industrial buildings and a 119,000 sq. ft. office building.
Flagler owns approximately 81 acres adjacent to this park
for future development or sale.

Deerwood North — Jacksonville, FL: LLocated near the
intersection of Southside Boulevard and Gate Parkway
North, north of J. Turner Butler Boulevard. Deerwood
North consists of four office buildings, totaling 497,000
rentable sg. ft. At December 31, 2005, the fourth building
(114,000 sq. ft.) was in lease-up.

e Flagler Center — Jacksonville, FL: Located in south
Jacksonville at the Old St. Augustine Road and [-95 inter-
change. Flagler owns and operates nine buildings, totaling
1,034,000 rentable sq. ft. Of these, two buildings, totaling
263,000 sq. ft. were in lease-up at December 31, 2005.
A tenth building, a 112,000 sq. ft. office building is in pre-
development. The park has entitlements for an additional
2.9 miflion sq. ft. of office, industrial and commercial space
as well as entitlements for 500 multi-family units and
130 hotel rooms on approximately 319 developable acres.
Subsequent to December 31, 2005, 60 acres of the
319 acres were sold to outside parties.

o Flagler Plaza - Sunrise, FL: A 41-acre tract located in
west Broward County. The property is entitled for 823,000
sq. ft. of office space. The site is master planned for
four office buildings. Flagler is evaluating the property for
future development. The first building of approximately
250,000 sq. ft. is in pre-development.

The following is a summary of the Company’s development activity as of December 31, 2005:

Net Rentable Estimated Building

Status Owner Property Description Square Feet Completion Date
Uinder construction Flagler Flagler Station ~ Bldg 1100 118,723 June 2006
Fre-development Flagler Flagler Center - Lakeside | 112,306 January 2007
Fre-development Flagler SouthPark Center — Building 700 83,000 ™D
Fre-development Flagler SouthPark Center Il - Building 1400 113,000 TBD
Fre-development Flagler SouthPark Center Il - Bldg 1500 113,000 8D
Fre-development Flagler Flagler Plaza 250,000 TBD
Fre-development Flagler Flagler Station - Bldg 28 171,600 8D
Fre-development Flagler Flagler Station — Bldg 29 171,600 TBD
Fre-development Flagler Flagler Station - Bldg 1200 118,723 TBD
1,251,952

Customers
Flagler leases to approximately 300 tenants in a variety of

Competition
The real estate industry is generally characterized by signifi-
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industries, including financial services, distribution, hospitality
sarvices and import/export. Flagler's largest tenant, based on
square footage, occupied approximately 3.5% of leased
space at December 31, 2005. Flagler's largest tenant, based
on rental revenues, accounted for approximately 5.1% of
2005 continuing operations’ contractual rental income.
Flagler's five and ten largest tenants, based on rental reve-
nues, accounted for approximately 21% and 31% of continu-
ing cperations’ contractual rental income, respectively.

cant competition. There are numerous developers and real
estate companies competing with the Company in Florida for
acquisition of properties, rescurces for development and pro-
spective tenants. Competition may adversely affect the
Company's ability to attract and retain tenants and achieve
favorable rental rates. Management has noted a recent trend
of increased competition for the acquisition of raw land from
residential developers. This competition has increased the
price of raw land. The Company may compete with entities
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having greater financial and other resources. Such compe-
tition could have a material adverse effect on the Company's
business, operations or cash flows.

Regulation

Real estate development in Florida is subject to extensive
regulation at both the state and local levels. One of the pri-
mary purposes of regulation is to ensure that infrastructure,
such as traffic circulation, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drain-
age, potable water, parks and recreation and transportation
facifities, is adequate to serve proposed development. If the
facilities in the area of the development are inadequate or
will become inadequate as a result of the proposed develop-
ment, the developer must either improve the infrastructure
to a level satisfactory o the regulatory agencies or provide
financial assurances that the necessary improvements will be
made as development progresses. In many areas of Florida,
significant infrastructure improvements need to be made in
order to support additional development. Infrastructure
improvement requirements could adversely affect the ability
of developers in Florida, including Flagler, to develop real
estate projects.

Larger developments may be regulated as a Development

of Regional Impact (DRI} if they meet statutorily prescribed
thresholds. The process for obtaining governmental approval
of a DRI project includes an evaluation of the project’s impact
on the environment, infrastructure and government services,
and requires the invoivement of numerous federal, state and
local governmental agencies. The DRI review process is
lengthy and expensive and may result in an approval that
requires significant capital improvements or other exactions
as a condition of the approved development.

In addition, federal, state and local regulations govern the
development of lands containing endangered or protected
wildlife species, and sensitive environmental areas such as
wetlands and coastal areas. Much of the developable land in
Florida is impacted by those regulations. As a result, those
regulations may limit the Company’s ability to develop its real
estate holdings.

Real estate ownership and development is subject to
extensive federal, state and local environmental regulation
governing hazardous substances. Pursuant to those regula-
tions, the owner or operator of contaminated real estate may
be required to perform remediation, regardless of the cause
of the contamination. The sale or development of properties
may also be restricted due to environmental concerns. In addi-
tion, violation of thase regulations may result in civil penalties,
remediation expenses, natural resource damages, injunctions
and cease and desist orders and criminal penalties. The
Company is not presently aware of any material contamina-
tion, or any material adverse environmental development
issues relating to its real estate operations. However, there

can be no assurance that environmental issues will not arise
in the future.

Financial iInformation about FECI’s Segments

The Company had total segment operating revenues of
$362.3 million, an operating profit of $82.3 million in 2005
and total assets of $1.1 bilion at December 31, 2005. (See
Note 8; Segment Information of the Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data set forth in Part ll, ltem 8 of this report
on Form 10-K). The Company’s total railroad operating reve-
nuss were $237.9 million and real estate revenues were
$124.4 million (which included land sales of $33.6 million).
Segment operating profit included $63.7 million from the rail-
road, $40.9 million from real estate (which included land
sales of $25.4 million), less $22.3 million of corporate general
and administrative expenses.

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

All raw materials FECR and Flagler use, including fuel, track
materials and building construction materials, are available in
adequate supply from muiltiple sources.

Seasonality

FECR’s rail traffic is relatively stable throughout the year
with higher volumes ordinarily occurring during the second
and fourth quarters of the year. The Company’s real estate
business is not generally seasonal.

Woaorking Capital

At December 31, 2005, the Company’s current assets
exceeded current liabilities by $69.7 million. The Company
had a $150 million revolving-credit facility at December 31,
2005 (see Note 15 of Item 8 of the Financial Statements).

At December 31, 2005, there were no monies drawn on the
facility (see also Part I, ltem 7, Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations).
At December 31, 2005, the Company had a cash and cash
equivalent balance of $76.0 million, including $23.1 million,
held by a qualifying intermediary, designated for possible
use to purchase real property via tax-deferred exchange.
The Board of Directors authorized the expenditure of up to
$40 million to repurchase its outstanding common stock
through a program of open market purchases and privately
negotiated transactions. The Company has and expects to
finance the stock repurchase primarily from available cash
balances, cash generated from operations, and external
financing to the extent necessary. At December 31, 2005, the
Company had repurchased $2.3 million of stock pursuant to
this authorization.

On January 8, 2006, the Company announced that a newly
formed holding company and certain Company subsidiaries
had entered into various agreements to acquire privately held
Codina Group, Inc. and certain related property interests held
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directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina for total consider-
ation of $270 million. The total consideration of $270 million
includes $66 million of cash for certain property interests,
assumption or repayment of $36 million of debt and up to
$168 million of equity securities (includes $85 million of con-
tingent consideration). The contingent equity is contingent
lupon achievement of certain value based milestones includ-
ing $30 million tied to certain land use approvals, $30 million
upon certain partnership distributions from a joint venture,
320 million is based on cumulative FECI stock price improve-
ments of up to an additional $27.00 over the next five years;
and $5 million is dependent on the new holding company
agreeing to move forward with a proposed residential devel-
opment. The purchase price is subject to post-closing
adjustment based on certain closing conditions. The Codina
acquisition is expected to close during the first quarter of
2006 subject to certain ciosing conditions.

The Company expects to use existing cash and cash
equivalents and potential borrowings under its un-drawn
$150 million revolving credit agreement to satisfy the cash
and debt repayment needs of closing the acquisition.

Employees

~ECI employed 31 people; FECR employed 791, and Flagler
had 81 employees as of December 31, 2005. Approximately
561 of FECR's employees are represented by labor unions:
IUnited Transportation Union (UTU), representing train and
2ngine service employees, Brotherhood of Maintenance of
Way Employees (BMWE), representing track maintenance,
structures and roadway shop employees, and International
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW), representing agents
and clerical, carmen, maintenance of equipment foremen, sig-
nals and communications, train dispatchers, boilermakers, elec-
tricians, machinists, sheetmetal workers and shop laborers.

During the second, third and fourth quarters of 2005, the
Company successfully ratified bargaining agreements with the
UTU, the IBEW and the BMWE. All agreements have been
axtended for a range of three to five years, carry annual gen-
eral wage increases of approximately 3%, and hold employee
oarticipation rates for health care at current levels throughout
the terms of the agreements.

Company Web Address: www.feci.com

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports are available through the
Company’s website (www.feci.com} as soon as reasonably
practicable after such material is electronically filed with or
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission and
are available free of charge upon request from the Company.

Additionally, the Company’s Code of Conduct, Corporate
Governance Guidelines and Charters of the Committees of
the Board of Directors are also posted on the website. This
information is also available in print form via mail by request
to the Company. ;

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

RAILWAY (AND DRAYAGE)

Cyclical Risks: FECR's freight traffic is subject to economic
cycles in the U.S. national, regional and local economies
and, to a lesser extent, the international economies.
Historically, traffic tends to increase at the beg‘inning of an
economic recovery. Traffic tends to decrease early in an
economic downturn. '

Market Risks: FECR’s freight traffic is generally affected by
overall economic conditions, particularly those in Florida. The
condition of international economies, including the Caribbean,
South America and Asian economies can also affect the
Railway's intermodal traffic. In addition, the level of state and
federal highway and other public projects can affect the
amount of aggregate loadings FECR's customers request.
There can be no assurance that the overall economy will
rebound quickly from any slowdowns or that Florida's econ-
omy will continue to experience growth higher‘than the
national average.

Claims and Lawsuits: The nature of FECR’s business
exposes it to the potential for various claims and litigation
related to labor and employment, personal injury and occu-
pational iliness, property damage, environmental and other
matters. FECR maintains insurance for most of these poten-
tial claims, subject to varying deductibles and self-insured
retentions. Therefore, FECR may be subject to claims or litiga-
tion that could involve significant expenditures. (See Item 3
for a discussion of legal proceedings.)

Fuel Price Risks: FECR's operations require significant
amounts of diesel fuel. Prices of diesel fuel can vary greatly.
Increases in fuel price may be passed along to customers
through a “fuel surcharge” or otherwise, though often with
delayed effect. However, there are no assurances that these
surcharges will cover the entire fuel price increase for a given
period, or that competitive market conditions will effectively
allow FECR to pass along this cost. FECR forward pur-
chases fuel to manage the risk of fuel price increases. As of
December 31, 2005, FECR had forward purchase contracts
of 3.8 million gallons of fuel for delivery from January 2006 to
December 2006 for an average purchase pricé of $1.69 per
gallon before taxes and freight. This represents 24% of the
estimated consumption for year 2006. 1
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Interchange Carrier Risks: Approximately 35% of FECR’s
traffic is interchanged from CSXT, SCFE or NS. The ability of
these carriers (CSXT and NS) to market and service south-
bound traffic into the Florida market will affect the amount of
traffic FECR moves.

Rail Car Utilization Risks: FECR earns per diem rents on the
use of its rail car and intermodal fleet of equipment based on
other railroads’ or transportation service providers’ use of the
equipment. Future significant downturns in the overall U.S.
economy, equipment obsolescence or reduced market
demand for FECR’s car and/or intermodal flest, or efforts by
other railroads or transportation providers to improve equip-
ment utilization practices or increase or decrease the size of
their equipment fleets could affect the utilization of and per
diem rents for FECR's equipment. Also, FECR, through
operating agreements, currently leases approximately 4,069
rail cars from Greenbrier Leasing Corporation (Greenbrier),
Bombardier Capital (Bombardier) and other entities, with
lease lengths generally of three, five and ten years. The lease
terms call for FECR to be billed an hourly rate based upon
the length of time the car is on FECR’s railroad (on-line) or on
another railroad (off-line). As a car goes off-line, a per diem
rent sharing arrangement goes into effect whereby Greenbrier
and FECR apportion the rent based upon the length of time
the car is off-line. Rents from the Greenbrier, Bombardier and
other leases received by FECR were $4.7 million, $3.9 million,
$4.0 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Certain of
these leases provide for base rents payable to Greenbrier and
others by FECR if the car remains on FECR's line for a speci-
fied number of days. To date, these base rents (i.e., those
above normal car hire) payable to Greenbrier and others
have been minimal.

Natural Disaster Risks: FECR's cperating assets are located
on Florida’s eastern seaboard and susceptible to damage,
destruction and operational disruption from natural disasters
like hurricanes and other severe storms. Damage and destruc-
tion of operating assets could be material with accompanying
long periods of operational outage. Additionally, the opera-
tions and properties-of scme of FECR’s customers (especially
aggregate suppliers) are also subject to natural disasters,
which can significantly reduce the volumes they ship.

Concentration Risks of Business with Aggregate
Customers: FECR has three primary aggregate customers
with operations in south Florida that represents 29% of
FECR’s total annual revenues. One customer represents 20%
of freight revenues. FECR's revenues are affected by the
demand for aggregate material, primarily in Florida, and the
ability of these customers to supply, efficiently and effectively,
this natural raw material. While there are no assurances,

FECR’s customers expect to have adequate reserves
of minable aggregate material to satisfy demand in the
foreseeable future.

REALTY

Market Risks: Our real estate business has benefited from

a strong economy in Florida. We cannot assure that the
strength of the Florida economy will continue. Certain signifi-
cant expenditures associated with the development, manage-
ment and servicing of real estate (such as real estate taxes,
maintenance costs and debt payments, if any) generally
could not be reduced even if an economic downturn caused
less revenue to be generated from the Company's properties.
Additionally, capital expenditures (especially infrastructure
related) for development of office parks occur early in the
construction cycle, potentially becoming subject to longer
than expected holding periods and costs in the event of
economic downturns.

Development Risks: The Company’s real estate develop-
ment activities require significant capital expenditures. Capital
investment at Flagler for 2006 is expected to be between
$80 million and $90 million, excluding $5 million related to
hurricane replacements. The Company has obtained funds
for its capital expenditures and operating activities through
operating cash flows, property sales and financings. There
can be no assurance that funds available from operating
cash flow, property sales and financings will continue to be
sufficient to fund the Company's required or desired capital
expenditures for development. If the Company were unable
to obtain sufficient funds, it might have to defer or otherwise
limit certain development activities. Further, any new devel-
opment, or any rehabilitation of older projects, may require
compliance with new building codes and other regulations.
The Company cannot estimate the cost of complying with
such codes and regulations, and such costs can make a
new project, or some otherwise desirable uses of an existing
project, not economically feasible. Additionally, the Company's
current real estate developments anticipate certain land uses,
some of which will require future governmental approvals and

“concurrence. The ability or inability to get such approvals as

anticipated, could effect and alter materially the Company’s
current developmental plans and financial reviews.

Cyclical Risks: Flagler’s leasing occupancy and development
are subject to the effect of economic cycles at the regional
and local levels and, to a lesser extent, inithe U.S. national
economy. Historically, leasing occupancy and new building
development activity improve late in a period of economic
recovery and are affected negatively later than other busi-
nesses in an economic downturn.
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Natural Disaster Risks: Flagler’s assets are located in
Florida and are susceptible to damage, destruction and oper-
ational disruption (including rents from tenants) from natural
disasters like hurricanes and other severe storms. Damage
and destruction of operating assets could be material with
accompanying long periods of operational outage.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF
COMMENTS

MNone.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company’s material physical properties at December 31,
2005 are listed below and are grouped by industry segment.

RAILWAY

FECR owns a railroad right-of-way, generally 100 feet wide,
along the east coast of Florida extending for 351 miles from
Jacksonville to Miami, used for its railroad operations. FECR
also owns and operates approximately 277 miles of branch,
switching and other secondary track, 158 miles of yard track,
various rail car marshalling yards, trailer/container and auto-
rnobile loading and unloading facilities, signaling system facil-
ities, and a number of operating offices, shops and service
house buildings. FECR also owns three connected four-story
buildings in St. Augustine, Florida, which are used by FECI
and FECR as corporate headquarters.

On March 2, 1998, FECR entered into a Trackage Agreement
with SCFE providing for, among other things, the operation
and maintenance by SCFE of 56 miles of branch mainline
owned by FECR extending from Fort Pierce, west to Lake
Harbor.

FECR’s tracks, bridges and other fixed property and signal
improvements are maintained to a level based on the needs
of service. The mainline is, in general, constructed of
132-pound per yard continuous welded rail supported on
concrete crossties. These facilities provide a reliable infra-
structure for rail operations suited to the business demands
of customers, including unrestricted movement of double-
stacked containers, tri-level automobiles and heavier axle rail
cars. The branch mainlines, way switching and yard tracks
are, for the most part, of 115-pound per yard materials
supported by wood ties.

FECR owns or leases 81 diesel electric locomotives, 6,262
freight cars, 1,412 trailers for highway revenue service, numer-
ous pieces of rail-mounted and non-rail-mounted work equip-
ment and numerous automobiles used in maintenance and
transportation operations. Generally, FECR’s equipment is in
good physical condition, considering its years of service and
operating utilization. On December 16, 2005 FECR ordered
four (4) new locomotives, delivery is expected in the third
quarter 2006.

During 2003, FECR commenced an "engineering and
economics” based study of its principal right-of-way and
equipment assets to develop a multi-year maintenance and
replacement plan and associated estimates of the assets’
remaining lives. The engineering studies segregated the
equipment and right-of-way assets into the following major
groupings: locomatives, rolling stock and equipment (e.g.,
hoppers, flatcars, auto racks, trailers, etc.), bridges, and
track structure (rail, ties, ballast, and other track material).
During the third and fourth quarters of 2004, the engineering
studies (including associated estimated depreciation lives) for
locomotives and rolling stock were completed. During the
first quarter of 2005, the engineering study for bridges was
finalized. The track structure engineering study was finalized
in the fourth quarter of 2005.

The track study evaluated FECR's entire mainline, branch
lines and yards from Jacksonville to Miami, Florida. The
study’s fieldwork involved hi-rail inspections of the main line,
tie samples in each mile of track and rail measurements
taken at each tie sample location. In each yard, samples of
tie and rail conditions were taken to develop a general
picture of the overall condition of the yard.

From the track study, FECR identified four major components
for its track assets: rail, ties, ballast and other track material
(OTM). Qverall, the study indicated the track system to be in
good condition. The study generally recommends that we
continue our general maintenance programs (e.g., surfacing,
bolt fastening, undercutting, etc.) at our current levels. In
2005, $13.8 million was spent on our track maintenance
programs. The 2006 budget includes $13.7 million of track
maintenance programs, which is in line with the study rec-
ommendations. Nothing significant was found in yard
maintenance during the track study.
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The study also evaluated the condition and replacement of
our track assets. One of the major components that impact
the replacement of fail and track materials is tonnage. The
Transportation Test Center (TTC) in Pueblo, Colorado indi-
cates a tangent rail life expectancy based on 1.460 billion
gross tons for generic mainline rail with a six-inch base (132,
136 and 141 pound). Between the periods of 1970-1977,
FECR replaced approximately 74% of its main line track with
generally small amounts of rail replacement from 1378
through 2005. The average annual tonnage on FECR’s ralil
averaged approximately 9 million gross tons during the
1970’s. Subsequent to the 1970’s, annual tonnages have
steadily increased with annual tonnage during the last
decade of approximately 37 million gross tons. Given these
historical tonnage amounts, FECR expects our existing rail
assets to meet their current life expectancy of 50 years with
no impact on depreciation rates. Going forward, if FECR
experiences expected annual tonnage levels of 50 million
gross tons, the lives for newly installed rail and other track
components after December 31, 2005 will need to be
adjusted potentially within a range of 35 to 45 years. The
potential annual depreciation impact for the change in ralil
and OTM assets (if adjusted to a range of 35-45 years)
would be less than $0.1 million in 2006 (year one of change)
and range from $0.2 million to $0.4 milfion in year 2015 (year
10 after change) based on normative expected capital bud-
gets. The study indicated no substantive change in the
depreciable lives for ties and ballast, at generally 40 years.

The bridge study covered FECR’s 72 bridges or approximately
13,000 linear feet of bridge assets (30% were inspected dur-
ing the study). The bridge study indicated no substantive
change in the depreciable lives and generally, bridges would
continue to be depreciated over a 61.5-year life. The bridge
study also indicated that while FECR's bridge assets are in
acceptable cperational condition based on the Company’s
continuing maintenance and inspection programs, FECR is
entering a 10 to 20 year period where, based on the age and
construction materials used, certain bridges will be studied
further, monitored and possibly replaced. The management
team does not expect replacement costs for bridges to mate-
rially alter its normative annual capital budget, however this
estimate is subject to change, and such changes could be
material. The study did not include the downtown Jacksonville
bridge, which spans the St. Johns River, which was evalu-
ated separately (due to its scale and design). The study rec-
ommended rehabilitation of the pier protection structures for
the Jacksonville bridge main channel. This work commenced
in 2005 and will be completed in the first quarter 2006.

No other significant change in capital maintenance or
replacement programs was noted.

The locomotive and rolling stock study indicated no substan-
tive change in the annual maintenance or capital replacement
programs. FECR will continue its general practice of main-
taining locomotives and rolling stock for the entirety of their
useful operating life.

From the locomotive engineering study, FECR identified three
major sub-components of its locomotive assets: Hulk/Chassis,
LLocomotive engine and Combos (e.g., wheel assemblies,
electric motors, etc.) The replacement and resulting depre-
ciable lives for each of these sub-components is 50 years,

7 years and 3 years, respectively. Annual depreciation is
expected to increase approximately 11% or $0.3 million as

a result of the study. These depreciable lives were imple-
mented in the fourth quarter of 2004,

From the rolling stock engineering study, FECR identified
three major sub-components of its rolling stock assets:
Hulk/Chassis, wheel assemblies (e.g., trucks), and doors.
The replacement and resulting depreciable lives for each of
these sub-components is 40 to 50 years, 7 years and 7
years, respectively. General FECR eguipment, which was
included in the rolling stock study, has depreciable lives of
10 to 20 years. Annual depreciation is expected 1o increase
approximately 11% or $0.4 million as a result of the studly.
These depreciable lives were implemented in the first quarter
of 2005.

These studies, their conclusions and on-going evaluations
may result in future material changes in FECR'’s maintenance
and capital spending and in the estimated remaining useful
lives of its property, plant and equipment, which may affect
future depreciation rates and expense.

In addition, FECR currently manages approximately 4,069
rail cars from Greenbrier Leasing Corporation, Bombardier
Capital and other entities, with lease lengths generally of
three, five and ten years. The lease terms call for FECR to be
billed an hourly rate based upon the length of time the caris
on FECR’s railroad (on-line) or on another railroad (off-line).
As a car goes off-line, a per diem rent sharing arrangement
goes into effect whereby Greenbrier and FECR apportion the
rent based upon the length of time the car is off-line. Rents
from the Greenbrier, Bombardier and other leases received
by FECR were $4.7 million, $3.9 milion, $4.0 million in 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Certain of these leases provide
for base rents payable to Greenbrier and others by FECR if
the car remains on FECR's line for a specified number of
days. To date, these base rents (i.e., those above normal car
hire) payable to Greenbrier and others have been minimal,
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REAL ESTATE

At year-end 2005, Flagler’s commercial and industrial portfolio included 64 buildings, exclusive of lease-up, aggregating
7.4 million rentable sq. ft. Flagler's income-producing properties are detailed below:

Flagler’s Income-Producing Buildings

(at December 31, 2005)

No. of Rentable  Occupied % Year
Location Bldgs. Type Sq. Ft. Sq. Ft. Occupied Built
duPont Center
Jacksonville, FL 2 Office Buildings 160,000 143,245 Q0 1987-88
Ceerwood North
Jacksonville, FL 3 Office Buildings 382,943 376,474 a8 1999-04
Ceerwood South
Jacksonville, FL 4 Office Buildings 520,022 485,048 93 1996-98
Flagler Center 3 Office Buildings 354,566 353,186 100 1998-99
Jacksonville, FL 2 Office/Showroom/Warehouses 209,613 209,613 100 1997-99
1 Front Load Warehouse 98,800 79,081 80 1997
1 Rail Warehouse 107,800 107,800 100 1997
Giran Park at The Avenues 3 Office Buildings 241,568 165,832 69 1992-95
Jacksonville, FL 3 Office/Showroom/Warehouses 174,353 116,597 67 1992-97
1 Office Warehouse 154,326 154,326 100 1996
Cffice Center at Southpoint
Jacksonville, FL 1 Office Building 59,600 59,600 100 1989
SouthPark Center | & Il 5 Office Buildings 707,194 673,554 a5 1988-04
Crlando, FL 1 Office/Showroom/Warehouse 131,607 131,607 100 1998
Flagler Station 2 Office Building 339,864 339,864 100 2000
Miami, FL 5 Office/Showroom/Warehouses 367,301 367,301 100 1988-94
11 Office Warehouses 11,528,286 1,528,286 100 1890-01
4 Rail Warehouses 387,680 397,680 100 1988-94
8 Front Load Warehouses 1,027,984 975,384 95 1991-95
1 Cffice Service Center 38,956 38,956 100 1994-02
1 Retail Building 42,800 22,049 52 2002
Doral Concourse
Miami, FL 1 Office Building 240,144 199,552 83 2001
Sunrise Corporate Plaza
Sunrise, FL 1 Office Building 106,648 106,648 100 1999
Total = 100% owned buildings 64 7,392,055 7,032,583 95
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Certain of these buildings are mortgaged to secure loans
with outstanding balances due of $338.0 million as of
December 31, 2005. The mortgage notes consist of $247 mil-
lion of seven- and ten-year notes with $235.3 million out-
standing at December 31, 2005, and a blended interest and
principal repayment payable monthly based on a fixed 7.23%
weighted-average interest rate on the outstanding principal
amount of the mortgage notes and a thirty-year amortization
period. In addition, $105 million of seven-year mortgage
notes were issued on August 10, 2004 with $102.7 million
outstanding at December 31, 2005. These seven-year mort-
gage notes consist of a $60 million note with a fixed rate of
interest of 5.27% and a $45 million note with a floating rate
of interest based on the 90-day LIBOR Index plus 1.00%

(5.41% at December 31, 2005). Repayments of principal and
interest are payable monthly based upon a thirty-year amorti-
zation schedule. These notes mature with remaining principal
due of $79.5 miliion in 2008 and $229.5 milion in 2011.

The Company periodically reviews its inventory of income-
producing commercial and industrial properties, as well as
undeveioped properties to determine how best to maximize
its value, including possible sale, if market conditions warrant.
The Company will continue to develop additional rentable
commercial and industrial space if market conditions warrant.
The Company currently has 119,000 sq. ft. under construc-
tion and 1,133,000 sq. ft. in the pre-development phase
(see Part 1, Item 1 Business, in this report on Form 10-K).

At year-end 2005, Flagier had five buildings in lease-up. Lease-up is defined as the status of a project that has been issued a
certificate of occupancy, but has not reached the earlier of 90% occupancy or one year from issuance of certificate of accu-
pancy. The percentage leased/pre-leased denotes the percentage of net rentable sq. ft. for which leases had been signed at

December 31, 2005. These properties are detailed below:

Net Rentable % Leased/Pre-Leased

Status Owner Property Description Square Feet at December 31, 2005
Lease-Up Flagler Flagler Center - Lakeside Two 112,306 31%
Lease-Up Flagler Deerwood North - Office 4 113,898 84%
Lease-Up Flagler Southpark Center |l — Building 1200 136,414 0%
Lease-Up Flagler Flagler Center — Building 700 151,178 86%
Lease-Up Flagler Flagler Station — OW 25 160,211 0%

674,007

Flagler's land portfolio includes the following major
land holdings:

Lemberg North (Cordova Palms)

This site, located in St. Johns County along U.S. 1 between
Jacksonville and St. Augustine, is comprised of 449 acres
and will be bisected by the planned future State Road 312.
The Company is pursuing the necessary governmental
approvals for the development of a mixed-use project on
the site.

Lakeland Central Park

Flagler is in the regulatory approval phase of the develop-
ment of this site, which contains 386 developable acres. The
property is situated just off Interstate 4 in Lakeland, which is
between the Tampa and Orlando markets. Flagler is process-
ing a Development of Regional Impact application for the
project, which if successful, will provide entitlements for a
mix of uses,

Fort Pierce K-4

A 320-acre tract is located in St. Lucie County at the south-
east quadrant of the intersection of I-95 and the Florida
Turnpike. The land use designation for the property is for
mixed-use development, with 245 acres of the property
presently zoned for heavy industrial. When market analysis
reflects the proper demand for industrial use, the property
could be developed as industrial zoned property. Various
approvals from state, regional and local government entities
will be required.

Downtown Miami Lot

This eight-acre tract is located in downtown Miami fronting
on NW First Avenue adjacent to the Miami Arena, the
Stephen P. Clark county administration building and the fed-
eral courthouse currently being constructed with an esti-
mated completion date of third quarter 2006. The future
land-use designation and zoning of the property are for
office/mixed-use. Flagler is evaluating the development

of the property.
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FECR Properties

FECR also owns lands outside of the right-of-way, which are
redundant to the Railway’s operating requirements. During
2005, Flagler has started the process to determine the high-
est and best uses for each parcel. Exclusive of operating rail
yards, some of FECR's land portfolio includes the following:

Right-of-Way Corridors

The Company continues to hold an interest in several corri-
ders, upon which rail service is not currently provided. The
Titusville Branch in Volusia and Brevard counties is approxi-
mately 35 miles in length and contains 450 acres. In addi-
tion, the Edgewater Branch extends from Edgewater to
Maytown connecting to the Aurantia to Benson Junction cor-
ridor. This corridor is approximately 16 miles in length and
contains 191 acres. The Company is negotiating an agree-
ment to sell both of these corridors to the state of Florida.

A corridor extends southerly for approximately six miles from
the Miami International Airport to a major metropolitan mal! in
Miami-Dade County. The northerly portion of this corridor
remains in rail service. In 2005, the southerly five miles were
abandoned and the Company is evaluating alternative uses
of the right-of-way.

Miller Tract (Flagler Crossing)

FECR owns approximately 165 acres west of the railroad
right-of-way and fronting on the San Sebastian River in addi-
tion to Flagler's 69-acre parcel at the Miller Tract, which fronts
U.3. 1 at the northern boundary of the City of St. Augustine.
Flegler is assisting the Railway in evaluating appropriate uses
and in obtaining development approvals for this real estate.

Lakeland Distribution Center (Key Safety)

This 117-acre site is located on County Line Road in
Lakeland, Florida. Flagler is developing the site for industrial/
warehouse uses of up to 1.2 million sq. ft. on approximately
64 developable acres.

Cadillac Gauge Property

This property is located in an industrial area on Cidco Road

in Cocoa, Florida. This property has over 100,000 sq. ft. of

warehouse space on 92 acres of land. The property offers a
variety of uses.

Eyster Boulevard

This site is located in the City of Rockledge, south of Eyster
Boulevard, and consists of 64 acres with approximately
1,290 ft. of frontage along Eyster Boulevard and over 2,600 ft.
of rail frontage. A portion of the site has 330 ft. of frontage
along Murrell Road. Approximately 27 acres are under con-
tract for sale and approximately 20 acres are expected to be
leased. Both the buyer and the lessee are expected to receive
rail service. The remaining 17 acres are expected to be
developed or marketed for commercial and industrial uses.

New Smyrna

This site is located on Route 44 in New Smyrna Beach along
Florida’s east coast. The property includes undeveloped
acreage and an active FECR locomotive repair shop. The
undeveloped acreage offers a variety of uses.

Summary of FECI Land Holdings

The Company owned and managed 5,383 acres of land at
year-end 2005, which included 578 acres on which buildings
are located; 643 acres of developable land with entitlements,
including the projects under development described in Item
1, Part 1 of this report; 2,540 acres of unentitled land, includ-
ing the undeveloped properties described in ltem 1, Part | of
this report, and 1,622 acres held by FECR. These properties
are held for lease, development and/or sale and are in four-
teen counties of the state of Florida with 3,761 acres held by
Flagler and 1,622 acres held by FECR.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is the defendant and plaintiff in various
lawsuits resulting from its operations. in the opinion of
management, appropriate provision has been made in the
financial statements for the estimated liability that may result
from disposition of such matters. The Company maintains
comprehensive liabllity insurance for bodily injury and
property claims, but is self-insured or maintains a significant
self-insured retention {i.e., deductible) for these exposures,
particularly at FECR. These lawsuits are related to alleged
bodily injuries sustained by Railway employees or third
parties, employment related matters such as alleged
wrongful termination and commercial or contract disputes,
including disputes related to real estate, property
management and bankruptcies.
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The Company is subject to proceedings and consent
decrees arising. out of its historic disposal of fuel and oil used
in the transportation business. It is the Company’s policy to
accrue environmental cleanup costs when it is probable that
a liability has been incurred and an amount can be reasonably
estimated. As assessments and cleanups proceed, these
accruals are reviewed and adjusted.

The Company is participating, together with several other
potentially responsible parties (PRPs), in the remediation of a
site in Jacksonville, Florida, pursuant to an agreement with
the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA).
The site previously accepted waste oil from many businesses.
The clean up is substantially completed and the Company
has paid its share of the clean-up costs (gpproximately

$0.3 million). The site will have on-going maintenance require-
ments. Based on the nature of the expected maintenance
activities, the Company does not expect its share of
maintenance costs to be material.

The Company monitors a small number of sites leased to
others, or acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries. Based
on management’s ongoing review and monitoring of the
sites, and the ability to seek contribution or indeminification
from the PRPs, the Company does not expect to incur
material additional costs, if any.

It is difficult to quantify future environmental costs as many
issues relate to actions by third parties or changes in environ-
mental regulations. However, based on information presently
available, management believes that the ultimate disposition
of currently known matters will not have a material effect on
the financial position, liquidity or results of operations of

the Company.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS
TC A VOTE OF SECURITY

HOLDERS

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security
holders during the fourth quarter of 2005.

PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S
COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES

OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock and Dividend
Policy

The common stock of FECI is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange with the symbol “FLA.” As of February 23, 20086,
there were 1,475 holders of record of FECl's common stock.

The following table shows the high and low sales prices and
dividends per share by quarter for 2005 and 2004:

Cash
Dividends

Common Stock Price High Low Paid
2005
Fourth Quarter

Common stock $45.70 $40.55 $0.06
Third Quarter

Common stock $48.49 $39.91 $0.06
Second Quarter

Common stock $44.10 $38.90 $0.06
First Quarter

Common stock $45.50 $40.50 $0.05
2004
Fourth Quarter

Common stock $46.83 $36.60 $0.05
Third Quarter

Common stock $40.54 $35.00 $0.05
Second Quarter

Cemmon stock $40.37 $34.53 $0.05
First Quarter

Common stock $36.00 $31.62 $0.04

The Company pays quarterly cash dividends on its out-

" standing shares of common stock. The Company currently

expects to continue paying quarterly cash dividends in an
amount at least equal to the dividends paid in 2005; however,
the determination of the amount of future cash dividends, if
any, to be declared and paid by the Company will depend
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upon, among other things, the Company’s financial condition,
funds from operations, level of capital expenditures, future
business prospects and other factors deemed relevant by
the Board of Directors. The closing price of the common
stock was $51.08 as of February 23, 20086.

On August 13, 2004, the Company purchased 5.5 million
shares of common stock from The Alfred 1. duPont
Testamentary Trust (Trust) and The Nemours Foundation
{(Foundation) for $34.50 per share or approximately $191 mil-
lion. The shares represented approximately 14.9% of the
Company’s total outstanding common stock and are held as

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Average Price
Paid Per Share

treasury stock. After the transaction, the Trust owned
3,085,930 shares, or approximately 9.8% of the total shares
outstanding. The transaction was approved by the directors
of the FECI Board, other than the representatives of the Trust.

After the transaction with the Trust and the Foundation, the
Board authorized the Company to repurchase up to $40 mil-
lion of common stock through a program of open market
purchases and privately negotiated transactions, from time to
time. The following table sets forth repurchases made and/or
shares surrendered during the three months ended
December 31, 2005:

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or Programs

Maximum Amount of Value
that may yet be Purchased
under the Plans or Programs

October 5,778* $42.44*
November - -
December 3,111 $42.13*

- 37,711,048
= 37,711,048
- 37,711,048

“Shares purchased represent shares surrendered to the Company for federal withholding obligations related to employees’ vesting on

previously restricted stock.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plan

Number of Securities to be
Issued Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

Plan Category

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans (excluding
securities reflected in column (a})

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
of Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

(a)

Equity compensation plans

(b) (c)

approved by security holders 616,487 $31.78 2,767,803
Equity compensation plans

not approved by security holders™ 105,500 N/A N/A
Total 721,987 $31.78 2,767,803

*Ehares of restricted stock issued to Adolfo Henrigues on March 28, 2005, in connections with his employment as Chairman,

Fresident and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

**As of December 31, 2005, includes 2,042,388 shares available for future issuance under the Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.
2002 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective June 2, 2005, and 725,415 shares reserved for issuance under the

Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

On January 6, 2006 the Company and the Codina Group,
Inc. announced that a newly formed holding company and
certain Company subsidiaries had entered into various agree-
ments to acquire privately held Codina Group and certain
related property interests. Equity to be issued in the transac-
tion includes approximately 3.25 million shares of common
equity to the contributors, (i) 1,295,399 shares of which are
contingent upon the achievement of certain value based mile-
stones and (ji) 288,520 shares to be issued to certain Codina
Group employees. In addition, up to $29.2 million of equity
may be issued in connection with partnership distributions.

The shares to be issued are treasury shares currently held by
the Company. The shares issued in the transaction may not
be sold or transferred for periods ranging from one 1o five
years after the closing. The closing is anticipated to occur in
the first gquarter 20086.
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ITEM G. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below with respect to the Company’s consolidated statements of income for
each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2005, and with respect to the consolidated balance sheets for the
same periods are derived from the consolidated financial statements. This selected financial data should be read in conjunction
with Part Il, items 7 (Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditicn and Results of Operations), and 8 (Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data) included elsewhere herein. Income statement data, discontinued operations and earnings
per share results for all years have been reclassified to treat EPIK, FLX and certain Flagler buildings as discontinued operations,
consistent with the 2005 presentation. Included in 2002 and 2001 discontinued operations is the impairment of certain
telecommunications assets. See Note 5 to the Financial Statements in ltem 8 below for additional discussion.

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Income Statement Data
Operating revenues” 362,346 378,187 338,264 300515 245294
Operating expenses” (280,083) (247,955) (264,554) (210,773) (188,452)
Operating profit 82,263 130,232 73,710 89,742 56,842
Interest income 1,659 1,124 946 425 1,170
Interest expense (20,105) (16,671) (17,056) (19,602) (6,187)
Cther income 14,555 13,023 9,544 10,8083 9,288
Income before income taxes 78,372 127,708 67,144 ° 81,368 61,113
Provision for income taxes (29,008) (49,806) (25,851) (31,327) (23,528)
Income from continuing operations 49,366 77,902 41,293 50,041 37,584
Discontinued Operations
Income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations

(net of taxes) (see details following) - 106 (173) (168,615) (98,970)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations (net of taxes) - 2,590 2,104 10,823 -
income (loss) from discontinued operations - 2,696 1,931  (157,792)  (88,970)
Net income (loss) 49,366 80,598 43,224  (107,751)  (61,386)
Earnings Per Share
Income from continuing operations — basic $1.53 $2.25 $1.13 $1.37 $1.03
Income from continuing operations — diluted $1.52 $2.21 $1.12 $1.36 $1.02
Loss from operation of discontinued operations - basic - - $(0.01) $(4.63) $2.72)
Loss from operation of discontinued operations - diluted ~ - $(0.01) $(4.60) $(2.70)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations — basic & diluted ~ $0.08 $0.06 $0.30 -
Net income {loss) — basic $1.53 $2.33 $1.18 $(2.96) $(1.69)
Net income (loss) — diluted $1.52 $2.29 $1.17 $(2.94) $(1.68)
Weighted-average shares ~ basic 32,281 34,530 36,502 36,446 36,397
Weighted-average 'shares ~ diluted 32,584 35,217 36,365 36,635 36,608
Cash dividends declared on common stock 7,518 6,498 60,453 3,658 3,652
Cash dividends declared per share on common stock $0.23 $0.19 $1.645 $0.10 $0.10

*Includes costs and recoveries associated with hurricane related damage. See Items 7 & 8 for breakout and discussion of these costs

and recoveries.
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Details of certain Flagler buildings’ income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations are provided in the following tables:

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Summary of Operating Results of Discontinued Operations
Flagler realty rental revenues - 718 2,030 4,133 4,368
Flagler realty rental expenses - 545 2,540 2,440 1,786
Operating income (loss) - 173 (510) 1,693 2,682
Interest income - -~ 43 73 291
Income (loss) before income taxes - 173 (467) 1,766 2,873
Income taxes - 67) 180 (680) (1,106)
Income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations - 106 (287) 1,086 1,767
Years Ended December 31
(clollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Balance Sheet Data
Total assets 1,137,744 1,063,193 1,008,350 1,051,236 1,200,670
Cash and cash equivalents 75,990 126,166 125,057 83,872 14,089
Froperties, less accumulated depreciation 955,395 853,458 814,683 795,650 1,064,899
Long-term debt 332,760 338,065 238,305 294,143 282,784
Shareholders’ equity 539,057 464,026 558,133 573,316 684,169

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS

OF OPERATIONS

Management’s discussion and analysis should be read in
conjunction with Item 8, Financial Statements, Item 1,

Business, and Item 2, Properties, included elsewhere herein.

The following discussion contains forward-looking state-
ments (see cautionary statement at the front of this report).
The Company's actual results may differ significantly from
those projected in the forward-looking statements.

GENERAL OVERVIEW

FECH is a holding company engaged in the rail and real
estate businesses through two wholly owned subsidiaries.

The Company’s assets and operations are located in Florida.

Consequently, the Company’s performance is significantly
affected by the general health of the Florida economy, while

mare broadly affected by the national economy, and interna- .

tional economies, including the Caribbean, South America
and Asia.

The Company generates rail-operating revenues primarily
from the movement of freight in both conventional freight
cars and intermodal shipments of containers and trailers on
flatcars. Starting in November of 2002, FECR began certain

drayage operations for intermodal shipments (drayage is the
movement of containers or trailers by truck to and from a rall
yard). Freight and drayage revenues are recorded as freight
moves from origin to destination. Modest non-freight operat-
ing revenues are derived from demurrage and detention
{equipment per diem paid by customers), switching, weighing,
special train and other transportation services. The Company
has one railroad customer that accounted for approximately
20%, 21% and 20% of the railroad’s freight revenues in
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company does not
believe that this customer will cease 1o be & rail shipper, or
will significantly decrease its freight volume in the near future.
FECR’s top five customers accounted for approximately
42%, 43%, and 43% of 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively,
freight revenues. While FECR may compete directly with cer-
tain of its connecting rail carriers, FECR revenues can also
be affected by broader rail industry issues like service reliabil-
ity, shipper satisfaction, government regulation, and the effects
of Class | mergers and acquisitions. Additionally, broader
transportation industry issues associated with motor carriers,
ships, barges and ports can affect transportation logistics and
patterns, which influence rail shipments and freight revenues.

The Company’s rail expenses consist of salaries and wages
{71% of FECR’s work force is covered by collective bargain-
ing agreements, which were amended in 2005, with terms
ranging from three to five years), related payroll taxes and
employee benefits, depreciation (primarily reflecting FECR's
capital reguirements for maintaining the current operations,
insurance and casuaity claim expense, diesel fuel, car hire
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{generally, a net rent icredit received from others utilizing FECR's
car fleet less rents paid by FECR to use foreign equipment),
property taxes, materials and supplies, purchased services
and other expenses. Many of the Railway’s operating
expenses are of a relatively fixed nature, and do not increase
or decrease proportionately with increases or decreases in
operating revenues unless the Company’'s management
takes specific actions to restructure the Company’s opera-
tions. The Company experiences increases/decreases in fuel
costs as the price of diesel fuel fluctuates in the market.

The Company’s real estate operations are cyclical and are
affected by local demographic and general economic trends
and the supply and rate of absorption of new construction.
Although the Compiany's real estate business has a large
portfolio of income-producing properties expected to provide
reasonably stable operating results from a large and diverse
customer base, the Company’s real estate earnings may be
significantly affected from period to period by the nature and
timing of sales of developed property and non-core real
estate assets as well as market conditions that tighten com-
petition for tenants. Acquisitions may also significantly affect
the comparability of operating results period to period due to
the immediate impact from the addition of income-producing
developed operating properties like acquisitions utilizing tax-
deferred net land sales proceeds as was the case in 2005.
Additionally, certain significant expenditures (including capital
for maintaining or providing infrastructure to the properties)
may fluctuate significantly over time.

Flagler has a portfolio of land, which includes land held for
future development (entitied and unentitled), surplus land,
some of which is under contract or held for sale, and land
located in the parks that is under the existing buildings

(578 acres) or undevelopable (811 acres). During 20086, addi-
tional developable land is expected to be purchased from
reinvested land sale proceeds in qualifying tax-deferred
exchanges. These [properties will be held for future develop-
ment. With the addition of developable properties from the
Codina acquisition, the pace of development is expected to
increase over the next five to ten years. The Company’s
determination to develop or sell property is based on market
conditions. Flagler holds approximately 85 acres of surplus
land included in unentitled land above, all of which is either
on the market or under contract for sale and expected to be
sold over the next several years.

Real estate operating revenues are generated from (i) rental
agreements on its office and industrial portfolio of buildings,
as well as rents on its land holdings, (i} sales of land and/or
buildings and (iii) development, brokerage and property
management services provided to customers.

Real estate operating expenses include costs of managing
its office and industrial properties, costs associated with pro-
viding services to customers, and costs associated with land
(both holding and development costs) and building sales.
The Company incurs property management expenses, such
as building maintenance, leasing costs and property taxes,
beginning when buildings are completed:and placed in the
Company’s inventory of leasable properties. The Company
sells certain real estate holdings when the return on such
sales is considered advantageous, causing fluctuations in
costs of real estate sales based on the basis in the properties
sold, timing, and significance of such dispositions.

FECR owns or has an interest in approximately 1,622 acres
of land that is held for lease, development and/or sale,
including three rail corridors (696 acres) that are either aban-
doned or are candidates for abandonment. There are 807
acres currently on the market or under contract for sale,
including 641 acres of rail corridor. FECR continues to evalu-
ate the appropriate uses for the remaining land. The aban-
doned corridors include approximately fiftty miles of rail lines
in East Central Florida, which the Company expects to ssll to
the state of Florida for recreational purposes, and an additional
six miles in Palatka, Florida.

Passive revenues are generated from ieases of railroad right-
of-way to telecommunication and other companies for the
installation of fiber optic, utilities, and other conduits, and
additional uses of the right-of-way (e.g., signboards) and
one-time income associated with the sale of air rights and
related surface and sub-surface easements and licenses on
the right-of-way. These revenues, along with their associated
expenses, are recorded net in “other income.”

On January 8, 2008, the Company and Codina Group, Inc.
announced that a newly formed holding company and cer-
tain Company subsidiaries of FEC! had entered into various
agreements to acquire privately held Codina Group, Inc. and
certain related property interests. in separate transactions,
subsidiaries of the Company will acquire certain land parcels
from Armando Codina and will become a general partner in
a partnership currently wholly owned by Mr. Codina and

his family.

Headguartered in Coral Gables, Florida, Codina Group, Inc.
is an integrated commercial real estate, development, con-

struction, leasing, property management and brokerage firm
with 150 employees.

In addition to Codina Group, the transactions will include the
following projects under current and future development in
South Florida:
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100% Owned

o Beacon Countyling, 457 acres in Hialeah plus an additional
40 adjacent acres; future plans are for the creation of a
large industrial park

¢ Beacon Commons, 92 acres in Doral, future site of a retail,
office and residential development

« Gables Office Building, a 45,000 sq. ft. office building to be
developed in Coral Gables during 2006

Joint Ventures

« Beacon Lakes, 21.2% interest in a venture with AMB
Properties that owns a 432-acre industrial park, including
three industrial buildings and entitlements for an additional
6.2 million sq. ft. in West Dade

¢ Red Road Commons, a proposed 50% interest in a
venture with an affiliate of Fairfield Properties, Inc. to build
407-unit residential apartments on land to be leased in
South Miami

¢ Beacon City Center, a venture with an affiliate of JPMorgan
that holds an exclusive option to acquire and redevelop a
77-acre property in Doral into approximately 2,840 residen-
tial units and 72 office condominiums

» Burger King, a proposed 30% interest in a venture with
an affiliate of JPMorgan to acquire land and construct a
15-story, 250,000 sq. ft. building for Burger King's
corporate headquarters

The properties being acquired are expected to be developed
into approximately 11 million sq. ft. of industrial space,
800,000 sq. ft. of office space, 750,000 sq. ft. of retail space
and 3,500 multi-family units.

Total consideration of $270 million is comprised of:

¢ $168 million in equity, including $55 million which is con-
tingent upon the achievement of certain value-based mile-
stones; up to $30 million contingent upon partnership
distributions; and approximately $12 million of restricted
stock to be granted to certain Codina group employees.
(Equity issued in connection with the transaction may not
be sold or transferred for periods ranging from one to five
years after the closing).

$36 million of debt to be assumed or repaid at closing.
Separate transactions totaling $66 million, in which Flagler
Development Company will buy Beacon Cormmons and
Florida East Coast Railway will acquire 40 acres adjacent to
Beacon Countyline. Flagler and the Railway expect to pur-
chase these properties utilizing tax-deferred sales proceeds.

Upon the closing of the acquisition, Mr. Codina will join the
FECI management team as President and Chief Executive
Officer of Flagler and Codina Group and will join the FECI
Board of Directors. The transaction is subject to various
closing conditions and is expected to be completed in the
first quarter of 2006.

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY
AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Net cash generated by operating activities was $84.9 million,
$72.3 million and $136.0 milion in the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The year-to-year
(2005 versus 2004) fluctuation in net cash generated by
operating activities primarily reflects increased cash earnings
from operations impacted by the effect of changes in work-
ing capital and certain non-cash items. The 2003 to 2004
year-to-year fluctuation in net cash generated by operating
activities, primarily reflect a $74.6 milion income tax refund
received during the second quarter of 2003.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities were
$(139.6) million, $10.0 millicn and $22.0 million, respectively,
representing primarily costs of development and purchases
of properties (including the purchase of $78.5 million in 2005
for buildings and land with §1031 funds), offset by proceeds
from the disposition of assets (mostly buildings and land).
Proceeds from asset sales were $35.2 million, $121.5 million
and $124.2 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and
2003, the Company invested approximately $133 million,
$80 million and $75 million, respectively, at Flagler. The
increase in 2005 primarily relates to the purchase of two
office buildings in the first quarter 2005 by Flagler and FECR
using §1031 proceeds, totaling $60.6 million. Flagler's 2005
capital expenditures reflect a total of $76 million for acqui-
sitions, $48 million for new development and $9 million for
improvements to current buildings.

Capital investment at Flagler for 2006 is expected to be
between $80 million and $30 million, for new development
($73 million to $78 million) and improvements to current
buildings (87 million to $12 milion) and before consideration
for the Codina Acguisition.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
the Company's capital investments at FECR were approxi-
mately $38 million, $30 million and $27 million, respectively.
Capital investment at FECR for 2006 is expected to be
between $48 million and $53 million, for normative improve-
ments ($28 million to $31 million) and productivity/growth
improvements ($20 million to $22 miliion) and before the
purchase of any strategic land parcels to be inventoried for
future Railway customers.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities was
$4.5 miliion, $(81.1) million and $(116.9) million in the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Financing activities for 2005 included payments for the pur-
chase of common stock, increased mortgage debt payments
at Flagler, and increased dividend payments, offset by pro-
ceeds from the exercise of stock options. 2004 cash (used
in) financing activities includes proceeds from the issuance

of $105 million seven-year non-recourse mertgage notes
issued in the third quarter of 2004 offset by the purchase of

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

5.5 million shares of common stock from The Alfred 1. duPont
Testamentary Trust and The Nemours Foundation for approx-
imately $191 million. Finance activities in 2003 were primarily
the repayment ($53 million) of monies borrowed on the line
of credit and the payment ($60.5 million) of dividends
including a special dividend of $1.50 per share.

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into operating leases (see also, the discussion of Debt and Other
Commitments in Note 15 of Item 8 of the consolidated financial statements) that are disclosed in the next section,

“Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments.”

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
Contractual Obligations

Payments due by Period

(dollars in thousands)

Contractual Cash Obligations Less than

at December 31, 2005 Total 1 year 2-3 years 4-5years  After 5 years
Long-term debt obligations™ 443,906 27,539 133,076 41,054 242,237
Capital lease obligations 725 185 370 170 -
Operating lease obligations 6,459 2,108 2,520 1,492 339
Unconditional purchase obligations* 17,198 15,457 1,445 286 -
Other long-term obligations - - - - -
Total contractual cash obligations 468,288 45,289 137,411 43,012 242 576

“Unconditional purchase obligations at December 31, 2005 consisted of outstanding forward purchase agreements for diesel fuel at FECR

and various purchase agreements.
*Includes payments of principal and interest.

Amount of Commitments
Expiration per Period
(dollars in thousands)

Other Commercial Commitments Total Amounts Less than

at December 31, 2005 Committed 1 year 2-3 years 4-5years  Over 5 years
Lines of credit - - - - -
Standby letters of credit 803 288 515 - -
Guarantees 66 66 - - -
Other commercial commitments 10,785 10,410 375 - -
Total commercial commitments 11,654 10,764 830 - -

At December 31, 2005, the standby letters of credit were pri-
marily for construction commitments related to building and
infrastructure projects at Flagler’s project locations and to
cover deductibles related to insurance policies. Other com-
mercial commitments primarily include amounts committed
to customers and vendors for construction projects at
Flagler-owned developments.

On January 6, 2006, the Company announced that a newly
formed holding company and certain Company subsidiaries
had entered into various agreements to acquire privately held
Codina Group, Inc. and certain related property interests held
directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina for total consid-
eration of $270 million. See earlier acquisition discussion
contained in this item of the form 10-K.




Florida East Coast Industries

B 2005 Form 10-K

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Years Ended December 31

Idollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income 49,366 80,598 43,224
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash generated by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 55,477 48,769 47,498
Gain on disposition of assets (25,351) (93,265) (60,675)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options/restricted stock 5,261 4,056 -
Deferred taxes 7,438 48,052 22,808
Stock compensation expense 9,900 4,819 3,189
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable {3,297) {8,836) {2,2306)
Prepaid expenses (2,012) 206 (106)
Materials and supplies (2,018) (219) 107
Straight line rent (6,488) (5,604) (6,618)
Prepaid commissions (5,448) (1,172) (85)
Other assets and deferred charges (201) (8,224) (896)
Accounts payable 1,194 17,356 2,173
Taxes payable 2,201 (8,335) 3,581
Income tax refund 2,800 - 74,572
Deferred revenue (154) 2,661 462
Amounts due to contractors (1,988) 1,618 2,095
Accrued interest 30 391 (19)
Other accrued liabilities (803) (12,164) 8,896
Accrued casualty and other long-term liabilities (1,013) 1,548 (1,932)
Net cash generated by operating activities 84,894 72,255 136,038
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of properties (174,752) (111,551) (102,181)
Proceeds from disposition of assets 35,202 121,587 124,218
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (139,550) 9,986 22,037
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Receipt from issuance of mortgage debt (Note 15) - 105,000 -
Payment of mortgage debt (4,896) (3,289) (2,641)
Net payments on line of credit - - (53,000)
Payment of dividends (7,518) (6,498) (60,453)
Proceeds from exercise of options 21,594 16,674 2,898
Stock repurchase program payments (Note 15) (2,289) (191,126) (2,921)
Purchase of common stock (2,411) (1,893) {773)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 4,480 (81,132 (116,890)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (50,176) 1,109 41,185
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 126,166 125,057 83,872
(Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 75,990 126,166 125,057
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid (received) for income taxes (net of refunds) 11,500 4,700 (73,736)
Cash paid for interest 22,320 19,252 17,988

23




Florida East Coast Industries

24

B 2005 Form 10-K

On February 22, 2005, the Company entered into a new
unsecured $150 million, 5-year revolving credit agreement
with a syndication of banks. The new credit facility provides
a more favorable interest rate and terms and replaces the
Company’s previous $200 milion credit agreement. The
Company pays (quarterly) commitment fees, as applicable
under the agreement, at a range of 12.5 to 25.0 basis
points. The Company’s revolving credit agreement requires
the maintenance of certain financial ratios (interest coverage
and leverage) and maintenance of minimum established lev-
els of net worth. The Company believes the most restrictive
of such ratios is the Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit
Facility Agreement). The Credit Facility Agreement provides
that at December 31, 2005, the Company's Adjusted Total
Debt/Adjusted Total EBITDA ratio shall be no greater than
3.00 to 1.00. At December 31, 2005, the Company’s actual
Adjusted Total Debt/Adjusted Total EBITDA ratio was 0.02
10 1.00. In addition there are various established limitations
(dollars and otherwise) on certain types of liens, investments
(including loans and advances) and acquisitions, limitation on
transactions with affiliates, merger and sales of all or sub-
stantially all of the assets; and use of proceeds. Some of the
above covenants provide specific exclusion of certain financ-
ing and investing activities at Flagler. Borrowings under the
credit agreement bear interest at variable rates linked to the
LIBOR Index. Interest on borrowings is due and payable on
the “rollover date” for each draw. Outstanding borrowings
can be paid at any time by the borrower, or at the conclusion
of the facility’s term. At December 31, 2005, there were no
borrowings outstanding on this facility.

On January 6, 2008, the Company announced that a newly
formed holding company and certain Company subsidiaries
had entered into various agreements to acquire privately held
Codina Group, Inc. and certain related property interests held
directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina for total consid-
eration of $270 million. The total consideration of $270 mil-
lion includes $66 million of cash for certain property interests,
assumption or repayment of $36 million of debt and up to
$168 million of equity securities (includes $85 million of con-
tingent consideration). The contingent equity is contingent
upon achievement of certain value based milestones includ-
ing $30 million tied to certain land use approvals, $30 million
upon certain partnership distributions from a joint venture,
$20 million is based on cumulative FEC! stock price improve-
ments of up to an additional $27.00 over the next five years;
and $5 million is dependent on a decision to move forward
with a proposed residential development. The purchase price
is subject to post-closing adjustment based on certain
closing conditions. The Codina acquisition, subject to certain
closing conditions, is expected to close during the first quar-
ter of 2006. The Company expects to use existing cash and

cash equivalents and potential borrowings under its un-drawn
$150 million revolving credit agreement (subject to an
amendment for such acquisition) to satisfy the cash and
debt repayment needs of closing the acquisition.

The properties being acquired are expected to be developed
into approximately 11 million sa. ft. of industrial space,
600,000 sgq. ft. of office space, 750,000 sg. ft. of retail space
and 3,500 multi-family units. The net investment to fully
develop these properties, after out parcel and condo sales,
is nearly $750 million.

Resulits of Operations for 2005 compared to 2004
and 2004 compared to 2003

Discussions are based on segment information — see Note 9
included in Item 8 of this report.

IMPACT FROM HURRICANES

The Railway suspended service early Sunday, October 23,
2005, in anticipation of the arrival of Hurricane Wilma. Rail
service was disrupted for approximately two weeks due to
widespread power outages that prevented automatic grade
crossing warning systems and railroad signals from operat-
ing. All scheduled rail service resumed on November 7, 2005
after all sections of track power was restored and all rail
crossings passed inspection.

The Company estimates that FECR will incur approximately
$3.4 miliion of incremental costs related to clean-up costs,
property damage, grade crossing operations, support and
additional train crew costs as a result of trains operating at
reduced speeds. The Railway is in the process of filing claims
for reimbursements and recoveries; however, the ultimate
total amount of these recoveries cannot be estimated at this
time. Included in this amount is $0.5 million in costs related
to Hurricanes Katrina and Rita.

Several of Flagler’s buildings located in Flagler Station sus-
tained damage from Hurricane Wilma, primarily roofs and
landscaping. The total damage (cash outlays) is estimated to
be approximately $7.0 milion to $7.5 million, of which approx-
imately $4.0 million to $5.0 million is currently expected to be
recovered from insurance and tenants. There was additional
damage due to Hurricane Katrina that was less than

$0.1 million.

The American Institute of CPAs (AICPA} issued Technical
Practice Aide (TPA) §5400.05 in September 2005, which
provides guidance on the accounting treatment of naturai
disaster related costs. TPA §5400.05 does not allow recogni-
tion of a natural disaster related cost until such time that the
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cost is a legal obligation of the Company. Accordingly, the table reflects the total estimated cost and expécted recov-
Sompany has recorded those costs where a legal obligation eries related to the hurricane damage. The table also shows
was present at December 31, 2005. However, in an effort to costs and recoveries reflected on the operating results and
provide a more complete accounting for the cost of the hurri- capital accounts for the fourth quarter and full years of 2005
cane damages management provides the table below. This and 2004.

2005 HURRICANE COST AND RECOVERY SUMMARY

Total Cost Cost
Estimated (Recovery) Recovery)
Cost and Recognized in Recognized
(doliars in thousands) (Recovery)* Fourth Quarter Year to Date
Railway
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 3,375 2,303 - 2,606
Capital expenditures (“Properties”) - - -
“Hurricane crossing reimbursement” (recoveries) (net) (867) 617) (817
Insurance recovery™* - - -
Cther Rental
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 409 55 284
Flagler
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs™ 1,770 772 ‘ 772
Capital expenditures (“Properties”) 5,425 279 279
Asset write-off due to replacement™* 2,119 187 , 187
“Flagler CAM recoveries associated with Hurricane” (777) (343) (343)
Insurance recovery (3,852) - -

*The amounts shown in this column are management's best estimates of total costs to be incurred and amounts
to be recovered due to the 2005 hurricanes, however, these estimates are subject to change, which could be material.
**The Railway’s insurance recovery cannot be reasonably estimated at this time as discussions with our insurance carrier are in the beginning
stages. We expect these discussions to continue throughout the first half of 2006.
“**Represents assets (primarily roofs) expected to be replaced in 2006 and their related write-off of remaining net book value.

2004 HURRICANE COST AND RECOVERY SUMMARY

Total Cost ~ Cost
Estimated (Recovery) (Recovery)
Cost and Recognized in Recognized
(dollars in thousands) {(Recovery)” Fourth Quarter Year to date
Railway
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 3,041 602 - 3,041
“Hurricane crossing reimbursement” (recoveries) (net) (961) (961) (961)
Insurance recovery - . - -
Other Rental
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 179 47 179
Flagler ‘
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 109 109 109

Capital expenditures ("Properties”) - - . -
Asset write-off due to replacement - - -
“Flagler CAM recoveries associated with Hurricane” (93) (©3) ‘ (93)
Insurance recovery - - -
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RAILWAY During 2005 and 2004, the Company reinvested approxi-
mately $39 million and $30 million, respectively, of capital
in equipment, land, improved physical plant and new
technologies at FECR.

FECR’s management team continued its focus on improving
profitability during 2005 and 2004. Continuing investments in
both operational and human capital were made during these
periods to enhance customer service and safety while con-

trolling costs. FECR transported record levels of aggregate RAILWAY OPERATING RESULTS

during 2005 and 2004 in support of the Florida construction Years Ended December 31
industry. The intermodal business continues to be strong as {dallars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
is evidenced by its tenth consecutive quarter over quarter Railway segment's
growth. Leading the way is the growth of our local intermo- . Operating revenues 237,870 200,762 181,057
dal business with increased business in our international, Railway segment’s

operating expenses 174,141 153,436 138,069

retail and parcel LTL segments. The “Hurricane Train” service, :
an Atlanta based intermodal service introduced in 2001, also Railway segment’s

contributed to the increased revenues. Also critical to our operating profit 63,729 47,326 42,988
growth was the complete re-branding and integration of Railway segment's
FECR’s drayage services into our intermodal product mix. operating ratio 73.2% 76.4% 76.3%

TRAFFIC
Years Ended December 31
(doliars and units in thousands) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Commodity Units Units Units Revenues Revenues Revenues
Rail carloads
Crushed stone (aggregate) 140.3 127.2 120.8 69,897 60,271 55,453
Construction materials 7.2 57 5.6 5,333 3,827 3,157
Vehicles 23.5 22.2 23.1 19,025 17,577 18,161
Foodstuffs & kindred 13.7 12.5 1.9 11,972 9,922 8,902
Chemicals & distillants 3.5 3.7 3.6 4,489 4,367 4,135
Paper & lumber 7.4 5.6 6.6 8,082 6,162 6,565
Other 15.0 141 15.5 10,486 8,692 8,803
Total carload 210.6 191.0 187.1 129,294 110,718 105,176
Intermodal 309.3 283.3 2521 103,008 86,379 72,642
Total freight units/revenues 519.9 474.3 439.2 232,302 197,097 177,818
Ancillary revenue - - - 5,568 3,665 3,239
Raitway segment revenue - - - 237,870 200,762 181,057
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Years Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003

{dollars in thousands)

Rail Operating Expenses
Compensation & benefits

58,714 54,775 51,207

Fuel 25,117 16,273 13,650
Equipment rents {net) 4,290 3,315 3,032
Car hire (net) (1,954) (2,818 (2,730)
Deprecigtion 21,820 20,167 19,562
Purchased services 9,786 9,793 8,566
Repairs billed to/by

others (net) (3,690) (3,454) (3,566)
Load/unload 9,188 8,008 7,407
Casualty & insurance 5,352 6,212 6,160
Property taxes 5,797 5,665 5,481
Materials 12,487 10,220 8,161
General & administrative

expenses 8,167 8,724 9,462
Qutside contractor

delivery costs 14,376 11,651 8,100
Other* 4,691 5,004 2,577

Total operating expenses 174,141 153,436 138,069

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current
year’s presentation.)

“Includes $2.6 million and $3.0 million of hurricane costs in 2005
and 2004, respectively, and $(0.6) million and $(1.0) million of
“Hurricane crossing reimbursement” (recoveries) (net) in 2005 and
2004, respectively.

Revenues - 2005 versus 2004

Railway segment revenues increased $37.1 million to
$237.9 million in 2005 from $200.8 million in 2004. Carload
ravenues increased $18.6 million (Rate/LLength of Haul -
$7.3 million; Volume — $11.3 million) over 2004 levels, which
was driven by record levels of traffic. Aggregate revenue
increased $9.6 million in 2005 over 2004 mainly due to the
continued demand in the Florida construction market.
Foodstuffs and Kindred products increased $2.1 million due
to growth in the existing customer base as well as the addi-
tion of a new customer. Hurricane relief products continued
to be shipped during the year 2005 as evidenced by the
increased revenues ($1.5 milion and $1.9 million) in both
Construction Materials and Paper and Lumber commodities,
respectively. Vehicles increased $1.4 million mainly due to
volume. Intermodal revenues increased $16.6 million (Rate —
$8.7 million; Volume - $7.9 million) in 2005 over 2004,
Leading this increase was the local intermodal business and
dray services. The local intermodal business growth was
mainly attributed to retail customers, international shippers
and parcel LTL carriers. Included in revenues for the years
ending December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, is

$13.2 million and $4.6 million of fuel surcharges for increased
fuel prices. The variance in fuel surcharges year over year of
$8.6 million is included in the Rate/Length of Haul variance
above. The Company changed its fuel policy effective

September 1, 2005 to more accurately match increasing fuel
prices to fuel surcharges passed on to our customers. The
year to date impact of the policy change is estimated at
$0.8 million in additional fuel surcharge revenue. FECR
incurred one day with no traffic and thirteen days of limited
traffic in fourth quarter 2005 due 1o Hurricane Wilma.

Revenues - 2004 versus 2003

Railway segment’s operating revenues increased $19.7 mil-
lion to $200.8 million in 2004 versus $181.1 million in 2003.
Most of the increase resulted from intermodal revenues
($13.7 million) and aggregate rock revenues (crushed stone)
($4.8 milion). Freight revenues were $197.1 million for 2004,
compared with $177.8 million for 2003. Intermodal revenues
increased $13.7 milion to $86.4 milion for 2004. After years
of decline from haulage traffic with a connecting carrier, this
revenue increased $2.2 million to $9.8 million in 2004. The
*Hurricane Train” service from Atlanta resulted in additional
revenues of $3.2 million, showing its success in the Atlanta
marketplace, and local traffic (including drayage) increased
$9.0 million over 2003 primarily from increased traffic from
the retail segment, motor carriers, parcel LTL carriers and the
international segment. Offsetting these intermodal revenue
increases was a reduction in the intermodal traffic from one
of its interline carriers. Freight revenues from aggregate rock/
crushed stone traffic increased $4.8 million in 2004 due to
an increase in construction demand throughout the state of
Florida. Revenues from construction materials increased
$0.7 million due to the high demand for domestic building
products as Florida's construction and re-construction (hurri-
cane related) demand increased. Revenues from foodstuff
traffic increased $1.0 million due to increased business from
one major customer and new customers locating on FECR's
line. Automotive (vehicles) traffic decreased $0.6 million to
$17.6 miltion primarily due to the change in shipment pat-
terns for automobiles bought back from rental car agencies.

Expenses - 2005 versus 2004

Operating expenses increased $20.7 miflion to $174.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared with
$153.4 million for the same period last year. Compensation
and benefits increased $3.9 million due to general wage
increases, and variable compensation expenses (stock com-
pensation costs and bonus). Fuel expense increased
$8.8 million of which $7.2 million is related to price increases.
Equipment rents increased $1.0 million due to increased
rates and volume. Car hire increased $0.9 million due to vol-
ume and rate increases as well as reductions in off-line rents
for equipment that is at the end of its life cycle. Increased
2005 depreciation expenses ($1.7 million) results primarily
from $0.8 million of depreciation on 2005 capital additions
and $0.7 million of increased depreciation resutting from the
adjusted depreciation lives from the locomotive and rolling
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stock economic engineering studies. Load/unload expenses
increased $1.2 million primarily due to volume. Materials
increased $2.3 million primarily due to freight car wheel
replacement and repairs required by rules of the Association
of American Railroads, the Company raising its own repair
standards for owned equipment, the replacement of certain
defective wheels manufactured in 2005 by a certain vendor,
and the increased price of steel. Qutside contractor delivery
costs increased $2.7 million due to increased business and
increased costs for driver services. The above expense
increases were offset by a decrease in Casualty & Insurance
of $0.9 million primarily due to lower personal injury claims.
The decrease in other expenses of $0.3 million is mainly
attributed to $2.0 million in net costs incurred in 2005 for
Hurricanes Wilma, Katrina and Rita compared to net costs
incurred in 2004 foran $0.8 million main line derailment and
$2.0 million for Hurricanes Frances and Jeanne.

During 2003, FECR commenced an “engineering and
economics” based study of its principal right-of-way and
equipment assets to develop a multi-year maintenance and
replacement plan and associated estimates of the assets’
remaining lives. The-engineering studies segregated the
equipment and right-of-way assets into the following major
groupings: locomotives, rolling stock and equipment (&.g.,
hoppers, flatcars, auto racks, trailers, etc.), bridges, and
track structure (rail, ties, ballast, and other track material).
During the third and fourth quarters of 2004, the engineering
studies (including associated estimated depreciation lives)
for locomotives and rolling stock were completed. During the
first quarter of 2005, the engineering study for bridges was
finalized. The track structure engineering study was finalized
in the fourth quarter of 2005.

The track study evaluated FECR'’s entire mainline, branch
lines and yards from Jacksonville to Miami, Florida. The
study’s fieldwork involved hi-rail inspections of the main line,
tie samples in each mile of track and rail measurements
taken at each tie sample location. In each yard, samples of
tie and rail conditions were taken to develop a general
picture of the overall condition of the yard.

From the track study, FECR identified four major components
for its track assets: rail, ties, ballast and other track material
(OTM). Overall, the study indicated the track system to be in
good condition. The study generally recommends that we
continue our general maintenance programs (e.g., surfacing,
bolt fastening, undercutting, etc.) at our current levels. In
2005, $13.8 million was spent on our track maintenance
programs. The 2006 budget includes $13.7 million of track
maintenance programs, which is in line with the study
recommendations. Nothing significant was found in yard
maintenance during the track study.

The study also evaluated the condition and replacement of
our track assets. One of the major components that impact
the replacement of rail and track materials is tonnage. The
Transportation Test Center (TTCI) in Pueblo, Colorado indi-
cates a tangent rail life expectancy based on 1.460 billion
gross tons for generic mainline rail with a six-inch base (132,
136 and 141 pound). Between the pericds of 1970-1977,
FECR replaced approximately 74% of its main line track with
generally small amounts of rail replacement from 1978
through 2005. The average annual tonnage on FECR’s rail
averaged approximately 9 million gross tons during the
1370’%s. Subsequent to the 1870’s, annual tonnages have
steadily increased with annual tonnage during the last
decade of approximately 37 million gross tons. Given these
historical tonnage amounts, FECR expects our existing rail
assets to meet their current life expectancy of 50 years with
no impact on depreciation rates. Going forward, if FECR
experiences expected annual tonnage levels of 50 million
gross tons, the lives for newly installed rail and other track
components after December 31, 2005 will need to be
adjusted potentially within a range of 35 to 45 years. The
potential annua!l depreciation impact for the change in rail
and OTM assets (if adjusted to a range of 35-45 years)
would be less than $0.1 million in 2006 (year one of change)
and range from $0.2 miliion to $0.4 million in year 2015 (year
10 after change) based on normative expected capital bud-
gets. The study indicated no substantive change in the
depreciable lives of ties and ballast, at generally 40 years.

The bridge study covered FECR’s 72 bridges or approxi-
mately 13,000 linear feet of bridge assets (30% were
inspected during the study). The bridge study indicated no
substantive change in the depreciable lives and generally,
bridges would continue to be depreciated over a 61.5-year
life. The bridge study also indicated that while FECR's bridge
assets are in acceptable operational condition based on the
Company’s continuing maintenance and inspection pro-
grams, FECR is entering a 10 to 20 year period where,
based on the age and construction materials used, certain
bridges will be studied further, monitored and possibly
replaced. The management team does not expect replace-
ment costs for bridges to materially alter its normative annual
capital budget, however this estimate is subject to change,
and such changes could be material. The study did not
include the downtown Jacksonville bridge, which spans the
St. Johns River, which was evaluated separately (due to its
scale and design). The study recommended rehabilitation of
the pier protection structures for the Jacksonville bridge main
channel. This work commenced in 2005 and will be com-
pleted in the first quarter 2006. No other significant change
in capital maintenance or replacement programs was noted.
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The locomative and rolling stock study indicated no substan-
tive change in the annual maintenance or capital replacement
programs. FECR will continue its general practice of main-
taining locomotives and rolling stock for the entirety of their
useful operating life.

From the locomotive engineering study, FECR identified three
major sub-components of its locomoaotive assets: Hulk/Chassis,
_ocomotive engine and Combos (e.g., whee!l assemblies,
electric motors, etc.) The replacement and resulting depre-
ciable lives for each of these sub-components is 50 years,

7 years and 3 years, respectively. Annual depreciation is
expected to increase approximately 11% or $0.3 million as

a result of the study. These depreciable lives were imple-
mented in the fourth quarter of 2004.

From the rolling stock engineering study, FECR identified
three major sub-components of its rolling stock assets: Hulk/
Chassis, wheel assemblies (e.g., trucks), and doors. The
replacement and resulting depreciable lives for each of these
sub-components is 40 to 50 years, 7 years and 7 years,
raspectively. General FECR eguipment, which was included
in the rolling stock study, has depreciable lives of 10 to 20
years. Annual depreciation is expected 10 increase approxi-
mately 11% or $0.4 million as a result of the study. These
clepreciable lives were implemented in the first quarter

of 2005.

These studies, their conclusions and on-going evaluations
may result in material changes in FECR’s maintenance and
capital spending and in the estimated remaining useful lives
of its property, plant and equipment, which may affect future
depreciation rates and expense.

Expenses - 2004 versus 2003

Cperating expenses increased $15.3 million to $153.4 million
in 2004, compared with $138.1 million in 2003. A significant
portion of the increased expenses resulted from increased
volumes and the impact of three Florida hurricanes that
impacted the property. Compensation and benefits increased
$3.6 million or 7.0% to $54.8 million in 2004 primarily because
of the Railway’s general wage increases for 2004, additional
labor costs to move higher traffic levels and increases in
variable compensation. Fuel expenses increased $2.6 million
to $16.3 million due to increased fuel price {$2.4 million)

and consumption ($0.4 million) and a reduction due to non-
locomotive fuel ($0.2 million). Depreciation expenses increased
$0.6 million in 2004 due to increased levels of 2003 and
2004 capital expenditures. Purchased services increased
$1.2 million and materials increased $1.1 million due to addi-
ticnal repairs and services to freight cars and trailers due to
additional business. Outside contractor delivery costs

increased $3.6 million during 2004 due to increased volumes
of business. Hurricanes Charley, Frances and Jeanne dis-
rupted Railway operations in the third quarter and early fourth
guarter 2004. Clean up and repair costs were $3.0 million
primarily for tree removal, signal repairs, crossing repairs,
increased train operations costs and puilding damages.
Approximately $1.0 million of these costs were reimbursed
by various governmental agencies. Net hurricane costs are
included in other expenses.

REAL ESTATE

During 2005, Flagler added two buildings to its portfolio of
income-producing properties through its development activi-
ties and two buildings through acquisition. At December 31,
2005, an additional five buildings were in lease-up. The
Company began construction of one additional building with
completion expected in 2006. The Company expects to start
construction on five to seven additional new buildings during
2006 due to increased demand and improved markst
conditions.

At December 31, 2005 Flagler’s existing land hoidings, with
entitlements for construction of 7.3 million sq. ft. of office
space, 2.2 million sq. ft. of industrial space and 0.6 million
sq. ft. of retail space, 500 multi-family units, and 380 hotel
rooms, offers opportunities for further development or sale.
The Company intends to continue its program to realize the
value of its extensive land hoidings at Flagler and the Railway
by developing or monetizing them. Flagier’s future rate of
growth, profitability, capital investment and sales of land
depends, in part, on the extent of future demand in Florida's
commercial real estate markets, operating costs, and rental
rates for leases, which are subject to uncertainty.
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FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT CONSOLIDATED

(Excluding Discontinued Operations)

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Revenues:
Rental revenues 69,998 60,053 54,177
Rental income — straight-line rent adjustments 6,658 3,524 3,651
Services fee revenues 704 148 25
Operating expense recoveries 8,718 4,811 3,744
Operating expense recoveries — hurricane related 343 a3 -
Rental revenues — undeveloped land 733 681 960
Equity pickups -~ - 62
Other rental revenues 196 175 1,091
Total Realty Rental and Services Revenues 87,350 69,585 63,610
Realty sales 24,820 99,677 63,495
Total Flagler Revenues 112,170 169,262 127,106
Expenses:
Real estate taxes 9,326 7,823 7,496
Repairs & maintenance 2,822 2,546 2,604
Services, utilities, management costs 16,629 12,772 11,753
Recoverable expenses — hurricane related 742 109 -
Total recoverable expenses 29,519 23,250 21,8583
Real estate taxes — undeveloped tand 2,704 3,885 2,934
Repairs & maintenance 1,108 1,382 1,023
Depreciation & amortization 31,704 26,000 23,334
Salaries, general & administrative 7,839 6,063 6,760
Non-recoverable expenses ~ hurricane related 217 - -
Total non-recoverable expenses 43,572 37,330 34,051
Total Realty Rental and Services Expenses 73,091 60,580 56,904
Realty sales expenses 7,022 14,871 33,921
Total Flagler Expenses 80,113 75,451 89,825
Operating Profit From Continuing Operations 32,057 93,811 37,280
Interest income 390 151 39
Interest expense (19,594) (16,008) (16,033)
Other expense (518) {621) (804)
income Before income Taxes 12,335 77,433 20,482

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current year’'s presentation)

(Flagler rental properties operating revenues and operating expenses can be calculated by subtracting land & corporate overnead

from the consolidated results above.)
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FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT
Same Store
For the Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Revenues:
RRental revenues 62,140 59,063 54177
Rental income - straight-line rent adjustments 2,227 2,933 3,551
Services fee revenues - - -
Operating expense recoveries 6,406 4,878 3,744
Operating expense recoveries - hurricane related 332 93 -
Rental revenues — undeveloped fand 16 13 10
Equity pickups - - -
Other rental revenues 107 82 1,034
Total Realty Rental and Services Revenues 71,228 67,062 62,518
Fiealty sales - - -
Total Flagler Revenues 71,228 67,062 62,516
Expenses:
Real estate taxes 8,018 7,672 7,496
Repairs & maintenance 2,532 2,499 2,588
Sarvices, utiiities, management costs 13,748 12,417 11,714
Rscoverable expenses — hurricane related 695 109 -
Total recoverable expenses 24,993 22,697 21,798

Real estate taxes — undeveloped land - - -

Repairs & maintenance 262 492 524
Depreciation & amortization 21,413 22,420 22,287
Salaries, general & administrative 72 151 136
Non-recoverable expenses — hurricane related 188 - -
Total non-recoverable expenses 21,935 23,063 22,947
Total Realty Rental and Services Expenses 46,928 45,760 44,745

Realty sales expenses - - -
Total Flagler Expenses 46,928 45,760 44,745
Operating Profit From Continuing Operations 24,300 21,302 17,771

(Prior year’s results have been reclassified to conform to current year’'s presentation)

Same Store includes buildings where a comparison of operating results from the prior year to the current year is meaningful, as
these buildings were owned and had stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of the beginning of the prior year. For
the year 2005, Same Store buildings had stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of January 1, 2004. A building is
considered to have stabilized occupancy at the earlier of () attainment of 30% physical occupancy or (i) the one-year anniver-
sary of certificate of occupancy issuance.
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FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT
New in 2004 and New in 2005

New in 2004 New in 2005
For the Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Revenues:
Rental revenues 2,754 290 - 1,987 - -
Rental income - straight-line rent adjustments 1,791 591 - 2,100 - -
Services fee revenues - - - - - -
Operating expense recoveries 193 18 - 123 - -
Operating expense recoveries — hurricane related - - - 11 - -
Rental revenues — undeveloped land 6 3 - - - -
Equity pickups‘ - - - - - -
Other rental revenues - 1 - - - -

Total Realty Rental and Services Revenues 4,744 1,603 - 4,221 - -
Realty sales - - - - - -

Total Flagler Revenues 4,744 1,603 - 4,221 - -
Expenses:
Real estate taxes 302 153 - (64) - -
Repairs & maintenance 158 46 - 4) - -
Services, utilities, management costs 801 320 - 329 - -
Recoverable expenses — hurricane related - - - 25 - -

Total recoverable expenses 1,261 519 - 286 - -
Real estate taxes ~ undeveloped land - (i7) - - 26 -
Repairs & maintenance 1 7 - 22 13 -
Depreciation & amortization 1,814 602 - 1,899 130 -
Salaries, general & administrative - 7 - 6 - -
Non-recoverable expenses — hurricane related - - - - - -

Total non-recoverable expenses 1,815 599 - 1,927 169 -

Total Realty Rental and Services Expenses 3,076 1,118 - 2,213 169 -
Realty sales expenses - - - - - -

Total Flagler Expenses 3,076 1,118 - 2,213 169 -~
Operating Profit (Loss) From Continuing Operations 1,668 485 - 2,008 (169) ~

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation)

New in 2004 consists of buildings developed by the Company where a certificate of occupancy was issued and leasing
commenced during 2004, These buildings do not have stabilized occupancy or operating expenses as of the beginning

of 2004,

New in 2005 consists of buildings developed by the Company where a certificate of occupancy was issued and leasing
commenced during 2005. These buildings do not have stabilized occupancy or cperating expenses as of the beginning

of 2005.
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FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT

Acquired in 2005 and Land and Corporate Overhead

Acquired in 2005

Land & Corporate Qverhead

For the Years Ended December 31

idollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Revenues:
Rental revenues 3,117 - - - - -
Rental income - straight-line rent adjustments 540 - - - - -
Services fee revenues - - - 704 148 25
Operating expense recoveries 1,996 - - - 15 -
Operating expense recoveries — hurricane related - - - - - -
Rental revenues — undeveloped land 1 - - 710 665 950
Equity pickups - - - - - 62
Other rental revenues 4 - - 85 92 57
Total Realty Rental and Services Revenues 5,658 - - 1,499 920 1,084
Realty sales - - - 24,820 99,677 83,495
Total Flagler Revenues 5,658 - - 26,319 100,597 64,589
Expenses:
Real estate taxes 1,068 - - 2 2 -
Repairs & maintenance 135 - - 1 1 16
Services, utilities, management costs 1,712 - - 39 35 39
Recoverable expenses — hurricane related 22 - - - - -
Total recoverable expenses 2,937 - - 42 34 55
Feal estate taxes — undeveloped land - - - 2,704 3,876 2,934
Fepairs & maintenance 2 - - 821 870 499
Depreciation & amcrtization 3,034 - - 3,544 2,848 1,047
Salaries, general & administrative 26 - - 7,735 5,905 6,624
Non-recoverable expenses — hurricane related - - - 29 - -
Total non-recoverable expenses 3,062 - - 14,833 13,499 11,104
Total Realty Rental and Services Expenses 5,999 - - 14,875 13,533 11,159
Realty sales expenses - - - 7,022 14,871 33,921
Total Flagler Expenses 5,999 - - 21,897 28,404 45,080
Operating (Loss) Profit From Continuing Operations (341) - - 4,422 72,193 19,509

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation)

Acquired in 2005 are buildings that were acquired during the year. These buildings do not have a full year of comparative

operating results.
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Revenues from Continuing Operations -
2005 versus 2004

Flagler rental and services revenues increased $17.8 million
or 25.5% from $69.6 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2004 to $87.4 million for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2005. Operating properties revenue in
2005 increased $17.2 million compared to 2004, Same Store
occupancy remained the same at 95% at December 31,
2005 compared to December 31, 2004. Same Store reve-
nues increased $4.2 million compared to the prior year,
mainly attributable to occupancy improvements. Properties
beginning operations in 2004 contributed revenue of $4.7 mil-
lion during 2005 for an increase of $3.1 million over 2004
Jevels. This increase represents successful leasing activity and
improved occupancy at these buildings. Properties devel-
oped in 2005 generated revenues of $4.2 million in 2005 and
properties acquired in 2005 contributed $5.7 million in reve-
nues. Other rental and services revenues included in Land
and Corporate Overhead increased $0.6 million primarily
related to commissions earned on third party transactions.

For all leases renewed during calendar 2005, beginning cash
rental rates averaged approximately 5% less than the ending
rate of the expiring leases, however straight-line rental rates
over the new lease term averaged approximately 1% higher
than the average straight-line rental rates of the expiring
leases.

Flagler held 64 finished buildings with 7.4 miflion sq. ft. and
occupancy of 95% at December 31, 2005. Same Store prop-
erties include 6.4 million sg. ft. and 95% occupancy at
December 31, 2005 compared to 95% at December 31, 2004.

Flagler sales revenue decreased $74.9 million from $99.7 mil-
lion in 2004 to $24.8 million in 2005 due to fewer land sales
in 2005.

Revenues from Continuing Operations -
2004 versus 2003

Flagler rental and services revenues increased $6.0 million
or 9.4% from $63.6 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2003 to $69.6 million for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2004. Operating properties revenue in
2004 increased $6.1 million compared to 2003. Same store
occupancy increased to 94% at December 31, 2004 com-
pared to occupancy of 87% at December 31, 2003. Same
store revenues increased $4.2 million compared to the prior
year, mainly due to occupancy improvements and the 2004
full year impact of properties acquired during 2003. Income
from land rents decreased $0.2 million due to the sale of cer-
tain land parcels. income from equity investments decreased
$0.1 million due to the dissolution of Flagler's partnership
interests in 2003.

For ali leases renewed during calendar 2004, beginning

cash rental rates averaged approximately 3% less than the
ending rate of the expiring leases, however straight-line rental
rates over the new lease term averaged approximately 3%
higher than the average straight-line rental rates of the
expiring leases.

Flagler held 60 finished buildings with 6.6 million sq. ft. and
occupancy of 95% at December 31, 2004,

Flagler sales revenue increased from $63.5 million in 2003 to
$99.7 million in 2004 related primarily to the $80 milion sale
of a 460-acre parcel in Doral, Florida in December 2004.

Expenses from Continuing Cperations -
2005 versus 2004

Flagler's rental and services expenses increased $12.5 million
or 20.7% from $60.6 million for the twelve months 2004 to
$73.1 million for the twelve months 2005. Included in these
amounts are increases in depreciation and amortization of
$5.7 million due primarily to the addition of new properties in
2005 and a property beginning operations at the end of
2004, Expenses related to operating properties increased by
$11.2 million from $47.0 million in 2004 to $58.2 million in
2005. Same Store operating properties expenses increased
by $1.2 million. This increase in Same Store expense is com-
posed of a $1.1 million increase of mainly variable expenses
related to increased average occupancy, $0.3 million increase
related to real estate taxes, a $0.8 million increase related to
the impact of Hurricanes Wilma and Katrina, and a $1.0 mil-
lion decrease in depreciation and amortization. The decrease
in depreciation expense is associated with a write off of

$1.5 million of tenant improvements during the first quarter
2004 related to the remodeling of duPont Center in Jackson-
ville, Florida. Properties beginning operations in 2004 con-
tributed an increase in expenses of $2.0 million during the
twelve months in 2005. Properties developed in 2005 con-
tributed $2.2 million in expenses and properties acquired in
2005 had expenses of $6.0 million.

Land holdings and corporate overhead expenses increased
by $1.3 million compared to prior year. Real estate taxes
decreased $1.2 million on owned and acquired land due to
sales of property, primarily Section 8 in Flagler Station
{December 2004). Additionally, land holdings and corporate
overhead had a $1.8 million increase in Salaries, General &
Administrative, primarily 2005 severance and other payroll
related costs, and a $0.7 million increase in depreciation
expense. Depreciation expense includes depreciation expense
on infrastructure, including the interchange asset, partially
offset by a reimbursement from the City of Jacksonville. The
total reimbursement received in June 2005 from the City of
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Jacksonville was $0.7 million, of which $0.5 million was applied
against depreciation expense on infrastructure assets. The
remaining $0.2 million of the reimbursement was recorded
as other non-operating income.

Flagler's cost of land sales {i.e., mostly basis) decreased
$7.9 million due to decreased sale activity, from $14.9 million
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 to $7.0 mil-
lion for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005.

Expenses from Continuing Operations -
2004 versus 2003

Flagler's operating expenses increased $4.7 million or 8.4%
from $55.9 million in 2003 to $60.6 miflion in 2004. Properties
beginning operations in 2004 contributed $1.1 million of the
increase, including $0.6 million of depreciation and amortiza-
fion. Same store operating expenses increased $1.0 million
related to the 2004 full year impact of properties acquired dur-
ing 2003 ($0.3 million), increased owners' association costs
($0.4 million), increased repairs and maintenance ($0.1 mil-
lion), increased janitorial costs ($0.1 million), increased elec-
trical costs related to occupancy increases ($0.1 million),
increased management and administrative costs ($0.2 mil-
lion) and other expense increases ($0.1 million). These cost
increases were offset by decreased landscaping costs

($0.2 million) and decreased insurance cost (30.1 million).
Land holding costs increased $2.9 million primarily related

to increased real estate taxes ($1.Q milion) and increased
depreciation ($1.9 million) associated with unallocated infra-
structure placed in service during 2004. These increased
cperating expenses were offset by decreased corporate
averhead of $0.3 million.

Flagler’s cost of land sales decreased from $33.9 million to
$14.9 million, a decrease of $19.0 million or 56.2%.

Fesults from Discontinued Operations

in accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144),
components of Flagler that meet certain criteria have been
accounted for as discontinued operations. Therefore, income
or loss attributable to the operations and sale of the compo-
nents classified as discontinued operations are presented in
the summary of operating results as discontinued operations,
net of applicable income taxes.

During March 2004, Flagler sold a 60,000-sq. ft. build-to-suit
office building for $12.6 million recognizing a pre-tax gain of
$3.7 million, or $2.3 million, net of applicable taxes. During
September 2004, Flagler sold a 147,000-sq. ft. industrial
building for $4.1 million, for a $0.4 million pre-tax gain, or
$0.3 million, net of applicable taxes.

Discontinued operations include the operations of the build-
ings sold in 2004, the operations of an industrial building
sold in November 20083, and Flagler's 50% interest in three
buildings formerly held in partnership with Duke Realty sold
during July 2003. The operating results of these properties,
as well as the gains on the sales of these properties are
included in discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Summary of Operating

Results of Discontinued

Operations
Flagler realty rental revenues - 718 2,030
Flagler realty rental expenses - 545 2,540
Operating income {(loss) - 173 (5610)
Interest income - - 43
Income (loss) before

income taxes - 173 (467)
Income taxes - (67) 180
Income (loss) from operation

of discontinued operations - 106 (287)
Gain on disposition of

discontinued operations,

net of taxes of $1.7 million

and $1.6 milion for the years

ended December 31, 2004

and 2003, respectively. - 2,500 2,542

Corporate Expenses

Corporate expenses for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 were $22.4 million and $15.1 million, respectively.
Increases primarily relate to costs associated with the appoint-
ment of Mr. Adolfo Henrigues as Chairman, President, and
Chief Executive Officer and termination benefits provided to
Mr. Robert W. Anestis. These expenses totaled $9.1 million
in the first quarter and included $5.3 million of additional
equity compensation ($1.9 million due to the accelerated
vesting of equity compensation), $3.3 million of severance
payments and $0.5 million of other benefits.

Corporate expenses increased from $13.1 million in 2003 to
$15.1 million in 2004. Increases during 2004 primarily relate
to costs associated with increased incentive-based compen-
sation (i.e., restricted stock and annual bonuses) expense. In
a first quarter 2004 transaction (the “Transaction”) initiated at
the request of the Board of Directors, the Company can-
celled vested, in-the-money stock options (the “Options”) to
acquire 144,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
held by the Company's former Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ”), Robert W. Anestis. The embedded value of the
Options (fair market value less strike price) was $2 million.
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The embedded valug, less applicable tax withholding, was
paid in common stock. The CEO was issued 36,407 shares
(valued at $35.06, which was the closing price on February 27,
2004). The stock, together with applicable withholdings, rep-
resents the pre-tax embedded value. Because the original
stock option award was cancelled and the Company replaced
this award with FECI common stock, in accordance with
FASB Interpretation No. 44, the Company was reqguired to
recognize compensation expense in the amount of $2 million
with respect to the Transaction.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 was $20.1 million and $16.7 million, respectively.
Interest cost {i.e., cash paid for interest) was $22.3 million
and $19.3 million for 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
increased interest expense, and cash paid for interest
resulted primarily from the issuance of additional mortgage
notes in August 2004 at Flagler.

Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 was $16.7 million and $17.1 million, respectively.
The lower interest expense resulted primarily from additional
interest being capitalized into new construction during 2004.
Interest cost (i.e., cash paid for interest) was $19.3 miliion
and $18.0 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively. Cash paid
for interest increased primarily due to increased levels of
morigage notes at Flagler.

Other Income

Other income for 2005 and 2004 was $14.6 million and
$13.0 million, respectively. Pipe and wire crossing income for
2004 included $2.6 million from two one-time wire crossing
agreements entered intc in 2004. Included in 2005 results is
income of $3.0 million associated with the sale of air rights,
and related surface and sub-surface easements and licenses
on the Railway's right-of-way.

Cther income for 2004 and 2003 was $13.0 million and
$9.5 million, respectively. Pipe and wire crossing income for
2004 included $2.6 million from two one-time wire crossing
agreements entered into in 2004.

Income Tax

income tax expenses represent an effective rate of 37.0%

in 2005, compared to 38.0% in 2004 and 38.5% in 2003.
2005’s decrease in effective rate reflects newly enacted tax
credits related to track maintenance at FECR offset by certain
non-deductible section 162(m) compensation over $1.0 mil-
lion for Mr. Adolfo Henriques. This 162(m) compensation
primarily relates to sign-on grants provided to Mr. Henrigues
as detailed in his employment agreement.

During 2004, the U.S. Congress passed the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004, which included certain tax law changes
that effect taxable earnings (starting in 2005) of FECI. Gen-
erally, these tax law changes are expected to benefit the
Company through additional current period tax credits for rail
right-of-way maintenance expenses (previously capitalized
and depreciated) and reduced federal taxes on diesel fuel,
respectively. The tax credit for track maintenance is limited
{annually) to $3,500 per mile of track and available for years
2005 through 2007. Between December 31, 2004 and

June 30, 2005 the railroad fuel tax was reduced from

$0.043 per gallon to $0.033 per gallon. From July 1, 2005
to December 31, 2008, the tax will be reduced to $0.023
per gallon. From January 1, 2007, the tax is eliminated.

Net income

As a result of the foregoing factors, net income was

$49.4 million, or $1.52 per diluted share, for 2005, compared
to $80.6 million, or $2.29 per diluted share, for 2004 and
$43.2 million, or $1.17 per diluted share in 2003.




Florida East Coast Industries

B 2005 Form 10-K

SUMMARY OF OPERATING RESULTS
2005 VERSUS 2004
Information by industry segment

(doflars in thousands) 2005 2004 3 Change
Operating Revenues
Railway operations: 237,870 200,762 37,108
Realty:
Flagler realty rental 87,007 169,492 17,515
Flagler CAM recoveries associated with hurricanes 343 93 250
Total Flagler realty rental 87,350 69,585 17,765
Flagler realty sales 24,820 99,677 (74,857)
Other rental 3,488 3,028 460
Other sales 8,818 + 5,135 3,683
Total realty 124,476 177,425 (52,949}
Total Revenues 362,346 378,187 (15,841)
Operating Expenses
Railway operations:
Railway operations 172,152 151,356 20,796
Hurricane costs 2,606 . 3,041 (435)
*Hurricane crossing reimbursement” (recoveries) (net) 617) (961) 344
Total railway operations 174,141 163,436 20,705
Realty:
Flagler realty rental 72,132 60,471 11,661
Hurricane costs 959 109 850
Total Flagler realty rental 73,091 80,580 12,511
Flagler realty sales 7,022 14,871 (7,849)
Other realty rental 1,893 2,887 (894)
Hurricane costs 284 179 105
Total other realty rental 2177 3,066 (889)
Other realty sales 1,264 922 342
Total realty 83,554 79,439 4,115
Corporate general & administrative 22,388 15,080 7,308
Total Expenses 280,083 247,955 32,128
Operating Profit (Loss) ‘
Railway Operations 63,729 47,326 16,403
Realty 40,922 97,986 (57,084)
Corporate general & administrative (22,388) (15,080) (7,308)
Operating Profit 82,263 130,232 (47,969)
Interest income 1,659 | 1,124 535
Interest expense (20,105) (16,671) (3,434)
Other income 14,555 13,023 1,532
(3,891) (2,524) (1,367)
Income before income taxes 78,372 1'27,708 {(49,336)
Provision for income taxes (29,006) (49,8006) 20,800
Income from continuing operations 49,366 77,802 (28,536)
Discontinued Operations
Income from operation of discontinued operations (net of taxes) - 106 (106)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations (net of taxes) - . 2,580 (2,590)
Net Income 49,366 80,598 (31,232)

(Prior year’s results have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation.)
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SUMMARY OF OPERATING RESULTS
2004 VERSUS 2003
Information by industry segment

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 $ Change
Operating Revenues
Railway operations: 200,762 181,057 19,706
Realty:
Flagler realty rental 69,492 63,610 5,882
Flagler CAM recaoveries associated with hurricanes 93 - 93
Total Flagler realty rental 69,585 63,610 5,975
Flagler realty sales 99,677 63,495 36,182
Other rental 3,028 3,139 (111)
Other sales 5,135 26,963 (21,828)
Total realty 177,425 157,207 20,218
Total Revenues 378,187 338,264 39,923
Operating Expenses
Railway operations:
Railway operations 151,356 138,069 13,287
Hurricane costs 3,041 - 3,041
“Murricane crossing reimbursement” (recoveries) (net) (961) ~ (961)
Total railway operations 153,436 138,069 15,367
Realty:
Flagler realty rental 60,471 55,904 4,567
Hurricane costs 109 - 109
Total Flagler realty rental 60,580 55,004 4,676
Flagler realty sales 14,871 33,921 (12,050)
Other realty rental 2,887 23,523 (20,636)
Hurricane costs 179 - 179
Total other realty rental 3,066 23,623 (20,457)
Other realty sales 922 - 922
Total realty 79,439 113,348 (33,909)
Corporate general & administrative 15,080 13,137 1,843
Total Expenses 247,955 264,554 (16,599)
Operating Profit (Loss)
Raitway Operations 47,326 42,988 4,338
Realty 97,986 43,859 54,127
Corporate general & administrative (15,080) (13,137) (1,943)
Operating Profit 130,232 73,710 56,5622
interest income 1,124 946 178
Interest expense (16,671) (17,0586) 385
Other income 13,023 9,544 3,479
(2,524) (6,566) 4,042
Income before income taxes 127,708 67,144 60,564
Provision for income taxes {49,806) (25,851) (23,955)
Income from continuing operations 77,902 41,293 36,609
Discontinued Operations
Income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations (net of taxes) 106 (173) 279
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations (net of taxes) 2,590 2,104 486
Net Income 80,598 43,224 37,374

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation.)
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OTHER MATTERS
Critical Accounting Policies

The Company has reviewed its accounting policies to identify
those that are very important to the portrayal of the Company’s
financial condition and results and that require management’s
most difficult, subjective or complex judgments (the Critical
Accounting Policies). The Company has determined that its
accounting policies governing impairment of long-lived assets,
income tax provisions, realty rental revenue recognition,

real estate infrastructure costs and contingencies may be
considered Critical Accounting Policies.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets - The Company reviews
the carrying value of its property, plant and eguipment for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value of an asset or asset grouping may
not be recoverable from the undiscounted future net cash
flows expected to be generated over its remaining useful! life.
Detecting these events or changes in circumstances can be
difficult. At December 31, 2005, management had not iden-
tified indicators of an impairment of value for any significant
asset group of the Company. However, events or changes in
circumstances could develop or occur that would cause the
Company to evaluate the recovery of its long-lived assets
end potentially record an impairment, the amount of which
could be material. Assets that are deemed impaired are
recorded at the lower of carrying amount or fair value.

income Tax Provisions - FECI’s net deferred tax liability
was $185.0 million at December 31, 2005. At December 31,
2005, the Company had a state deferred tax asset of approx-
imately $4.6 million relating to net operating loss carry for-
wards. The net deferred tax liability is estimated based on
the expected future tax consequences of items recognized

in the financial statements. Management must use judgment
when estimating the future timing and deductibility of expenses
and loss and credit carry forwards in the Company's tax
refurns. A valuation allowance is required to be recorded if
management expects that it be more likely than not that its
deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of December 31,
2005, FEC! has no valuation allowance since it expects to
realize its deferred tax assets. This expectation is primarily
based upon FECI's expectation that future operations will be
sufficiently profitable to utilize the operating loss carry for-
wards, as well as the existence of various tax, business and
other planning strategies available to the Company. However,
the Company cannot guarantee that it will realize this tax
asset or that future valuation aflowances will not be required.
Failure to utilize the tax asset could materially affect the
Company's financial results and financial position. Federal tax
years through 1998 have been closed with the Internal
Revenue Service (IRS). Federal tax years 2000-2002 are cur-
rently under review by the IRS. Management believes its

income tax provision reserves at December 31, 2005 to be
adequate for the settlement, if any, of disputed tax positions
taken by the Company for these years. Historically, settle-
ments for disputed tax positions that have effected the total
tax provision provided for in the income statement has been
primarily interest charges on timing differences between years.

Revenue Recognition — Realty Rental Revenues -
Revenues from realty rentals are primarily contractual base
rents from leases of commercial property. The Company
recognizes revenues from these base rents evenly over the
lease term in accordance with SFAS 13, “Accounting for
Leases” (SFAS 13). SFAS 13 requires rental income from an
operating lease be recognized on a straight-line basis over
the non-cancelable lease term. Accordingly, total contractual
minimum lease payments, including scheduled rent increases,
are recognized as rental revenue evenly over the lease term.
Accrued revenues from contractually scheduled rent
increases in excess of amounts currently due amounted to
$22.1 million at December 31, 2005, which is reported in
current and long-term assets. At December 31, 2005, there
are two leases that each total more than 10% of this amount.
The combined total for these two tenants is $6.5 million. The
total for the top five leases is $9.1 million. The Company
monitors this asset for collection risk and establishes reserves
for any amounts deemed not collectible. However, amounts
collected in future periods may vary from the Company’s
expectations.

Real Estate Infrastructure Costs ~ The Company peri-
odically constructs road, road structures and general infra-
structure related to the development of commercial real
estate. Certain of these infrastructure assets may be deeded,
upon completion, to applicable governmental authorities. The
Company believes these deeded items (e.g., roads) benefit
and increase the value of the parcels within and adjacent to
the related commercial real estate developments. The
Company capitalizes all infrastructure costs (including costs
of infrastructure assets deeded to governmental authorities)
into the basis of its commercial real estate developments,
and allocates these costs to the individual parcels within the
park on a relative fair value basis in accordance with SFAS
No. 67, “Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations
of Real Estate Projects” (SFAS 67).

In connection with infrastructure assets constructed by the
Company and deeded to governmental authorities, certain
governmental authorities may agree to reimburse the
Company certain of its construction costs for the deeded
assets based on and to the extent of annual incremental
taxes (such as property taxes) as may be collected by the
governmental authority from the applicable properties over a
stipulated period of time. Prior to and at the date of deeding
the infrastructure asset to the governmental authority, any
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current reimbursements were accounted for as a reduction
in the allocated costs described above to the extent the
Company's receipt of such reimbursements had become
fixed and determinable, based upon the related incremental
taxes having been assessed and being, therefore, payable.
The Company does not recognize expected future tax
reimbursements even though they may be probable and
estimable, until they become fixed and determinable.

Under a current agreement with the City of Jacksonville and
the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT), Flagler con-
structed and deeded to the FDOT an interchange asset in
the third quarter of 2004. During 2004, prior to completion of
the interchange asset, Flagler received $2.1 milion that was
applied as a reduction in the basis of the asset. In June 2005,
Flagler received a reimbursement from the City of Jacksonville
for $0.7 million, of which $0.5 million was applied against
depreciation expense on infrastructure assets. The remaining
$0.2 million of the reimbursement was recorded as other
non-operating income. This reimbursement received after the
completion of the infrastructure asset was allocated between
operating and non-operating activities based on the relative
assessed value of property within Flagler Center, owned by
Flagler versus that sold to outside parties. Future reimburse-
ments will be treated similarly.

Contingencies ~ It is the Company’s policy to reserve for
certain contingencies cons‘isting primarily of various claims
and lawsuits resulting from its operations. In the opinion of
management, appropriate reserves have been made for the
estimated liability that may result from disposition of such
matters. Management’s cpinion and ultimately the reserve
recorded in the financial statements are based on known
facts and circumstances. In certain circumstances, manage-
ment uses the senvices of outside counse! to help evaluate
the facts and circumstances and considers their professional
judgment in establishing the appropriate reserve. The ultimate
resolution of these contingencies may be for an amount
greater or less than the amount estimated by management.

Beginning in 2004, the Company has sought recovery of
costs it incurred to repair or operate automatic warning
devices at grade crossings during periods of power outages
caused by hurricanes. The' Company was reimbursed

$1.0 million from state and local governments for hurricanes
occurring in 2004; in 2005, the Company billed $0.9 million
for similar reimbursements.

Trading Activities that include Non-Exchange
Traded Contracts Accounted for at Fair Value

The Company does not participate in trading of non-exchange
traded contracts accounted for at fair value.

Effects of Transactions with Related
and Certain Other Parties

The Company does not have transactions with related

and certain other parties other than those transactions that
may be described in ltem 13. Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions.

Environmental Liabilities

The Company is subject to proceedings arising out of envi-
ronmental laws and regulations, which primarily relate to the
disposal and use of fuel and oil used in the transportation
business. It is the Company’s policy to accrue and charge
against earnings environmental cleanup costs when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and an amount
can be reasonably estimated. As assessments and cleanups
proceed, these accruals are reviewed and adjusted.

Compliance with the federal, state, and local laws and regu-
lations refating to the protection of the environment has not
affected the Company’s capital additions, earnings or com-
petitive position, nor does management anticipate any future
matters will adversely affect the Company’s financial situation
pased upon the information available today.

Environmental expenditures for capital improvements and
ongoing operations and maintenance have historically been
insignificant to the operations of the Company. Management
does not anticipate any material changes in these expendi-
tures. These expenditures are expected to be funded from
current operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company's primary market risk exposure has historically
been interest rate risk primarily related to the Company's
outstanding debt, as further discussed in Note 15 to the
financial statements continued in ltem 8 of this Form 10-K.
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On February 22, 2005, the Company entered into a new
unsecured $150 million, 5-year revolving credit agreement
with a syndication of banks. The new credit facility provides
a more favorable interest rate and terms and replaces the
Company's previous $200 million credit agreement. The
Company pays {(quarterly) commitment fees, as applicable
under the agreement, at a range of 12.5 to 256.0 basis
points. The Company's revolving credit agreement requires
the maintenance of certain financial ratios (interest coverage
and leverage) and maintenance of minimum established lev-
els of net worth. The Company believes the most restrictive
of such ratios is the Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit
Facility Agreement). The Credit Facility Agreement provides
that at December 31, 2005, the Company’s Adjusted Total
Debt/Adjusted Total EBITDA ratio shall be no greater than

3.00 to 1.00. At December 31, 2005, the Company’s actual
Adjusted Total Debt/Adjusted Total EBITDA ratio was 0.02
to 1.00. In addition there are various established limitations
(dollars and otherwise) on certain types of liens, investments
(including loans and advances) and acquisitions, limitation
on transactions with affiliates, merger and sales of all or sub-
stantially all of the assets; and use of proceeds. Some of the
above covenants provide specific exclusion of certain financ-
ing and investing activities at Flagler. Borrowings under the
credit agreement bear interest at variable rates finked to the
LIBOR Index. Interest on borrowings is due and payable on
the “rollover date” for each draw. Outstanding borrowings
can be paid at any time by the borrower, or at the conclusion
of the facility’s term. At December 31, 2005, there were no
borrowings outstanding on this facility.

The following table presents the future principal cash flows and weighted-average interest rates expected on the Company’s
existing mortgage notes. Fair value has been determined based on current rates available to the Company at December 31,

2005 for similar maturity instruments.

Expected Maturity Date

12/31/05
(dollars in thousands) 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Total Fair Value
Liabilities
Long-Term Debt:
Fixed Rate ($US)
Ten Year Notes 2,087 2,246 2,418 2,603 2,802 140,261 152,417 165,908
Seven Year Notes 2,091 2,225 81,370 1,054 1,111 53,925 141,776 144,441
Average Interest Rate 6.84% 6.84% 6.83% 6.80% 6.80% 6.80%
Variable Rate ($US)
Seven Year Notes 1,020 1,048 1,076 1,106 1,138 38,379 43,765 43,765
Average Interest Rate 5.95% 5.85% 5.86% 5.97% 8.07% 6.17%

Total outstanding maturities existing on the mortgage notes at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $342.9 million and
$241.1 million, respectively, with the estimated fair market values of $370.6 million and $265.2 million, respectively. The
decrease in 2005 outstanding maturities is the result of payments made against the outstanding balances of the mortgage

notes. (See Note 15.)
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SUPPLEMENTARY
DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Florida East Coast Industries, inc.,

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consoli-
dated statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity
and comprehensiveincome, and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial
statements, we alsc audited the financial statement sched-
ules Il and lil as listed in the accompanying Index on Page 67
of this Report on Form 10-K for the year 2005. These con-
solidated financial statements and financial statement sched-
ules are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consoli-
dated financial statements and financial statement schedules
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in
our opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, present faifly, in all materia!
respects, the information set forth therein,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of Florida East Coast Industries,
Inc. and subsidiaries, internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in
internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSQO), and our report dated February 28,
2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s
assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control
over financial repotting.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Jacksonville, Florida

February 28, 2006
Certified Public Accountants
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Years: Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003
Operating revenues:
Railway operations 237,870 200,762 181,057
Realty rental and services 90,495 72,520 66,749
Flagler CAM recoveries associated with hurricanes (Note 4} 343 93 -
Total realty rental and services 90,838 72,613 66,749
Realty sales 33,638 104,812 80,458
Total revenues 362,346 378,187 338,264
Operating expenses:
Railway operations 172,152 151,356 138,069
Hurricane costs {Note 4) 2,606 3,041 -
“Hurricane crossing reimbursement” (recoveries) (net) 617) (g81) -
Total railway operations 174,141 153,436 138,069
Realty rental and services 74,025 63,358 79,427
Hurricane costs (Note 4) 1,243 288 -
Total realty rental and services 75,268 63,646 79,427
Realty sales 8,286 15,793 33,921
Corporate general & administrative 22,388 15,080 13,137
Total expenses 280,083 247,355 264,564
Operating profit 82,263 130,232 73,710
Interest income 1,659 1,124 Q46
Interest expense (20,105) {16,671) (17,056)
Other income (Note 14) 14,555 13,023 9,544
(3,891) (2,524) (6,566)
Income before income taxes 78,372 127,708 67,144
Provision for income taxes (Note 8) (29,006) {49,806) (25,851)
Income from continuing operations 49,366 77,902 41,293
Discontinued Operations (Note 5)
Income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations (net of taxes) - 106 (173)
Giain on disposition of discontinued operations (net of taxes) - 2,590 2,104
Earnings from discontinued operations - 2,696 1,831
Net income 49,366 80,598 43,224
Cash Dividends Per Share $0.23 $0.19 $1.645
Earnings Per Share
Income from continuing operations — basic $1.53 $2.25 $ 113
Income from continuing operations — diluted $1.52 $2.21 $ 112
Loss from operation of discontinued operations — basic - - $ (0.01)
Loss from operation of discontinued operations - diluted - - $(0.01)
Gazin on disposition of discontinued operations — basic - $0.08 $ 0.06
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations - diluted - $0.08 $ 0.06
Net income - basic $1.53 $2.33 $ 1.18
Net income - diluted $1.52 $2.29 $ 1.7
Average shares outstanding — basic 32,280,614 34,529,869 36,502,467
Average shares outstanding ~ diluted 32,683,528 35,216,957 36,864,558

(Prior years' results have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation.)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) ’ 2005 2004
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 7) 75,990 126,166
Accounts receivable (net) (Note 4) 35,732 32,435
Income tax receivable - 4,238
Materials and supplies 3,840 1,822
Assets held for sale (Note 6) 9,761 6,900
Deferred income taxes (Note 8) 1,345 1,268
Prepaid expenses 6,727 5,008
Straight line rent 4,429 3,133
Total Current Assets 137,824 180,970
Long Term Assets:
Properties, less accumulated depreciation and amortization (Notes 6 and 15) 955,395 853,458
Building intangible assets, less amortization 9,696 -
Prepaid commissions 11,486 8,658
Straight line rent 17,717 12,625
Other assets 5,626 7,582
Total Long Term Assets 999,920 882,223
Total Assets 1,137,744 1,063,193

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 48,544 47,578
Taxes payable 2,044 1,281
Deferred revenue 5,627 5,681
Short-term debt (Note 15) 5,198 4,789
Short-term accrued casualty (Note 10) 618 1,230
Amounts due to contractors 1,879 3,867
Accrued interest 1,880 1,850
Other accrued liabilities 2,442 3,245
Total Current Liabilities 68,132 69,521
Deferred income Taxes (Note 8) 186,346 178,831
Long-Term Debt (net of current portion) (Note 15) 332,760 338,065
Accrued Casualty and Other Long-Term Liabilities (Note 10) 11,449 11,850
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock: (Notes 3 and 12) 141,853 105,964

Common stock, no par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 39,487,258 shares issued
and 32,983,135 shares outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 38,553,495 shares
issued and 32,006,968 shares outstanding at December 31, 2004.

Retained earnings 615,656 573,808

Restricted stock deferred compensation (10,860) (6,548}
Treasury stock at cost (6,504,123 shares at December 31, 2005

and 6,546,527 shares at December 31, 2004) (207,592) (208,298)

Total Shareholders’ Equity 539,057 464,926

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity . 1,137,744 1,063,193

(Prior year’s results have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation.)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

{dollars in thousands, except share amounts)
(see Note 12)

Restricted
Stock
Common Stock Treasury Stock Retained Deferred
Shares Amount Shares Amount Earnings ~ Compensation  Total

Balance at December 31, 2002 37,436,515 68,888 (799,084) (9,355) 516,937 (3,154) 573,316
Nzt income & comprehensive income 43,224 43,224
Sale of common stock (ESPP) 7,736 162 162
Dividends declared on common stock

{$0.145) per share (5,321) (6,321)
Special dividend declared on common

stock ($1.50) per share (65,132) (55,132)
Stock repurchase program (97,300) (2,921} (2,921)
Exercise of stock options 114,606 2,898 2,898
Restricted stock purchased/granted,

net of amortization & forfeitures 127,181 5,466 (87,618} (2,491) (1,438) 1,537
Other 15,368 370 370
Balance at December 31, 2003 37,701,406 77,784 (984,002)  (14,767) 499,708  (4,592) 558,133
Net income & comprehensive income 80,598 80,598
Sale of common stock {(ESPP) 5,569 163 163
Dividends declared on common

stock ($0.19) per share (6,498) (6,498)
Issuance of stock under executive

compensation plan 36,407 1,276 (59,769) (2,296) (1,020)
Trust Shares repurchased (5,5600,000) (191,126} (191,126}
Exercise of stock options including

income tax benefit 708,975 23,026 23,026
Restricted stock purchased/granted,

net of amortization & forfeitures 101,138 3,715 {2,756) (109) (1,956) 1,660
Belance at December 31, 2004 38,653,495 105,964 (6,546,527) (208,298) 573,808  (6.548) 464,926
Net income & comprehensive income 49,366 49,366
Sale of common stock (ESPP) 6,399 228 228
Dividends declared on common stock

{$0.23) per share (7,518} (7,518)
Issuance of stock under executive

compensation plan 22,106 2,720 105,500 3,357 6,077
Shares purchased under stock

repurchase program (54,500) (2,289) (2,289)
Exarcise of stock options including

income tax benefit 766,714 26,855 26,855
Restricted stock granted/purchased,

net of amortization & forfeitures 138,544 6,086 (8,596) (362) (4,312) 1,412
Balance at December 31, 2005 39,487,258 141,853 (6,504,123) (207,592) 615,656 (10,860} 539,057

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

45




Florida East Coast Industrics B 2005 Form 10-K

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
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Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income 49,366 80,598 43,224
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash generated by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 55,477 48,769 47,498
Gain on disposition of assets (25,351) (93,265) (60,675)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options/restricted stock 5,261 4,056 -
Deferred taxes 7,438 48,052 22,808
Stock compensation expense 9,900 4,819 3,189
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (3,297) (8,836) (2,236)
Prepaid expenses (2,012) 206 (106)
Materials and supplies (2,018) (219) 107
Straight line rent (6,488) (5,604) (6,618)
Prepaid commissions (5,448) (1,172) (85)
Other assets and deferred charges (201) (8,224) (896)
Accounts payable 1,194 17,356 2,173
Taxes payable 2,201 (8,335) 3,581
Income tax refund 2,800 - 74,572
Deferred revenue (154) 2,661 462
Amounts due to contractors (1,988) 1,618 2,095
Accrued interest 30 391 (19)
Other accrued liabilities (803) (12,164) 8,896
Accrued casualty and other long-term liabilities (1,013) 1,548 (1,832)
Net cash generated by operating activities 84,894 72,255 136,038
Cash Flows from investing Activities
Purchases of properties (174,752) (111,5851) (102,181)
Proceeds from disposition of assets 35,202 121,537 124,218
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (139,550) 9,986 22,037
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Receipt from issuance of mortgage debt (Note 15) - 105,000 -
Payment of mortgage debt ' (4,896) (3,289) (2,641)
Net payments on line of credit - - (53,000)
Payment of dividends (7,518) (6,498) (60,453)
Proceeds from exercise of options 21,594 16,674 2,808
Stock repurchase program payments (Note 15) (2,289) (191,126) (2,921)
Purchase of common stock (2,411) (1,893) (773)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 4,480 (81,132) (116,890)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (50,176) 1,109 41,185
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 126,166 125,057 83,872
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 75,990 126,166 125,057
Suppliemental Disclosure of Cash Flow information
Cash paid (received) for income taxes {net of refunds) 11,500 4,700 (73,736)
Cash paid for interest 22,320 19,252 17,088




Florida East Coast Industries W 2005 Form 10-K

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Note 1. Nature of Business

The principal operations of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.
(the Company or FECI) and its subsidiaries primarily relate to
the transportation of goods by rail and the acquisition, devel-
opment, leasing, management and sale of real estate. The
Company’s rail subsidiary, Florida East Coast Railway, LLC
(FECR or Railway), operates primarily within the state of
Florida, with approximately 60% of its revenues derived from
local moves along the Company’s line. Approximately 42% of
the freight revenues were derived from five of its largest cus-
tcmers, with approximately $45.3 million, $38.7 million, and
$34.7 million, 20%, 21%, and 20%, in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively, generated by one significant customer.
The Company’s realty subsidiary, Flagler Development
Company (Flagler), presently operates in Florida with busi-
ness parks in Jacksonville, Orlando and the South Florida
markets. Flagler’s operating properties are Class "A” office
space and high-guality commercial/industrial facilities.

Note 2. Subsequent Event -
Acquisition of Codina
Group and Related
Interests

On January 6, 2006, the Company anncunced that a newly
formed holding company and certain Company subsidiaries
hed entered into various agreements to acquire privately held
Codina Group, Inc. and certain related property interests held
directly or indirectly by Mr. Armando Codina for total consid-
eration of $270 million. The total consideration of $270 mil-
lion includes $66 million of cash for certain property interests,
assumption or repayment of $36 million of debt and up to
$168 million of equity securities (includes up to $85 milion of
contingent consideration). The contingent equity is contin-
gent upon achievernent of certain value based milestones
including $30 miltion tied to certain land use approvals,

$30 million upon certain partnership distributions from a joint
venture, $20 million is based on cumulative FEC! stock price
improvements of up to an additional $27.00 over the next
five years; and $5 million is dependent on the new holding
company agreeing to move forward with a proposed resi-
dential development. The purchase price is subject to post-
closing adjustment based on certain closing conditions.

The Codina acquisition is expected to close during the first
quarter of 2006 subject to certain closing conditions.

Headquartered in Coral Gables, Florida, Codina Group, Inc.
is an integrated commercial real estate, development, con-
struction, leasing, property management and brokerage firm
with 150 employees. To date, the Codina Group has con-
structed over 11 million sg. ft. of industrial, office and retail
property, developed over 1,760 acres of land, and currently
manages more than 12 million sq. ft. of property.

In addition to Codina Group, the transactions will include
the following projects under current and future development
in South Florida:

100% Owned

¢ Beacon Countyline, 457 acres in Hialeah plus an additional
40 adjacent acres; future plans are for the creation of a
large industrial park

¢ Beacon Commons, 92 acres in Doral, future site of a retall,
office and residential development

¢ Gables Office Building, a 45,000 sq. ft. office building to be
developed in Coral Gables during 2006

Joint Ventures

¢ Beacon Lakes, 21.2% interest in a venture with AMB
Properties that owns a 432-acre industrial park, including
three industrial buildings and entitlements for an additional
6.2 million sq. ft. in West Dade

* Red Road Commons, a proposed 50% interest in a
venture with an affiliate of Fairfield Properties, Inc. to build
407 -unit residential apartments on land to be leased in
South Miami

¢ Beacon City Center, a venture with an affiliate of JPMorgan
that holds an exclusive option to acquire and redevelop a
77-acre property in Doral into approximately 2,840 residen-
tial units and 72 office condominiums

* Burger King, a proposed 30% interest in a venture with
an affiliate of JPMorgan to acquire fand and construct
a 15-story, 250,000 sq. ft. building for Burger King’s
corporate headquarters

The properties being acquired are expected to be developed
into approximately 11 million sg. ft. of industrial space,
600,000 sq. ft. of office space, 750,000 sgq. ft. of retail space
and 3,500 muiti-family units. The net investment to fully
develop these properties, after out parcel and condo sales,
is nearly $750 million.
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The Company expects to use existing cash and cash equiva-
lents and potentially any needed additional funds from its un-
drawn $150 million revolving credit agreement to satisfy the
cash and debt repayment needs of closing the acquisition.

Note 3. Related Party
Transaction

On August 13, 2004, the Company purchased 5.5 million
shares of common stock from The Alfred |. duPont Testa-
mentary Trust and The Nemours Foundation for $34.50 per
share or approximately $191 million. These repurchased
shares are now shown on the consoclidated balance sheets
as treasury stock. This transaction exhausted the remaining
$72 million that existed under the previous $75 million stock
repurchase authorization. As a result, on August 4, 2004, the
Board of Directors authorized the expenditure of $40 million
to repurchase common stock from time to time through

a program of open market purchases and/or privately
negotiated transactions.

Note 4. Summary
of Significant
Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All sig-
nificant inter-company transactions and balances have been
gliminated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognition

Railway Revenues - Rail revenue is recognized as freight
moves from origin to destination.

Realty Land Sales -~ Revenue is recognized upon closing
of sales contracts for sale of land or upon settlement of legal
proceedings such as condemnations.

Realty Rental Income - Revenue is recognized upon com-
mencement of rental and lease contracts. The Company
uses the straight-line method for recording the revenues over
the life of the lease contract. See Item 7 of Part |, “Critical
Accounting Policies” of this report for further discussion.

Bad Debt Reserves

Bad debt reserves are recorded by management based
upon the Company’s various businesses' historical experi-
ence of bad debts to sales, analysis of accounts receivable
aging, and specific identification of customers in financial
distress; i.e., bankruptcy, poor payment record, etc. The con-
solidated bad debt reserve was approximately $2.2 million

at December 31, 2005.

Materials and Supplies

New materials and supplies are stated principally at average
cost which is not in excess of replacement cost. Used
materials are stated at an amount, which does not exceed
estimated realizable value.

Properties

Railway properties are stated at historical cost and are
depreciated and amortized on the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives. The Railway uses the mass asset
method of accounting for fixed assets. The majority of road
properties’ depreciation is based on lives ranging from 10 to
50 years, and equipment properties on lives varying from 3 1o
50 years. Gains and losses on normal retirements of these
items are credited or charged to accumulated depreciation.

During 2003, FECR commenced an “engineering and
economics” based study of its principal right-of-way and
equipment assets to develop a multi-year maintenance and
replacement plan and associated estimates of the assets’
remaining lives. The engineering studies segregated the
equipment and right-of-way assets into the following major
groupings: focomotives, rolling stock and equipment (e.g.,
hoppers, flatcars, auto racks, trailers, etc.), bridges, and
track structure (rail, ties, ballast, and other track material).
During the third and fourth quarters of 2004, the engineering
studies (including associated estimated depreciation lives)
for locomotives and rolling stock were completed. During the
first quarter of 2005, the engineering study for bridges was
finalized. The track structure engineering study was finalized
in the fourth quarter of 2005.

The track study evaluated FECR’s entire mainling, branch
lines and yards from Jacksonville to Miami, Florida. The
study’s fieldwork involved hi-rail inspections of the main line,
tie samples in each mile of track and rail measurements
taken at each tie sample location. In each yard, samples of
tie and rail conditions were taken to develop a general
picture of the overall condition of the yard.
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From the track study, FECR identified four major components
for its track assets: rail, ties, ballast and other track material
(OTM). Overall, the study indicated the track system to be in
good condition. The study generally recommends that we
continue our general maintenance programs (e.g., surfacing,
bolt fastening, undercutting, etc.) at our current levels. In
2005, $13.8 million was spent on our track maintenance
programs. The 2006 budget includes $13.7 million of track
maintenance programs, which is in line with the study
recommendations. Nothing significant was found in yard
maintenance during the track study.

The study also evaluated the condition and replacement of
our track assets. One of the major components that impact
the replacement of rail and track materials is tonnage. The
Transportation Test Center (TTC) in Pueblo, Colorado indi-
cates a tangent rail life expectancy based on 1.460 billion
gross tons for generic maintine rail with a six-inch base (132,
156 and 141 pound). Between the periods of 1970-1977,
FECR replaced approximately 74% of its main line track with
generally small amounts of rail replacement from 1378
through 2005. The average annual tonnage on FECR’s rait
averaged approximately 9 million gross tons during the
1970’s. Subsequent to the 1970’s, annual tonnages have
steadily increased with annual tonnage during the last
decade of approximately 37 million gross tons. Given these
historical tonnage amounts, FECR expects our existing rail
assets to meet their current life expectancy of 50 years with
no impact on depreciation rates. Going forward, if FECR
experiences expected annual tonnage levels of 50 million
gross tons, the lives for newly installed rail and other track
components after December 31, 2005 will need to be
adiusted potentially within a range of 35 to 45 years. The
potential annual depreciation impact for the change in rail
and OTM assets (if adjusted to a range of 35 ~ 45 years)
weuld be less than $0.1 million in 2006 (year cne of change)
and range from $0.2 million to $0.4 million in year 2015 {year
10 after change) based on normative expected capital bud-
gets. The study indicated no substantive change in the
depreciable lives of ties and ballast, at generally 40 years.

The bridge study covered FECR'’s 72 bridges or approxi-
mately 13,000 linear feet of bridge assets (30% were
inspected during the study). The bridge study indicated no
substantive change in the depreciable lives and generally,
bridges would continue to be depreciated over a 81.5-year
life. The bridge study also indicated that while FECR’s bridge
assets are in acceptable operational condition based on the
Company’s continuing maintenance and inspection programs,
FECR is entering a 10 to 20 year period where, based on the
age and construction materials used, certain bridges will be

studied further, monitored and possibly replacéd. The man-
agement team does not expect replacement costs for bridges
to materially alter its normative annual capital budget, how-
ever this estimate is subject to change, and such changes
could be material. The study did not include the downtown
Jacksonville bridge, which spans the St. Johns River, which
was evaluated separately (due to its scale and design). The
study recommended rehabilitation of the pier protection
structures for the Jacksonville bridge main channel. This
work commenced in 2005 and will be completed in the first
quarter 2006. No other significant change in capital
maintenance or replacement programs was noted.

The locomotive and rolling stock study indicated no substan-
tive change in the annual maintenance or capital replacement
programs. FECR will continue its general practice of main-
taining locomotives and rolling stock for the entirety of their
useful operating life.

From the locomotive engineering study, FECR identified three
major sub-components of its locomotive assets: Hulk/Chassis,
Locomotive engine and Combos (e.g., wheel assemblies,
electric motors, etc.) The replacement and resulting depre-
ciable lives for each of these sub-components’is 50 years,

7 years and 3 years, respectively. Annual depreciation is
expected to increase approximately 11% or $0.3 million as

a result of the study. These depreciable lives were
implemented in the fourth quarter of 2004. |
From the rolling stock engineering study, FECR identified
three major sub-components of its rolling stock assets: Hulk/
Chassis, wheel assemblies (e.g., trucks), and doors. The
replacement and resulting depreciable lives for each of these
sub-components is 40 to 50 years, 7 years and 7 years,
respectively. Other FECR equipment, which was included in
the rolling stock study, has depreciable lives of 10 to 20 years.
Annual depreciation is expected to increase approximately
11% or $0.4 million as a result of the study. These depre-
ciable lives were implemented in the first quarter of 2005.

These studies, their conclusions and on-going evaluations
may result in material changes in FECR's maintenance and
capital spending and in the estimated remaining useful lives
of its property, plant and equipment, which may affect future
depreciation rates and expense. '

Real estate properties are stated at historical cost. Deprecia-
tion is computed using the straight-line method over esti-
mated asset lives of 15 years for land improvements and 12
to 40 years for buildings and building improvements. Tenant
improvements are depreciated over the term (j to 15 years)
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of the related lease agreement for financial reporting pur-
poses. Financial assets and intangible assets associated with
real estate acquisitions (buildings in 2005) are generally
amortized over the remaining life of the underlying leases.

The Company reviews property, plant and equipment for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Recover-
ability is measured by comparisen of the carrying amount to
the undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated
by the asset.

The Company capitalizes interest during the construction
of new facilities (e.g., buildings) and it is amortized over the
life of the asset. During 2005 and 2004, $2.7 milion and
$3.5 million, respectively, of interest was capitalized.

At December 31, 2005, Flagler and FECR had under
contract 79 acres and 57 acres, respectively, which are
expected to sell during 2006. This acreage is classified as
assets held for sale on the December 31, 2005 consolidated
palance shest.

Earnings Per Share

The diluted weighted-average number of shares includes the
net shares that would be issued upon the exercise of “in-the-
money” stock options using the treasury stock methed.
Applying the treasury stock method, the “in-the-money”
stock options resufted in the dilution of 302,914 shares,
687,088 shares, and 362,091 shares for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. “Out-of-
the-money” options were 313,573 shares, 767,940 shares,
and 1,986,408 shares for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash on hand, bank demand accounts, money mar-
ket accounts and overnight repurchase agreements having
original maturities of less than three months.

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2005 consisted
of $23.1 million of property sale proceeds held in escrow for
possible tax-deferred reinvestment in other property, and
$52.9 million of funds on hand and invested in money market
funds or short-term securities.

Income Taxes

The Company follows the asset and liability method of
accounting for income taxes in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (SFAS 109),
“Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under SFAS 109, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
conseguences attributable to differences between the finan-
cial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabili-
ties and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those tempo-
rary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
Under SFAS 109, the effect on deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date. Future tax benefits,
such as net operating loss carry forwards and alternative
minimum tax credit carry forwards, are recognized to the
extent that realization of these benefits is considered to be
mere likely than not.

Real Estate Infrastructure Costs

The Company periodically constructs road, road structures
and general infrastructure related to the development of
commercial real estate. Certain of these infrastructure assets
may be deeded to applicable governmental authorities. The
Company believes these deeded items (e.g., roads) benefit
and increase the value of the parcels within and adjacent to
the related commercial real estate developments. The
Company capitalizes all infrastructure costs (including costs
of infrastructure assets deeded to governmental authorities)
into the basis of its commercial real estate developments,
and allocates these costs to the individual parcels within the
park on a relative fair value basis in accordance with SFAS
No. 67, "Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations
of Real Estate Projects” (SFAS 67).

In connection with infrastructure assets constructed by the
Company and deeded to governmental authorities, certain
governmental authorities may agree to reimburse the
Company certain of its construction costs for the deeded
assets based on and to the extent of annual incremental
taxes (such as property taxes) as may be collected by the
governmental authority from the applicable properties over a
stipulated period of time. Prior to and at the date of deeding
the infrastructure asset to the governmental authority, any
current reimbursements were accounted for as a reduction
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in the allocated costs described above to the extent the
Company’s receipt of such reimbursements had become
fixed and determinable, based upon the related incremental
texes having been assessed and being, therefore, payable.
The Company does not recognize expected future tax
reimbursements even though they may be probable and
estimable, until they become fixed and determinable.

Under a current agreement with the City of Jacksonville and
the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT), Flagler con-
structed and deeded to the FDOT an interchange asset in
the third quarter of 2004. During 2004, prior to completion of
the interchange asset, Flagler received $2.1 million that was
applied as a reduction in the basis of the asset. In June 2005,
Flagler received a reimbursement from the City of Jacksonville
for $0.7 million, of which $0.5 million was applied against
depreciation expense on infrastructure assets. The remaining
$0.2 million of the reimbursement was recorded as other
non-operating income. This reimbursement received after the
completion of the infrastructure asset was allocated between
operating and non-operating activities based on the relative
assessed value of property within Flagler Center, owned by
Flagler versus that sold to outside parties. Future reimburse-
ments will be treated similarly.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
materially differ from those estimates.

Natural Disaster Costs

The Railway suspended service early Sunday, October 23,
20085, in anticipation of the arrival of Hurricane Wilma. Rail
service was disrupted for approximately two weeks due 1o
widespread power outages that prevented automatic grade
crossing warning systems and railroad signals from operat-
ing. All scheduled rail service resumed on November 7, 2005
after all sections of track power was restored and all ralil
crossings passed inspection.

The Company estimates that FECR will incur approximately
$3.4 million of incremental costs related to clean-up costs,
property damage, grade crossing operations, support and
additional train crew costs as a result of trains operating at
reduced speeds. The Railway is in the process of filing claims
for reimbursements and recoveries; however, the ultimate
total amount of these recoveries cannot be estimated at this
time. Included in this amount is $0.5 million in costs related
to Hurricanes Katrina and Rita.

Several of Flagler's buildings located in Flagler Station sus-
tained damage from Hurricane Wilma, primarily roofs and
landscaping. The total damage (cash outlay) is estimated to
be approximately $7.0 million to $7.5 million, of which approx-
imately $4.0 million to $5.0 million is currently expected to
be recovered from insurance and tenants. There was addi-
tional damage due to Hurricane Katrina that was less than
$0.1 million.

The American Institute of CPAs (AICPA) issued Technical
Practice Aide (TPA) §5400.05 in September 2005, which
provides guidance on the accounting treatment of natural
disaster related costs. TPA §5400.05 does not allow recogni-
tion of a natural disaster related cost until such time that the
cost is a legal obligation of the Company. Accordingly, the
Company has recorded those costs where a legal obligation
was present at December 31, 2005. However, in an effort to
provide a more complete accounting for the cost of the hurri-
cane damages management provides the table below. This
table reflects the total estimated cost and expected recover-
ies related to the hurricane damage. The table also shows
costs and recoveries reflected on the operating resuits and
capital accounts for the fourth quarter and full years of 2005
and 2004.
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2005 HURRICANE COST AND RECOVERY SUMMARY

Total Cost Cost
Estimated {Recovery) (Recovery)
Cost and Recognized in Recognized
{dollars in thousands) (Recovery)* Fourth Quarter Year to Date
Railway
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 3,375 2,303 2,606
Capital expenditures (“Properties”) - - -
“Hurricane crossing reimbursement” (recoveries) (net) (867) 617) B617)
Insurance recovery™* - - -
Other Rental
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 409 55 284
Flagler
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 1,770 772 772
Capital expenditures (“Properties”) 5,425 279 279
Asset write-off due to replacement™* 2,119 187 187
“Flagler CAM recoveries associated with Hurricane” (777) (343) (343)
[nsurance recovery (3,852) - -

*The amounts shown in this column are management’s best estimates of total costs to be incurred and amounts
to be recovered due to the 2005 hurricanes, however, these estimates are subject to change, which could be material,

**The Railway's insurance recovery cannot be reasonably estimated at this time as discussions with our insurance carrier are in the beginning
stages. We expect these discussions to continue throughout the first half of 2006.

**Represents assets (primarily roofs) expected to be replaced in 2006 and their related write-off of remaining net book value.

2004 HURRICANE COST AND RECOVERY SUMMARY

Total Cost Cost
Estimated (Recovery) (Recovery)
Cost and Recognized in Recognized
(doliars in thousands) (Recovery)* Fourth Quarter Year to Date
Railway
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs™) 3,041 602 3,041
“Hurricane crossing reimbursement” (recoveries) (net) (961) (961) (961}
Insurance recovery - - -
Other Rental
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 179 47 179
Flagler
Operating expenses (“Hurricane Costs”) 109 109 109

Capital expenditures (“Properties”) - - -
Asset write-off due to replacement -
“Flagler CAM recoveries associated with Hurricane” (93) (23) (93)
Insurance recovery - - -
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method

of accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”
{APB Opinion No. 25), and related interpretations in account-
ing for stock options. As such, compensation expenses
would be recorded on the date of the grant only if the current
market price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise
price. Compensation expenses for grants of restricted stock
are recognized over the applicable vesting period.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and
garmnings per share as if the Company had applied the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS Statement No. 1283,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123),
to stock-based employee compensation:

Years Ended
December 31

(doliars in thousands,
except per share amounts)

Net income - as reported

Deduct: Total stock-based
employee compensation
expense determined under
the fair value based method
for all stock option awards
(net of related tax effects)

Fro forma net income

2005 2004 2003
49,366 80,508 43,224

(342)  (785) (2,1286)
49,024 79,813 41,008

Earnings per share:

Basic - as reported $1.53 %233 $1.18
Basic - pro forma $1.52 $2.31 $1.13
Diluted - as reported $1.52 $229 $1.17
Diluted - pro forma $1.50 $2.27 S$1.11

Additionally, the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors awarded grants of restricted stock in 2003, 2004
and 2005 1o the executive management team and, starting in
2008, other members of management who previously were
awarded annual grants of stock options. Grants of restricted
stock were 291,791 shares, 151,269 shares, and 135,930
shares in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Compensation
expense is recognized pro rata over the vesting period based
on the market price of the stock at the time of grant. Total
compensation expense for the 2005, 2004 and 2003
restricted stock grants, if fully vested over their related vest-
ing period, would be $12.4 million, $5.5 million and $4.1 mil-
lion, respectively. The increase in 2005 compensation expense
relates to restricted stock granted to Mr. Adolfo Henrigues at
the time of his appointment as Chairman, President, and
Chief Executive Officer, retention grants awarded to the offi-
cers of the Company during the first quarter 2005, and the
year-over-year increase in costs associated with grants from
the stock incentive plan.

Comprehensive Income

SFAS 130 establishes standards for reporting and presenta-
tion of comprehensive income and its components in a full
set of financial statements. For the years presented, the
Company's comprehensive income equaled net income.
SFAS 130 requires only additional disclosures in the consoli-
dated financial statements. It does not affect the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current year's presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation

No. 48 (revised December 2003) (FIN 46R), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities (VIE's), which addresses how a busi-
ness enterprise should evaluate whether it has a controlling
financial interest in an entity through means other than voting
rights and accordingly should consolidate the entity. FIN 46R
replaces FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, which was issued in January 2003.
The Company will be required to apply FIN 48R to variable
interests in VIE's created after December 31, 2003. For vari-
able interests in VIEs created before January 1, 2004, the
Interpretation will be applied beginning on January 1, 2005.
For any VIEs that must be consolidated under FIN 46R that
were created before January 1, 2004, the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the VIE initially would be
measured at their carrying amounts with any difference
between the net amount added to the balance sheet and
any previously recognized interest being recognized as the
cumulative effect of an accounting change.

The Company’s application of FIN 46R had no impact on the
financial statements.

FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004); Share-Based
Payment (Staterment 123R). The revised Statement generally
requires that an entity account for transactions using the fair-
value-based method, and eliminates an entity’s ability to
account for share-based compensation transactions using
the intrinsic value method of accounting in APB Opinion

No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, which
was permitted under Statement 123, as originally issued.
The revised Statement requires both public and nonpublic
entities to disclose information needed about the nature of
the share-based payment transactions and the effects of
those transactions on the financial statements. Statement
123R is effective (per SEC release No. 33-8568, dated

April 14, 2005) as of the beginning of January 1, 2008.

53




Florida East Coast Industries M 2005 Form 10-K

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

The Company estimates the adoption of this guidance will
not materially affect the 20086 financial statements of the
Company. The Company has not granted options since
20083. The amount of unvested options at December 31,
2005 is estimated at approximately 19,000 shares.

Note 5. Discontinued
Operations

In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144,
components of Flagler that meet certain criteria have been
accounted for as discontinued operations. Therefore, income
or loss attributable to the operations and sale of the compo-
nents classified as discontinued operations are presented in
the statement of income as discontinued operations, net of
applicable income taxes.

Discontinued operations for 2004 include the gains on the
sales and the related operations of an office building and an
industrial building. Discontinued operations for 2003 include
the operations of the above-mentioned properties, as well as
the operations of an industrial building sold during 2003 and
the gain on the sale and related operations of Flagler's 50%
interest in three buildings held in partnership with Duke Realty.

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 20083

Summary of Operating Results
of Discontinued Operations

Flagler realty rental revenues - 718 2,030
Flagler realty rental expenses - 545 2,540
Operating income (loss) - 173 (510)
Interest income - - 43
Income (loss) before income taxes - 173 {467)
Income taxes - (67) 180
income (loss) fromoperation

of discontinued operations - 106 (287)
Gain on disposition of

discontinued operations,

net of taxes of $1.7 million

and $1.6 million for the years

ended December 31, 2004

and 2003, respectively. - 2,590 2542
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Note 6. Properties

Properties consist of:

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004
FECR Properties*
Road equipment and structures 442,954 431,009
Buildings 13,234 11,648
Equipment 203,188 208,559
Land and land improvements 12,562 6,219
Fiber 3,200 3,200
Construction in progress 7,018 2,909
682,156 663,544
Less accumulated depreciation 279,121 276,860
403,035 386,684
Flagler Properties*
Land and land improvements 240,149 171,280
Buildings 469,833 358,350
Equipment 3,193 2,740
Construction in progress 13,039 79,752
726,214 612,122
Less accumulated depreciation 168,242 140,545
557,972 471,577
Corporate
Equipment 15,077 14,201
Construction in progress 1,570 86
16,647 14,287
Less accumulated depreciation 12,498 12,190
4,149 2,097

*Included in the 2005 and 2004 amounts, respectively, are

$0.8 million and $0 million of FECR properties and $9.0 miltion
and $6.9 million of Flagler properties for buildings and associated
land that is held for sale.

Real estate properties, having a net book value of $438.3 mil-
lion at December 31, 2005 are leased under non-cancelable
operating leases with expected aggregate rental revenues of
$449.7 million, which are receivable in years 2006-2010 in
the amounts of $83.8 million, $78.8 million, $71.9 million,
$59.5 million, and $40.3 million, respectively, and

$115.4 million thereafter,
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Note 7. Investments and

Cash and Cash
Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2005 consisted
of $23.1 million held in escrow for possible tax-deferred rein-
vestment in other property, and $52.9 million of funds on hand
and invested in money market funds and short-term securities.

Note 8.

Total income taxes were allocated as follows:

Years Ended
December 31

Income Taxes

{dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
[ncome from continuing

operations 29,006 49,806 25,851
Gain (loss) from operation

of discontinued operations - 67 (109)

(Gain on disposition
of discontinued operations - 1,656 1,318

29,006 51,529 27,060

The components of income tax expense were as follows:

Years Ended
December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Current
Federal 21,568 3,477 4,252
State - - -
21,568 3,477 4,252
Deferred
Federal 5,040 40,541 21,073
State 2,398 7,511 1,735

7,438 48,052 22,808

Income Taxes 29,006 51,529 27,060

Tax benefits of $4.5 million, $3.2 million and $0.0 million
associated with the exercise of employee stock options were
allocated to equity and recorded in capital in excess of par
value in the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

Income tax expense differed from the amounts computed
by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to pretax
income as a result of the following:

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Amount computed

at statutory federal rate
State taxes

(net of federal benefit)
Non-deductible related

to 162(m) compensation 761
Tax credit related to rail

right-of-way maintenance (1,916) - -
Other (net) (70) 317 15

27,429 45,396 24,523
2,802 4,746 2,522

1,070 -

29,006 51,529 27,080

The tax effects of termporary differences that give rise to
significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities are as follows:

Years Ended
December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2005 2004
Deferred Tax Assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts 842 877
Accrued casualty and other liabilities 3,192 3,342
Deferred revenue 147 906
State NOL tax carry forward 4,588 6,986
Qther 2,848 2,462
Total deferred tax asset 11,617 14,573

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Praperties, principally due

to differences in depreciation 115,247 118,425

Deferred gain on land sales 67,858 63,649
Straight-line rent 8,608 6,038
Other 4,905 4,024
Total deferred tax liabilities 196,618 192,136

Net deferred tax liabilities 185,001 177,563
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At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company estimated
its net operating loss carry forward asset for state purposes
to be $4.6 million and $7.0 milion, respectively, which
expires at the end of 2022, The tax benefit of this item is
reflected in the above analysis of Deferred Tax Assets. The
Company has not provided any valuation allowance with
respect to this asset as it believes its realization is “more
likely than not,” given estimates of future taxable income and
available tax planning strategies. However, the Company
cannot guarantee that it will be able to realize this asset or
that future valuation allowances will not be required. Federal
tax years through 1999 have been closed with the Internal
Revenue Service (IRS). Federal tax years 2000-2002 are
currently under review by the IRS, Management believes its
income tax provision reserves at December 31, 2005 to be
adequate for the settlement, if any, of disputed tax positions
taken by the Company for these years. Historically, settle-
ments for disputed tax positions have been interest charges.

Note 9. Segment Information

The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 131, “Disclosure about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information” (SFAS 131). SFAS 131
provides guidance for reporting information about operating
segments and other geographic information based on a man-
agement approach. The accounting policies of the segments
are the same as those described in the Summary of Signifi-
cant Accounting Policies. Under the provisions of SFAS 131,
the Company has two reportable operating segments, both
within the same geographic area. These are the railway and
realty segments.

The railway segment provides freight transportation along the
east coast of Florida between Jacksonville and Miami. One
customer, Rinker Materials Corporation (Rinker) generated
approximately 20% of freight revenues in 2005. FECR’s top
five customers ‘accounted for approximately 42% of 2005
freight revenues. Rinker and another of these customers are
suppliers of aggregate materials.

The realty segment is engaged in the acquisition, develop-
ment, leasing, management, operation and selected sale of
office and industrial property. Flagler leases to approximately
300 tenants in a variety of industries, including financial ser-
vices, distribution, hospitality services and import/export.
Flagler's largest tenant, based on square footage, occupied
approximately 3.5% of leased space at December 31, 2005.
Flagter’s largest tenant, based on rental revenues, accounted
for approximately 5.1% of 2005 continuing operations’ con-
tractual rental income. Flagler’s five and ten largest tenants,
based on rental revenues, accounted for approximately
21% and 31% of continuing operations’ contractual rental
income, respectively.

FECR generates other income from leases to telecommuni-
cations companies for the installation of fiber optic and other
facilities on the railroad right-of-way. In addition, FECR gen-
erates revenues from the grant of licenses and leases to use
railroad property and rights-of-way for outdoor advertising,
parking lots and lateral crossings of wires and pipes by
municipalities and utility and telecommunications companies
and one-time income associated with the sale of air rights
and related surface and sub-surface easements and licenses
on the right-of-way. These miscellaneous income items are
included in “other income”.

Also, FECR generates revenues and expenses from the
rental, leasing and sale of buildings and properties that are
ancillary to the raiiroad’s operations. These revenues and
expenses are included in the realty segment.

The Company’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services and they are
managed separately.
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Information by industry segment:

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Operating Revenues
Railway operations 237,870 200,762 181,057
Realty:
Flagler realty rental 87,007 69,492 63,610
Flagler CAM recoveries
associated with
hurricanes 343 93 -
Total Flagler
realty rental 87,350 69,585 63,610
Flagler realty sales 24,820 99,677 63,495
Other rental 3,488 3,028 3,139
Other sales 8,818 5,135 26,963
Total realty 124,476 177,425 157,207
Total Revenues 362,346 378,187 338,264
Operating Profit (Loss)
Railway operations 63,729 47,326 42,988
Realty 40,922 97,986 43,859
Corporate general
& administrative (22,388) (15,080) (13,137)
Cperating Profit 82,263 130,232 73,710
Interest income 1,659 1,124 946
interest expense (20,105) (16,671) (17,056)
Other income 14,555 13,023 9,544
(3,891) (2,524) (6,5686)
Income before
income taxes 78,372 127,708 67,144
Provision for
income taxes (29,006) (49,806) (25,851)
Income from continuing
operations 49,366 77,902 41,293
Discontinued Operations
Income (loss) from
operation of
discontinued
operations
{net of taxes) - 108 (173)
Gain on disposition of
discontinued operations
net of taxes) - 2,590 2,104
Net Income 49,366 80,598 43,224

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current
year's presentation.)

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
ldentifiable Assets

Transportation — Railway 444,647 426,300 410,576
Realty 627,232 594,234 468,127
Corporate 65,865 42,658 129,647

1,137,744 1,063,193 1,008,350

Capital Expenditures

Transportation — Railway 39,239 30,280 26,683
Realty 132,711 79,867 74,713
Corporate 2,802 1,404 785
174,752 111,551 102,181

Depreciation

& Amortization

Transportation - Raitway 22,054 20,360 19,747
Realty 32,381 26,825 25,169
Corporate 1,042 1,584 2,582
55,477 48,769 47,498

Note 10. Accrued Casualty
and Other Liabilities

The Company is the defendant and plaintiff in various lawsuits
resulting from its operations. In the opinion of management,
appropriate provision has been made in the financial state-
ments for the estimated liability that may result from disposi-
tion of such matters. The Company maintains comprehensive
liability insurance for bodily injury and property claims, but is
self-insured or maintains a significant self-insured retention
(i.e., deductible) for these exposures, particularly at FECR.
These lawsuits are related to alleged bodily injuries sustained
by Railway employees or third parties, employment related
matters such as alleged wrongful termination and cormmercial
or contract disputes, including disputes related to real estate,
property management and bankruptcies.

The Company is subject to proceedings and consent decrees
arising out of its historic disposal of fuel and oil used in the
transportation business. It is the Company’s policy to accrue
environmental cleanup costs when it is probable that a liabil-
ity has been incurred and an amount can be reasonably esti-
mated. As assessments and cleanups proceed, these
accruals are reviewed and adjusted.
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The Company is participating, together with several other
potentially responsible parties (PRPs}, in the remediation of &
site in Jacksonville, Florida, pursuant to an agreement with
the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEFA).
The site previously accepted waste oil from many businesses.
The clean up is substantially completed and the Company
has paid its share of the clean-up costs (approximately

$0.3 milfion). The site wilt have on-going maintenance
requirements. Based on the nature of the expected mainte-
nance activities, the Company does not expect its share of
maintenance costs to be material.

The Company monitors a small number of sites leased

to others, or acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries.
Based on management’s ongoing review and monitoring of
the sites, and the ability to seek contribution or indemnifica-
tion from the PRPs, the Company does not expect to incur
material additional costs, if any.

It is difficult to quantify future environmental costs as many
issues relate to actions by third parties or changes in environ-
mental regulations. However, based on information presently
available, management believes that the ultimate disposition
of currently known matters will not have a material effect on
the financia! position, liquidity or results of operations of

the Company.

Note 11. Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors two 401(k) plans. Contributions

are at the employee’s discretion with upper limits of 25% of
compensation before taxes, subject to maximum limits
imposed by the IRS (generally, $14,000 in 2005), and an
additional contribution up to 10% of after-tax compensation,
also subject to maximum limits imposed by the IRS. Total
contributions in 2005, including the Company’s match if any,
were limited by IRS regulations to $42,000.

401(k) Plan for Salaried Employees

The amounts of matching contributions by the Company

for this plan covering the years 2005, 2004 and 2003 were
approximately $0.5 million, $0.5 million and $0.4 million,
respectively. In accordance with the terms of the plan, the
Company matched the employee’s contributions $1.00 for
$1.00 up to the first $1,200 contributed by the employee in
2005, 2004 and 2003. For employee contributions in excess
of $1,200, the Company matched $0.25 for every $1.00 in
pretax employee contributions up to the IRS maximum limits.

401(k) Plan for Hourly Wage Employees

and/or Employees Covered by Collective

Bargaining Agreement

This is a limited contributory plan that was instituted in April
1995. In 2002, train and engine hourly employees became
eligible for a Company matching contribution of $0.20 for
gvery $1.00 of employee contributions up to $200 annually.
The amounts of matching contributions by the Company
for this plan covering the years 2005, 2004 and 2003 were
$20,000, $15,000 and $16,000, respectively.

Pension Plan

The Company adopted a non-funded defined benefit plan
covering nine previous officers of the Company in 1998. The
benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s
compensation during the five years before retirement. The
Cempany curtailed this plan in 1998, causing no additional
benefits to accrue to covered officers. At December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, accrued liabilities related to the con-
tract benefit obligation were $3.6 million, $3.4 milion and
$3.4 million, respectively. The increase in the contract benefit
obligation at December 31, 2005 primarily relates to the use
of updated actuarial tables. The Company also incurred
benefit costs related to interest of $0.3 million in each of the
years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan

Effective March 28, 2005, the Company established and
adopted a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the
“Plan”). The purpose of this Plan is to provide specified ben-
efits to a select group of management or highly compen-
sated employees who contribute materially to the continued
growth, development and future business success of the
Company. This Plan shall be un-funded for tax purposes and
for purposes of Title | of ERISA. The sole participant in the
Plan at this time is Mr. Adolfo Henrigues, Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Henrigues’ employment agreement provides for an
initial credit to his account of $500,000, a second credit of
$130,000 on January 1, 2006 with succeeding annual cred-
its equal to 20% of his annual base salary. The balances in
the account will be credited with annual earnings equal to
the product of the greater of 5%, or the applicable federal
rate (based on the long term rate for January of each year)
times the account balance. Mr. Henriques will be 100%
vested in his account balance on the second anniversary of
employment. Costs of the plan are accounted for in accor-
dance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (SFAS 87).




Florida East Coast Industries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ~ Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Note 12. Stock-Based
Compensation

The Company’s 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and
restated effective June 2, 2005, allows the Company to grant
employees and directors various stock awards, including
stock options, that are granted at exercise prices not less
than the fair market value at the date of grant and restricted
stock. A maximum of 2.0 million shares may be granted
under this Plan. Starting in 2003, the Compensation Commit-
tee of the Board of Directors made annual grants of restricted
stock in lieu of stock options for all qualifying members

of management. At December 31, 2005, total options for
2,604,921 shares had been granted under the plans.

The stock options may be granted over a period not to
exceed ten years and generally vest from one to five years
from the date of grant. The changes in outstanding options
are as follows:

Weighted-
Average

Shares Exercise

under Price

Option Per Share
salance at December 31, 2002 2,426,287 $20.48
Granted* 129,264 $23.80
Exercised (114,6086) $26.16
Forfeited/Cancelled (92,446)  $30.32
Balance at December 31, 2003 2,348,499 $28.25
Granted - -
Exercised (708,975)  $26.77
Forfeited/Cancelled (184,496)  $21.77
Balance at December 31, 2004 1,455,028 $29.79
Granted - -
Exercised (768,714) $28.16
Forfeited/Cancelled (71,827)  $30.33
Balance at December 31, 2005 616,487 $31.78

“Includes adjustment to previous grants due to equity restructuring
(i.e., special dividend).

Stock options outstanding and exercisable on December 31,
2005 are as follows:

Weighted-  Weighted-
Average Average
Range of Shares Exercise  Remaining
Exercise Prices under Price Contractual
Per Share Option Per Share Life in Years
Outstanding:
$20.14-$27.97 275,940 $24.43 2.7
$27.98-$39.04 168,725 $34.37 3.7
$30.05-$46.12 171,822 $41.05 4.5
616,487 $31.78 3.5
Exercisable:
$20.14-$27.97 262,476 $24.55 2.7
$27.98-$39.04 163,260 $34.31 3.6
$39.05-$46.12 171,822 $41.05 4.5
597,558 $31.96 3.5

The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”

{APB 25), and related interpretations in accounting for the
Plan and, therefore, no compensation expense has been
recognized for stock options issued under the Plan. For com-
panies electing to continue the use of APB 25, SFAS 123,
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” requires

pro forma disclosures determined through the use of an
option-pricing model as if the provisions of SFAS 123 had
been adopted.

The weighted-average fair value at date of grant for options
granted during 2003 was estimated at $4.59 per share.

No options were granted in 2005 or 2004, The fair vaiue of
the option grants was estimated on the date of the grant
using the Black-Scholes’ option-pricing model with the
following assumptions:

Years Ended
December 31

2004 2003
Expected dividend vyield - - B1%
Expected volatility - - 22%
Risk-free interest rate - - 2.3%
Expected term in years - - 3.8

(dollars in thousands)
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If the Company had adopted the provisions of SFAS 123,
reported net income and earnings per share would have
been as follows:
Years Ended
December 31

2005 2004 2003

Net income (in thousands) 49,024 79,813 41,098
Earnings Per Share
Basic
Diluted

$1.13
$1.11

$1.52 $2.31
$1.50 $2.27

During 2005, 2004 and 20083, the Company also awarded
291,791 shares, 151,269 shares and 135,930 shares,
respectively, of restricted stock under the Plan, with a
weighted-average fair value at the date of grant of $42.686,
$36.01 and $30.30 respectively, per share. Substantially all
of these restricted shares vest ratably over four years of con-
tinued employment. Compensation expense related to these
awards was $5.8 million, $2.9 milion and $2.7 million for
2005, 2004 and 20083, respectively. The increase in 2005
compensation expense related to restricted stock grants is
primarily due to shares granted to Mr. Adolfo Henriques at
the time of his appointment as Chairman, President, and
Chief Executive Officer, retention grants awarded to the offi-
cers of the Company during the first quarter 2005, and the
year-over-year increase in costs associated with grants from
the stock incentive plan.

In a first quarter 2004 transaction (the “Transaction”) initiated
at the request of the Board of Directors, the Company can-
celled vested, in-the-money stock options (the “Options”) to
acquire 144,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
held by the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"),
Robert W. Anestis. The embedded value of the Options (fair
market value less strike price) was $2.0 million. The embed-
ded value, less applicable tax withholding, was paid in com-
mon stock. The CEO was issued 36,407 shares (valued at
$35.06, which was the closing price on February 27, 2004).
The stock, together with applicable withholdings, represents
the pre-tax embedded value. Because the original stock
option award was cancelled and the Company replaced this
award with FECl common stock, in accordance with FASB
Interpretation No. 44, the Company was required to recog-
nize compensaﬁon expense in the amount of $2.0 million
with respect to the Transaction.

In May of 2002, the Company’s shareholders adopted the
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.’s Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (ESPP) with an effective date of July 1, 2002.
The purpose of the Purchase Plan is to provide eligible
employees with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary inter-
est in the Company through the purchase of its Common
Stock. The Purchase Plan is an Employee Stock Purchase

Plan under Section 423 of the internal Revenue Code. Any
employee of the Company or a designated subsidiary of the
Company (including officers and any directors who are also
employees) whose customary employment is at least 20
hours per week and more than five months in any calendar
year will be eligible to participate in the Purchase Plan for any
Offering Pericd. Offering Period means each calendar quarter
of the year. All eligible employees who elect to participate in
the Purchase Plan will authorize the Company to make pay-
roll deductions of a specified fixed dollar amount or whole
percentage from 1% to 10% of the employee's compensa-
tion (limited to $25,000 annually} as defined in the Purchase
Plan. As of the last day of each Offering Period, the amounts
withheld for a participant in the Purchase Plan will be used
to purchase shares of Common Stock of ‘the Company. The
purchase price of each share will be equal to 85% of the
lesser of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock
on either the first or last day of the Offering Period. The

total amount of common stock for purchase under the Plan
is 750,000 shares, with 725,415 shares remaining at
December 31, 2005.

Assets and activities of the Plan are provided in the following
statements:

Statement of Net Assets Available for:Benefits

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004
Assets
Cash 24 1.7
Investments in FECI stock at fair value 624.2 4352
Total assets available for benefit 626.3 436.9

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Available for Benefits
Years Ended
December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2005 2004
Additions
Employee contributions 243.0 1727
Dividends 25 0.8
Unrealized gain on Plan assets
(FECI stock) 54.8 1423
300.3 3158
Deductions
Benefits paid to participants 1109 134.
Net increase 1894 181.7
Net assets available for benefit
at beginning of year 436.9 255.2
Net assets available for benefit
at end of year 626.3 436.9
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Note 13. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

2005

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31

Operating revenues® 109,763 86,673 83,027 82,883
Operating expenses 76,166 67,244 65,256 71,417
Interest income 542 374 336 407
Interest expense (5,284) (5,074) (5,073) 4,674)
QOther income 2,923 2,383 2,997 6,252
Net income from continuing operations 20,166 10,725 10,404 8,071

Income from discontinued operations (net of taxes) - - - -
Net income 20,166 10,725 10,404 8,071

Diluted net income per share — continuing $0.61 $0.32 $0.32 $0.25
Diluted net income per share — discontinued - - - -
Diluted net income per share $0.61 $0.32 $0.32 $0.25

2004

(Jollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31

Operating revenues® 159,468 76,784 70,513 71,422
Operating expenses 69,536 59,013 58,607 60,799
interest income 305 263 360 196
Interest expense (4,738) {4,214) (3,773) (3,346)
Other income 2,209 3,027 5,090 2,697
Net income from continuing operations 53,303 10,360 8,354 5,885
Income from discontinued operations {net of taxes) 135 110 14 2,437
Met income 53,438 10,470 8,368 8,322
Diluted net income per share — continuing $1.65 $0.31 $0.22 $0.18
Diluted net income per share — discontinued - - - $0.06
Diluted net income per share $1.65 $0.31 $0.22 $0.22

*Operating revenues for both quarters ending December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 included sales of large parcels
of land in sales revenue for $22.0 million and $80.0 million, respectively.

NOte 1 4 Other IﬂCOme FECR generates income from the grant of licenses and

leases to use railroad property and rights-of-way for outdoor
advertising, parking lots and lateral crossings of wires and
pipes by municipalities and utility and telecormmunications
companies. This income is recorded in other income as “pipe

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003 i . : .

Pina & Wire orossnas/sonboards 5235 6441 3532 and wire crossings/signboards” as it is earned. FECR gener-
“p . gs/si9 ! ' ' ates other income from leases to telecormmunications com-

Fiber lease income 7,083 6,952 6,659 . . . . . .

Air rights income 3,049 _ panies for the installation of fiber optic and other facilities on

Other (net) ®12) (370) (647) ‘the railroad r?ght-of-way. This i?comg is recorded in cher

14,555 13023 0544 {ncome as “ﬂbgr Ieasg income” as it {s earned. One-time
income associated with the sale of air rights and related
surface and sub-surface easements, and licenses on the
Railway right-of-way are recorded upon completion of the
sale and are shown as “air-rights” income.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Note 15. Debt and Other
Commitments

In August 2004, Flagler issued $105 million of mortgage
notes due September 1, 2011. At December 31, 2005,
approximately $103 million was outstanding on these notes.
The notes are collateralized by buildings and properties hav-
ing a carrying value at December 31, 2005 of $92.0 million,
net of accumulated depreciation of $22.1 million. The mort-
gage notes consist of a $60 million note with a fixed rate of
interest of 5.27% and a $45 million note with a floating rate
of interest based on'the 90-day LIBOR Index plus 1.00%
(5.41% at December 31, 2005). Repayments of principal
and interest are payable monthly based upon a thirty-year
amortization schedule.

In September 2001, Flagler issued $87 million of mortgage
notes due October 1, 2008. At December 31, 2005, approx-
imately $83 million was outstanding on these notes. The
notes are collateralized by buildings and preperties having a
carrying value at December 31, 2005 of $66.3 million, net of
accumulated depreciation of $42.3 million. Blended interest
and principal repayments on the notes are payable monthly
based on a fixed 6.95% interest rate on the outstanding prin-
cipal amount of the mortgage notes and a thirty-year amorti-
zation period. The net proceeds were used to repay existing
indebtedness under the Company's revolving credit facility.

in June 2001, Flagler issued $160 million of mortgage notes
due July 2011, At December 31, 2005, approximately

$152 million was outstanding on these notes. The notes are
collateralized by buildings and properties having a carrying
value at December 31, 2005 of $117.0 million, net of accu-
mulated depreciation of $78.7 million. Blended interest and
principal repayments on the notes are payable monthly
based on a fixed 7.39% weighted-average interest rate on
the outstanding principal amount of the mortgage notes and
a thirty-year amortization period. The net proceeds were
used to repay existing indebtedness under the Company’s
revolving credit facility.

The fair value of the Company’s morigage notes is estimated
based on current rates available to the Company for debt of
the same remaining maturities. At December 31, 2005, the
Company considers the estimated fair market value of the
mortgage notes to be $354.1 million.

Annual maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2005
of $338.0 million, and the related interest, are as follows:

(dollars in thousands)

Year Amount
2006 5,198
2007 5,619
2008 84,864
2009 4,763
2010 5,049
Thereafter 232,565
Total Debt Principal Obligation 337,958

Amount representing interest 105,948
Long-Term Debt Obligation 443,906

The Company leases various pieces of equipment (primarity
trailers) under five to ten-year leases that expire in 2009.
Future minimum payments under the capital leases, which
are recorded as other liabilities are as follows;

(dollars in thousands)

Year Amount
2006 159
2007 164
2008 170
2009 160
Net minimum lease payments 653

Amount representing interest 72
Obligation under capital leases 725

The Company is obligated under several non-cancelable
operating leases covering its facilities and equipment (primar-
ily trailers and office & computer equipment). The lease terms
are from oneg to ten years. Future minimum payments under
the leases are as follows:

(dollars in thousands)

Year Amount
2006 2,108
2007 1,378
2008 1,142
2009 799
2010 693
Thereafter 339

On February 22, 2005, the Company entered into a new
unsecured $150 million, 5-year revolving credit agreement
with a syndication of banks. The new credit facility provides
a more favorable interest rate and terms and replaces the
Company’s previous $200 million credit agreement. The
Company pays (quarterly) commitment fees, as applicable
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under the agreement, at a range of 12.5 to 25.0 basis
points. The Company’s revolving credit agreement requires
the maintenance of certain financial ratios (interest coverage
end leverage) and maintenance of minimum established lev-
els of net worth. The Company believes the mast restrictive
cf such ratios is the Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit
Facility Agreement). The Credit Facility Agreement provides
that at December 31, 2005, the Company’s Adjusted Total
Debt/Adjusted Total EBITDA ratio shall be no greater than
3.00 to 1.00. At December 31, 2005, the Company’s actual
Adjusted Total Debt/Adjusted Total EBITDA ratio was 0.02
to 1.00. In addition there are various established limitations
(dollars and otherwise) on certain types of liens, investments
(including loans and advances) and acquisitions, limitation
on transactions with affiliates, merger and sales of all or sub-
stantially all of the assets; and use of proceeds. Some of the
above covenants provide specific exclusion of certain financ-
ing and investing activities at Flagler. Borrowings under the
credit agreement bear interest at variable rates linked to the
LIBOR Index. Interest on borrowings is due and payable on
the “roliover date” for each draw. Outstanding borrowings
can be paid at any time by the borrower, or at the conclusion
of the facility’s term. At December 31, 2005, there were no
borrowings outstanding on this facility.

The Board of Directors authorized the expenditure of up to
$75 million to repurchase its outstanding common stock
through a program of open market purchases and privately
negotiated transactions. On August 13, 2004, the Company
purchased 5.5 million shares of common stock from The
Alfred 1. duPont Testamentary Trust and The Nemours
Foundation for $34.50 per share or approximately $191 mil-
lion. These repurchased shares are now shown on the con-
solidated balance sheets as treasury stock. This transaction
exhausted the remaining $72 million that existed under the
previous $75 million stock repurchase authorization. As a
result, on August 4, 2004, the Board of Directors authorized
the expenditure of $40 million to repurchase common stock
from time to time through a program of open market
purchases and/or privately negotiated transactions.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had commitments
for letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $0.8 milion
primarily as collateral on certain real estate properties. In
addition, the Company had other commercial commitments
of $10.8 miliion related to construction contracts.

FECR committed $1.5 million to jointly fund an overpass
over the Medley branch tracks to give access to warehouse
space without crossing the Railway. The landowner and a
customer are also funding this project with FECR. The proj-
ect will commence upon approval of the engineering design
by a Governmental Agency. For this reason, it is difficult to
determine exact timing of the project. Our best estimate of
our funding to the project would be half in 2006 and half in
2007. The construction of the overpass is contingent upon
project costs not exceeding a stipulated total amount.

As of December 31, 2005, Railway had forward purchase
contracts of 3.8 million gallons of fuel for delivery from
January 2006 to December 2006 for an average purchase
price of $1.69 per gallon before taxes and freight. This repre-
sents 24% of the estimated consumption for year 2006. The
Company accounts for these purchases as it takes delivery
of the fuel.

On September 23, 2005, the Company entered into a

$3.6 million materials agreement with GE Transportation for
the purchase of 74 sets of Ultra Cab |l signaling equipment
to be delivered through December 31, 2009. Ultra Cab is a
locomotive hardware/software onboard car signal decoder.
This equipment will replace the current software, which has
reached its life expectancy.

The Company has placed a $1.5 million order for rail, which
was received in late January 2006. This rail will be utilized by
a 2006 capital project (for a total estimated project cost of
$183.6 million with FECR and the state of Florida funding the
project on an equal basis) to extend the siding on the Florida
East Coast Railway corridor for purposes of increasing
capacity and eliminating delay on the right-of-way in the area
of the siding extension.

On December 16, 2005, the Company entered into a con-
tract to purchase four (4) SD70M-2 locomotives, with deliv-
ery to commence in third quarter 2006, at a total purchase
price of $7.6 million. This price is subject to change should
the Company request additional features and options not
included in the purchase price. Two of the new locomotives
will provide for anticipated future volume increases and two
will replace three leased locomotives.
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ITEM Q. CHANGES IN AND
DISAGREEMENTS WITH
ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM SA. CONTROLS AND

PROCEDURES

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS
AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) and the Chief
Financial Officer (CFQO), management has evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)). Based on that eval-
uation, the CEQ and CFO concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2005.

MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of FECI is responsible for establishing

and maintaining adeguate internal control over financial
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under
the supervision of, the Company’s CEO and CFO, and
effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management
and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the prep-
aration of financidl statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
and includes those policies and procedures that:

¢ Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable
detail accurately and fairly refiect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company.

¢ Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the
Company; and

¢ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or dispo-
sition of the Company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject o the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

FECl's management assessed the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005. In making this assessment, the
Company’s management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSQO) in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework.

Based on our assessment, management concluded that,
as of December 31, 2005, the Company’s internal control
over financial reperting is effective based on those criteria.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm have issued an attestation on our assessment of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. This
report appears on the following page.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in
the accompanying Management Annual Report, on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ). Florida
East Coast [ndustries, Inc.’s management is respaonsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment, and an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was main-
tained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal contral over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
tha reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's inter-
nel control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the com-
pany are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) pro-
vic'e reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures

may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on crite-
ria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by COSQ. Also, in our opinion, Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Qversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2005, and our report dated February 28,
2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Jacksonville, Florida
February 28, 2006
Certified Public Accountants

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting identified in connection with the eval-
uation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rules
13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurred during the Company’s fourth
fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART i

DIRECTORS AND
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
OF THE REGISTRANT

ITEM 10.

The information set forth under the captions "Election of
Directors,” under the sub-captions “Committees” (including
the information appearing under “Audit Committee”) and
“Corporate Governance” under the caption “Board of
Directors and Board Committees”, Section 16(a) “Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and “Executive Officers,”
in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2008
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the Proxy Statement), containing the information required
by this item 10 is incorporated herein by reference.

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct that applies
to all of its ditectors, officers and employees. The Code

of Conduct is available on the Company’s website at
http.//www.feci.com. Amendments to the Code of Conduct
and any grant of a waiver from a provision of the Code of
Conduct requiring disclosure under applicable SEC rules will
be disclosed on the Company’s website within four business
days and will be maintained for at least twelve months there-
after. The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines

and the Charters of its Audit Committee, Compensation
Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee are also available on the Company’s website.
This information is also available in print form via mail by
request to the Company.

TEM 11. EXECUTIVE

COMPENSATION

The information set forth under the captions “Compensation
of Executive Officers,” “Stock Option Exercises and Values,”
“Executive Employment Agreements,” “Executive Change in
Control Agreements,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks
and Insider Participation in Compensation Decisions,”
“Compensation Committee Report,” "Compensation of
Directors,” and “Performance Graph” in the Proxy Statement
contains the information required in this ltem 11 and is
incorporated herein by reference.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP
OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT

AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

ITEM 12.

The information set forth under the caption “Security
Ownership of” and “Securities Authorized In Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans” in the Proxy Statement,
contains the information required in this ltem 12 and is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN

RELATIONSHIPS
AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS

The information set forth under the caption “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Proxy
Statement contains the information required in this ltem 13
and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL

ACCOUNTANT FEES
AND SERVICES

Information concerning principal accounting fees and ser-
vices that will be provided under the heading “Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement,
contains the information required in this item 14 and is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

{a) 1. Financial Statements
The financial statements and schedules listed in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement
Schedule are filed as part of this report.

2. Exhibits
The Exhibits listed on the accompanying Index to Exhibits are filed as part of this report.

FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
[ITEM 14(a) 3(b)]

Reference
Form 10-K
Page Nos.
Consclidated Statements of Income for each of the three years ended December 31, 2005 43
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2005 and 2004 44
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 45
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2005 46
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 47-63
Rzport of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 42

Financial Statement Schedule:

Il — Valuation Reserves

Il — Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present or not present in amounts sufficient to
require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements
or the notes thereto.
Financial statements and schedules of FECI (not consolidated) are omitted since it is prirnarily a holding company and

all subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements being filed, in the aggregate, do not have minority equity
interests or registered securities.
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
INDEX TO EXHIBITS

[ITEM 13(a) 3]

S-K ITEM 601 DOCUMENTS PAGE NOS.
2 (i) Codina acquisition documents HHHHH
3 () Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation *

3 {ii) Amended and Restated By-Laws *
4 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement #
10 (a) $150 million Unsecured Revolving Credit Agreement with a 5-year term between FECI
and a syndication of financial institutions with Bank of America, N.A. as Lead Arranger i
10 (b) Distribution and Recapitalization Agreement #3#
10 (¢) Shareholders’ Agreement dated as of October 28, 1999 among Alfred |, duPont
Testamentary Trust, Nemours Foundation and Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. #H#H
10 (d) Various Promissory Notes and Mortgage Security Agreements dated June 28, 2001
and September 27, 2001, covering certain Flagler buildings at various office parks e
10 (e) FEC! 1998 Stock Incentive Plan document, as amended o
10 (f) Representative “Change in Control Agreement” between FECI and certain
FECI Executive Officers b
10 (g) 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended
10 (h) FECI 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan @@
10 () Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 4, 2004 between Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc. and Alfred |. duPont Testamentary Trust and the Nemours Foundation ~
10 () Mortgage Notes dated as of August 10, 2004 between Flagler Development Company
and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company ~~
10 k) Representative Restricted Stock Agreement dated August 25, 2004 between
FECI and certain Executive Officers o
.1 - Employment and Change in Control Agreements dated February 10, 2005, effective
o.4- March 28, 2005, and Restricted Stock and Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (SERP)
Participant Agreements, dated March 28, 2005 between FEC! and Adolfo Henriques HiHY
10 (M) Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (SERP) dated as of March 28, 2005. HH#H
10 (n) ‘Codina acquisition documents HHHHH
21 Subsidiaries of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.
23 Consent of independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
24 Power of Attorney
31.1-31.2 Section 302 Certifications
32.1 Section 908 Certification
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* Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Régistrant
were filed on Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 24, 2003.

** This document dated February 22, 2005, is filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 24, 2005. .

** These documents filed on Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001 and
November 8, 2001.

** These documents filed on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 26, 2002.
*** This document filed on Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 8, 2001,

# Amended and Restated Rights Agreement was filed as an Exhibit to Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.’s Registration
Statement on Form 8-A/A with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 22, 2003.

## Distribution and Recapitalization Agreement, incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 4, 2000
(Registration No. 001-08728}).

#i## Shareholders’ Agreement, incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A,
was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 4, 2000 (Registration No. 001-08728).

#### These documents dated February 10, 2005 and March 28, 2005, are filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 22, 2005,

##4### These documents dated January 5, 2006 are filed as an Exhibit to Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 6, 2006

@@ FECI's Employee Stock Purchase Plan was filed on Form S-8 with the Securities and Exchange Commis;ion on
June 21, 2002 (Registration No. 333-90896).

~ These documents, dated August 4, 2004, are filed as exhibits to Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 9, 2004

~~ These documents, dated August 10, 2004, are filed on Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 17, 2004.

~~~ This document dated August 25, 2004, is filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 3, 2004,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the reguirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the under-
signed, thereunto duly authorized on March 1, 2006.

FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.

(Registrant)

/s/ Daniel H. Popky

Daniel H. Popky, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Mark A. Leininger

Mark A. Leininger
Vice President and Controller

Pursuant to the reguirements of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and
on the date indicated:

/s/ A. Henriques

A. Henriques, Chairman, President, Chief
Executive Officer and Director

/s/ R. D. Fagan

R. D. Fagan, Director
/s/ D. M. Foster

D. M. Foster, Director

/s/ A. C. Harper

A. C. Harper, Director
/s/ J. E. Jordan

J. E. Jordan, Director

/s/ G. H. Lamphere

G. H. Lamphere, Director

/s/ J. Nemec

J. Nemec, Director

/s/ J. Perez

J. Perez, Director

/s/ J. J. Pieczynski

J. J. Pieczynski, Director

/s/ W. L. Sanders, Jr.

W. L. Sanders, Jr., Director
Date: March 1, 2006

EXHIBIT 2t

Listing of parent and subsidiaries wholly owned, unless
otherwise noted, by Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.
as of December 31, 2005

State of
Incorporation/
Name of Subsidiary Organization
Florida East Coast Railway, LLC Florida
Railroad Track Construction Corporation Florida
(100% owned by Florida East Coast Railway)
Florida East Coast Deliveries, Inc. Florida
(100% owned by Florida East Coast Railway)
Flagler Development Company Florida
Gran Central —~ Deerwood North, LLC Delaware

{100% owned by Flagler Development Company)

FEC Highway Services, Inc. Florida
Florida Express Logistics, Inc. Florida
(100% owned by FEC Highway Services, Inc.)
Beacon Station 22, 23 and 24 Delaware
Limited Partnership (100% owned
by Flagler Development Company)
Flagler Transportation Services, Inc. Florida
Flagler Development Realty, Inc. Florida

(100% owned by Flagler Development Company)

GCC Beacon 22, 23 & 24, LLC Florida
(100% owned by Flagler Development Company)

GCC Weston Office, Inc. Florida
{100% owned by Fiagler Development Company)

FDC Land Holdings, LLC Florida
(100% owned by Flagler Development Company)
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EXHIBIT 23

Consent of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.:

We consent to incorporation by reference in the regis-

tration statements (No. 333-127141, No. 333-123624,

No, 333-90896, No. 333-30894, No. 333-53144, and

No. 333-78577) on Form S-8 of Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc. of our reports dated February 28, 20086, with
respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. as of Decemper 31, 2005 and 2004,
and the related consolidated statements of income, changes
in shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash
flows for the three years ended December 31, 2005, and all
related financial statement schedules, management’s assess-
ment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005 and the effectiveness of
internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, which reports appears in the December 31, 2005
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Florida East Coast
Industries, inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Jacksonville, Florida
February 28, 2006
Certified Public Accountants

EXHIBIT 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENT, that each of the
undersigned Directors of Florida East Coast Industries, inc.,
a Florida corporation (Corporation), which is about to file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.
20549, under the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, a Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2005, hereby constitutes and
appoints Adolfo Henriques and Heidi J. Eddins as his true
and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agent, and each of them
with full power to act, without the other in his stead, in any
and all capacities, to sign the 2005 Report of Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc., on Form 10-K and to file on behalf of
the Corporation such Report and amendments with all exhib-
its thereto, and any and all other information and documents
in connection therawith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and
agent, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and ratifying
and confirming all that each said attorneys-in-fact and agent
or any one of them, may lawfully do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set
their hands on the date indicated below:

/s/ R. D. Fagan
R. D. Fagan, Director

/s/ D. M. Foster
D. M. Foster, Director

/s/ A. C. Harper
A. C. Harper, Director

/s/ J. E. Jordan
J. E. Jordan, Director

/s/ G. H. Lamphere
G. H. Lamphere, Director

/s/ J. Nemec

J. Nemec, Director

/s/ J. Perez
J. Perez, Director

/s/ J. J. Pieczynski
J. J. Pieczynski, Director

/s/ W. L. Sanders, Jr.
W. L. Sanders, Jr., Director

Date: March 1, 2006
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
SCHEDULE 1If - VALUATION RESERVES
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

(doltars in thousands)

Balance at Charged to Deductions/ Balance at
Description Beginning of Period Costs and Expenses Write-offs End of Period
2005 Bad Debt Reserve 1,710 897 (425) 2,182
2004 Bad Debt Reserve 1,717 609 (616) 1,710
2003 Bad Debt Reserve 2,189 817 (1,389) 1,717

FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
SCHEDULE 1l (CCNSOLIDATED) - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

(dollars in thousands)
Initial Cost to Company Carried at Close of Period

Oepreciable
Costs Life Used in
Capitalized Date Calculation in
Subsequent  Land &Land  Buildings and Accumulated Capitalized Latest Income
Description Land o Acquisition  Improvements  Improvements Total Depreciation or Acquired Staternent
Duval County
Office Buildings 13,809 164,006 31,635 146,180 177,815 50,432 1985  3to 40 years
Office/Showroom/\Warehouses 1,623 44,129 5976 39,776 45,752 22,980 1987 310 40 years
Office/Warehouses 930 4,999 1,668 4,261 5,929 1,681 1994 310 40 years
Front Load Warehouse 69 9,235 817 8,487 9,304 1,257 1998 310 40 years
Rail Warehouse 23 3,252 326 2,949 3,275 1,070 1998  31to 40 years
Land with Infrastructure 8,732 32,825 39,557 - 39,557 5219 \Various  3to 40 years
Unimproved Land & Misc. Assets 524 - 524 - 524 - 1998  3to 40 years
St. Johns County
Office Building - 10,554 - 10,554 10,554 4,378 Various 310 40 years
Unimproved Land 2,652 1,195 3,847 - 3,847 173  Various 15 years
Flagler County
Unimproved Land 18 12 30 - 30 1 Various 15 years
Volusia County
Unimproved Land 194 274 468 - 468 9 Various 15 years
Brevard County
Land with Infrastructure 614 239 853 - 853 18 Various 15 years
Unimproved Land 4,448 - 4,448 - 4,448 - Various 15 years
St. Lucie County
Unimproved Land 399 83 462 - 462 g Various 15 years
Martin County
Land with infrastructure 23 124 147 - 147 27 Various 15 years
Unimproved Land - - - - - - Various 15 years
Okeechobee County
Unimproved Land 2 - 2 - 2 - Various 15 years
Putnam County
Unimproved Land 2 - 2 - 2 — Various 15 years
Palm Beach County
Unimproved Land 130 33 163 - 163 ~  Various 15 years
Broward County
Rail Warehouse - - - - - - Various 310 40 years
Land with Infrastructure - - - - - - 1992  3to 40 years
Unimproved Land 7,306 1,015 8,321 - 8,321 — Various 31040 years
Building 4,834 9,519 6,444 7,809 14,353 256 2005 310 40 years
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
SCHEDULE it (CONSOLIDATED) - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

(doltars in thousands)

Initial Cost to Company Carried at Close of Period Depreciabie
Costs Life Used in
Cagpitalized Date Caleulation in
Subsequent  Land &land  Buildings and Accumulated Capitalized Latest Income
Description Land to Acquisition  Improvements  Improvements Total Depreciation or Acquired Statement
Dade County
Couble Front Load Warehouse Q72 6,683 2,074 5,481 7,555 3,302 1993 31040 vears
Rail Warehouses 1,854 13,318 3926 11,246 15,172 6,485 1988  3to 40 years
Cffice/Showroom/Warehouses 2,328 19,179 5788 15,719 21,507 10,466 1988 3 1o 40 years
Cffice Building 8,209 68,833 21,341 50,701 72,042 4,594 2000 31040 years
Cffice/Warehouses 11,391 62,025 19,355 54,061 73,416 16,482 1990 310 40 years
Front Load Warehouses 4,092 24,898 8,765 20,225 28,980 11,720 1991 3 10 40 years
Cffice/Service Center 344 3,025 873 2,496 3,369 1,343 1994 3 to 40 years
Transit (Retail) Warehouse 439 6,034 840 5,633 6,473 1,568 Various 3 10 40 years
Land with Infrastructure 9642 16,791 25,550 883 26,433 2,822  Various 3 to 40 years

Unimproved Land & Misc. Assets 7,362 1,495 7,613 1,244 8,857 486 Various 310 40 years
Orange County

Office Buildings 8,763 86,936 10,840 84,859 95,699 20,053 1008 310 40 years

Office/Showrcom/Warehouses 1,261 10,304 1,377 10,188 11,565 4,768 1898 310 40 years

Land with Infrastructure 1,710 413 1,909 214 2,123 55 1995  3to 40 years

Unimproved Land & Misc, Assets 11,808 6,051 17,859 - 17,859 354 1999 310 40 years

Polk County

Unimproved Land 14,333 4,579 18,912 - 18,912 —~  Various 15 years

Indian River County

Unimproved Land - - - - - - Various 15 years

Seminole County

Unimproved Land - - - - - —-  Various 15 years
TOTALS 128,840 606,938 252,712 483,066 735,778 171,808

Notes:

(A) The aggregate cost of real estate owned at December 31, 2005 for federal income tax purposes is approximately $630.8 million.
This amount includes reinvested gains of $81.1 million.

(B) Reconciliation of real estate owned (dollars in thousands):

2005 2004 2003
Bealance at beginning of year 547,497 527,493 498,319
Amounts capitalized 193,349 49,767 49,724
Amounts retired or adjusted (5,068) (29,763) (20,550)
Belance at close of period 735,778 547,497 527,493

Reconciliation of real estate owned to Note 6 of the financial statements included in Item 8 of this report:

Note 6 captions 2005
Railroad buildings 13,234
Railroad land & land improvements 12,562
Flagler buildings 469,833
Flagler land & land improvements 240,149
Real estate owned above 735,778
See note 6 for construction in progress amounts.
(C) Recondiliation of accumuiated depreciation {doliars in thousands):

2005 2004 2003
Balance at beginning of year 143,585 125,757 105,214
Depreciation expense 28,073 22,821 21,472
Amounts retired or adjusted 250 (4,993) (929)
Balance at close of period 171,908 143,585 125,757

(D) Certain amounts shown in Schedule Il have been reclassified to conform to 2005's presentation.
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EXHIBIT 31.1 -
SARBANES-OXLEY - 302 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Adelfo Henriques certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Fiorida
East Coast Industries, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and
other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’'sother certifying officer and | are respon-
sible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(g)) and internal control over finan-
cial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)} for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or
caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its con-
solidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

ke)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting,
or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide rea-
sonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

Ao

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclo-
sure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectivensss of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end

of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably fikely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have dis-

closed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

g

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves man-
agement or other employees who have a significant
role in the company's internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: March 1, 2006

/s/ Adolfo Henriques
Adolfo Henrigues, Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2 -
SARBANES-OXLEY - 302 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Daniel H. Popky, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Florida
East Coast Industries, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and
other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are respon-
sible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finan-
cial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or
caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its con-
solidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

=

Designed such internal control over financial reporting,
or caused such internal control over financial reporting
10 be designed under our supervision, to provide rea-
sonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclo-
sure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have dis-

closed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors
{or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summatrize
and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves man-
agement or other employees who have a significant
role in the company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: March 1, 2006

/s/ Daniel H. Popky

Daniel H. Popky, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1 ~
SARBANES-OXLEY - 906 CERTIFICATION

March 1, 2006

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certification set forth below is being submitted in
connection with the annual report (the “Report”) for the pur-
pose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Qode.

Adoffo Henriques, the Chief Executive Officer and Daniel
H. Popky, the Chief Financial Officer of Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc., each certifies that, to the best of his
knowledge:

1. the report fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information.contained in the Report fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial condition, and results

of operations of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

/s/ Adolfo Henrigues

Adolfo Henrigues
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Daniel H. Popky

Daniel H. Popky
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by
Section 906 has been provided to Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc."and will be retained by Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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FORWARD-LLOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K conrains forward-looking statements within the meaning of se

Sceurities xchange Act of 1934, as amended. These fo nokin
These v the use of words like “plan, pect, ) "ulllup.n
“should,” “could,” and other expressions that indicare future events and rends. Such forward- lnol\uw statements inay inchide, “ulmm limitation, statements

that the Company does not expect that lawsuits, review of open tax years by the IRS, envivommental costs, commitments, including future contra ,\\ml obliga-
tions, contingent labilities, financing availahility, labor negotiations or ather matrers will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition.

ion 27A of the Securit amended, and Section 21E of the

starements include the Compun\

rd-

ions or heliefs concerning fumire cvents.

‘intend, “will,”

rtements may be identified | helicve,”

Also. forward-looking statements may include statements concerning future capital needs and sources of such capital funding, statements concerning future

intentions with respect to the payment of dividends, execution of a share repurchase program, and other potential capital distributions, number of shares 10 be
repurchased, availability of cash to fund the stock repurchase, ability 1 reinvest (tax deferred) sales proceeds into qualifying §1031 propertics, future growth
potential of the (r»mp.m\ lines of business, the potential outcome of litigation relating to mining in South Florida, performance of the Company’s plmlu(,
offerings, intention to entitle and develop real estate, ability to complete p]nnmd acquisitions, d]_)l]ll}‘ of each party to the announced transaction to satisfy the
clasing conditions in the agreement, expected completion dates, completion of existing and future projects, starements regarding accessibilivy, visibility, expansion
opportunities, ability to complete transactions within specified time frame; failure or inability of third partes 1o fulfitl their conmmitments or to perform their

obligations under agreements; costs and availability of land and consiruction materials; other

uilar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts,
and projections I(’]dlan © l]m Company’s financial results. The Company cautions that such statements are necessarily ldeLL] on certain assumptions, which are
subject to risks and ung
that could canse such dif

ainties that could cause actual results to materially differ from those contained in these for ward- -looking statements. Truportant factors
cularly in the state of Florida, the southeast US

; ability 10 manage through economic recessions

erences include, but are not limited to, the changing general economic conditions (part
and the Caribbean) as they relate 1o economically sensitive ]nm\uu: in fr u"]n service and building rental ac
or downturns in customers’ business cvcle:

business and investment

§ re, lines of busines
volatility of fuel prices (including volatility caused by military

”Hi"sl]\’ Lﬂ“)ll‘.l
strategies, and related implementation; legislative or regulatory chungm;

actions); (4lld||geb in levels of preventive and capital maintenance, asset replacement and depreciation rates resulting from assumptions in the railway right-of-way

ion; possible hnum changes in the C(mlpdn

echnological A,hdngc,,

and equipment life studies; changes in the ability of the Comnpany to complete its financing plans, changes v interest rates, the settdement of future contractual

ob:ligations as estimated in time and amount (customary to the Company’s historical cost structure) including labor negotiations and mediation and recoverics from

ty and costs of
]mln]n\' for environmental remediation and changes in environmental laws and regulations;

es; the availabi

damage claims in a satisfactory way; changes in insurance markets, including increases in insurance premiums and dedu

attracting and retaining qualified mrln]»undem third party contractor:
the ullmmu, outcome (_)i environmental investigations or proceedings md other types of claims and litigation; natural events such as weather conditions, hurri icanes,
floods, earthquakes and forest fires; discretionary government decisions affecting the use of land and delays resulting from weather conditions and other natural
oceurrences, like hurricanes, that inay affect construction or cause damage to assets; the ability of buvers (o terminate contracts 1o purchase real estate from
the Company prior to the expiration of inspection periods; failure or inability of third parties to fulfill their commitments or to perform their obligations under

agreements; costs and availability of land and construction materials; buyers® inability or unwillingness to close transactions, particularly where buyers onlv forfeit
that may alfect the availability and timing of wilization of the Compul
regulations and the application thercof that could limit the tax benefits of the EPIK
olution of litigation relating to mining in South Florida on the Company

s of the (,Ullll)dl]'\ﬁ

deposits upon failure to clos
deferred tax assets; uncertais

the Company’s future taxable income and other facio

cs, changes or litigation related o ax la
sale or of other possible transactions involving the Company

the impact of the r¢
aggregate volumes and other risks inherent in the real estate and other busine
As a vesult of th
materially and adve
Readers shonld not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements,

and other factors, the Company may experience material fluctmations in future operating resulis on o quartesly or annual hasis, which could

sely affect its business, financial condition, operating results
which reflect management’s view only

and stock price,

of the date thereof. The Company undertakes
no obligation to publicly release revisions to the forward-looking statements in this Report that reflect events or circumstances afrer the dare hereof, or reflects the
occurrence of nnanticipated events.
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